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Established in 1996, Nongfu Spring Co., Ltd. is a leader in the
packaged drinking water and beverage industry in the PRC. Our
major products include packaged drinking water, tea beverage,
functional beverage and juice beverage. The Company was
transformed from a limited liability company into a joint stock
company with limited liabilities in June 2001 and listed on the Main
Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in September 2020 (stock
code: 9633. HK).

We believe in offering natural and healthy products and insist on
using high quality raw materials. All of our packaged drinking water
products are sourced from quality natural water sources containing
natural mineral elements. We possess industry-leading equipment,
manufacturing capabilities, strong supply chain management
capabilities and rigorous quality assurance systems.

We have established dual growth engines, packaged drinking water
and beverage and set up a nationwide sales network covering all
provinces, municipalities and prefecture-level administrative divisions
across China. We implement a multi-brand strategy, have long-term
visions for our brands and strong brand communication capabilities,
and have built a super brand in the PRC soft beverage market.
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DEFINITIONS

[FERRAE]
“AGM”

[REER IR ER]
“Articles of Association” or
“Articles”

[ B8 T B % 4 R AR 7
NEZR 1555 |

“Basic R&D and Test
Service Framework
Agreement”

34

“Board”

[E ]
“China” or “PRC”

[AARIRBRILR]
“Company” or “Nongfu
Spring”

[ DB IR B2 =]
“Company Law” or “PRC
Company Law”

MERBRR]

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[(EER<FAD]
“Corporate Governance
Code”

==

“Director(s)”

[mER]

“Domestic Shares”

[ZRBE ]
“Global Offering”

[ 2SR B il %4 ]

“Group”, “the Group”, “we”

or “us”

[HER
“H Share(s)”

[ M &R ]

“Hangzhou Youfu”

[&%]
“Hong Kong” or “HK”

F Rz 2022 Annual Report

RNAFR2023F5 A16H (2B =) BRMNFERRAS
the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Tuesday, May 16, 2023

RRTFR L B EERN AR ER(EHERT)
the articles of association of the Company, as amended, which was effective on the Listing Date

RNRRR2020F8 A12F BB A = K H 2 EM B A B1E £ ZRNEYMITATA] LA 0B 3 R AR ARTFHELR
the basic R&D and test service framework agreement entered into by the Company with Yangshengtang and
its wholly-owned subsidiary, YST Natural Medicine Research on August 12, 2020

RARESS

the board of Directors of the Company

REARKNE  SAFEREMS - TEEEE  RFRAE

the People’s Republic of China, excluding, for the purpose of this annual report, Hong Kong, Macau and
Taiwan

BRIURBMNARRAT - 1996459 A26 RIREF BUARER Y 2 D AR AR
Nongfu Spring Co., Ltd. (XL REMDERR A F), a joint stock company with limited liabilities established
under the laws of the PRC on September 26, 1996

REAREMBRGE @ EREHERT s AR MG B
Company Law of the People’s Republic of China (% A K FEFNE A B])%), as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time

BACETRADME TERE - EERBEERELEY
has the meaning ascribed under the Listing Rules and refers to Mr. Zhong Shanshan and Yangshengtang

CETRADHTER+ IR EE A TR R EEARSE)
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

RABESR

director(s) of the Company

RRARBRAHEREEARBOATHEER - UARBRELHE
ordinary Shares in the share capital of the Company with a nominal value of RMBO.1 each, which are
subscribed for and paid up in Renminbi

BEARBERBEREE
the Hong Kong Public Offering and the International Offering

ARRREMBAR(FRNERE - EEAARAREEN—REAZRMBLRR) » HXEFMRT @ BstEA
R AR AR A RIRIERA BRI EARE M S A EH B AR - M ERER E AR R RN E A R

the Company and its subsidiaries (or the Company and any one or more of its subsidiaries, as the content
may require), or where the context so requires, in respect of the periods before the Company became the
holding company of its present subsidiaries, such subsidiaries as if they were subsidiaries of the Company at
the relevant time

RAFRATFREEARKATHRII EHINER - VETEE - WHREBBRZM LT
overseas listed foreign Shares in the share capital of the Company with a nominal value of RMBO.1 each,
which are traded in HK dollars and are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

MMAEBEEERARAF - N2009F12 A14HRBEFEERKN L2 BREEAR  BEREZATAE
REEENRRTBERMKEELERE

Hangzhou Youfu Enterprise Management Company Limited (fi/ll K@% EIB AR A T), a limited
liability company established under the laws of the PRC on December 14, 2009, which is a shareholder of
Yangshengtang and wholly owned by Mr. Zhong Shanshan as of the Latest Practicable Date

hEEBERITHE
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

RXIWRBHHRAS NONGFUSPRING CO.,LTD. / 3
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= DEFINITIONS

(EELEWRADIH
[{EmHRAN]

“Hong Kong Listing Rules”
or “Listing Rules”

[ &R P ISR B 3K AT
“Hong Kong Stock
Exchange” or “Stock
Exchange”

[BAE=7F
“independent third
party(ies)”

[TE @R RBAER T
“IT Product and Service
Framework Agreement”

[H&A/THE
“Latest Practicable Date”

(=
“Listing”

(==
“Listing Date”

[{EEFRI]
“Model Code”

[ $7 EL R E 3 R ARORI AR IS
NEZR 1555

“New Basic R&D and
Test Service Framework
Agreement”

[ 57 ER BB AE 2R 1 8
“New Purchasing
Framework Agreement”

[ B EE A AR

“Over-allotment Option”

[ERER]

“Prospectus”

M4

“province”

[ EREBAEZR 1555 |
“Purchasing Framework
Agreement”

BRIFRKHERAS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

ERBMERFMARARRES EMHRA - BTEHERT - s AE M A&k
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

ERMARSMER AT
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

BIEL— A BERNERESAA - WHERDRMEATHAL
party(ies) who are not connected persons of the Company as far as our Directors are aware after having
made all reasonable enquiries

RAT2020F8 12 BB A% R H 2 G I B A BRI SRHLET S #0ITE & RIS IESR ek
the IT product and service framework agreement entered into by the Company with Yangshengtang and its
wholly-owned subsidiary, Rainbow Fish Technology on August 12, 2020

202343 H26H  BIARF AT EN A ph#EE AN F ¥R PAEE T E R RK& AT H H
March 26, 2023, being the latest practicable date for the purpose of ascertaining certain information contained
in this annual report prior to its publication

HARPA B BB S FT EIR BT
listing of the H Shares on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

RABIHIRN B BE R AT ETh REERMEER B E - R2020F9A8H (EH2)
Tuesday, September 8, 2020, the date on which our H Shares are listed and from which dealings therein are
permitted to take place on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

CETRBDME A EHBETAEFETES R HFLETRD
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers under Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules

RRREBELERH BB QR EEZ RAREYA T EERE RRGEREOER L - B
2022912 A 14 B S48 R AT 3L A E R 2% R AROBI PRASHE 28

the basic R&D and test service framework agreement renewed and entered into by the Company with
Yangshengtang and its wholly-owned subsidiary, YST Natural Medicine Research on December 14, 2022
based on the original Basic R&D and Test Service Framework Agreement

AN R R A B ERBSIE SR R 0 B E 2022 F 12 A 14 B S AT L MR IEZR 152
the purchasing framework agreement renewed and entered into by the Company with Yangshengtang on
December 14, 2022 based on the original Purchasing Framework Agreement

RRFRTERSHEEERE - AR 2GRN (RKRER ) RIEEER 2R TR - BUAAT
BIREE B R R IITA $£58,234,600/% FEHINHAR + LA(E AR B1E) i R Bl B E B RE H B (A ) (1R
BRMER)

option granted by the Company to the International Underwriters, exercisable by the Joint Global Coordinators
(on behalf of the International Underwriters) pursuant to the International Underwriting Agreement, pursuant to
which the Company may be required to allot and issue up to an aggregate of 58,234,600 additional H Shares
at the Offer Price to, among other things, cover over-allocations in the International Offering, if any (as defined
in the Prospectus)

KNRABFREAAFREMN202048 525 B FIBHBRERR
the prospectus issued by the Company on August 25, 2020 in connection with the Hong Kong Public Offering

A - RN EFE  AREARRTETRBNEZEENEED
a province or, where the context requires, a provincial level autonomous region or municipality, under the
direct supervision of the central government of the PRC

RATFR202058 A12H B3 A AT U W ERABIE AR 177 2
the purchasing framework agreement entered into by the Company with Yangshengtang on August 12, 2020

4z 2022 Annual Report



[ R AT RRHE

“Rainbow Fish Technology”

[REHMAE ]
“Reporting Period”

[AR¥]
“RMB” or “Renminbi”

B4 ]
“Share(s)”

MR
“Shareholder(s)”

[ Bt 22 =)

“subsidiary(ies)”

=

“Supervisor(s)”

=g

“Supervisory Committee”

[BEE |
“Yangshengtang”

[BEEEE
“Yangshengtang Group”

[BEZERABEYHEH]
“YST Natural Medicine
Research”

[%]
oy
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£ DEFINITIONS

AIFAARRAR AT - R2003F4 A 10BRBEHRBEEZREK I EREET AT - HEKEATAE - BE
EE2ERBAT

Zhejiang Rainbow Fish Technology Company Limited (#5T # 4l fa &% B R A 7)), a limited liability company
established under the laws of the PRC on April 10, 2003, which was a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Yangshengtang as of the Latest Practicable Date

2022F1 A1HE2022%12 A31 HHAME

the period from January 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022

FEUEEEB AR

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

RATRAFEREEARBOATHEER

ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company with a nominal value of RMBO0.1 each
SUESTEPN

holder(s) of the Shares

BBEEBEDF622F( REUERIDIR1FTERE

has the meaning ascribed to it in Schedule 1 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the law of Hong
Kong)

ARARES
supervisor(s) of the Company

RAPEEG
supervisory committee of the Company

BHEEFRAR] - P1993F3 A 12 RIBEFRBIEEK I AREERR - BESKEATHE - BIERRE
WHREMM T E 2B A (BRI EEER08.38% LB BN R E(RERM A E2EHE ) AN HEEER
1.62%)

Yangshengtang Co., Ltd. (B4 ZE AR A 7)), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC
on March 12, 1993, which was a Controlling Shareholder and wholly owned by Mr. Zhong Shanshan (including
98.38% direct interest and 1.62% indirect interest through Hangzhou Youfu, which is wholly owned by Mr.
Zhong Shanshan) as of the Latest Practicable Date

BEERAMBAR
Yangshengtang and its subsidiaries

AIBEERAEMAENERAR - B1999F10A28 R IREHREARK L Z BERETAR - BERK
TEE  REEENZENRBAR

Zhejiang Yangshengtang Natural Medicine Research Company Limited (43T & 4 % K A ZEW R 5 A TR A 7)),
a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on October 28, 1999, which was a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Yangshengtang as of the Latest Practicable Date

e

Anth
percentage
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SHARE LISTING

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(Stock Code: 9633)

LISTING DATE
September 8, 2020

REGISTERED OFFICE AND HEAD OFFICE

No.181 Geyazhuang
Xihu District
Hangzhou, Zhejiang
PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room F, 6/F, CNT Tower
338 Hennessy Road
Wan Chai

Hong Kong

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.nongfuspring.com

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhong Shanshan (Chairman and General Manager)
Mr. Guo Zhen

Mr. Zhou Li

Ms. Zhou Zhenhua

Mr. Liao Yuan

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Zhong Shu Zi

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Stanley Yi Chang

Mr. Yang, Lei Bob

Mr. Lu Yuan

SUPERVISOR COMMITTEE

Mr. Zhong Jigang (Chairman)
Mr. Liu Xiyue
Mr. Rao Minghong

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Han Linyou
Ms. Mak Po Man Cherie

4z 2022 Annual Report



AF]E R CORPORATE INFORMATION

EERS AUDIT COMMITTEE

Stanley Yi Changst 4 (£ /%) Mr. Stanley Yi Chang (Chairman)
Ikt Mr. Yang, Lei Bob

Zhong Shu Zist & Mr. Zhong Shu Zi

FMESS REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
EREE(ERE) Mr. Lu Yuan (Chairman)

SR ST AR Mr. Zhong Shanshan

BT E Mr. Yang, Lei Bob

REEES NOMINATION COMMITTEE
B E(FE) Mr. Zhong Shanshan (Chairman)
BIREAE Mr. Lu Yuan

Stanley Yi Changt 4 Mr. Stanley Yi Chang

BREAR AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
MM Ms. Han Linyou

BEFELZ+ Ms. Zhou Zhenhua

FEREREIT PRINCIPAL BANKERS

R TEIRT—MINFEBES 1T Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Hangzhou Yangbatou Branch
PR ERIT N DTT Agricultural Bank of China Hangzhou Branch
FREEERIRIT— 2 I DT China Construction Bank Zhijiang Branch
FREIERTT — NI DT Bank of China Zhejiang Branch

RS RERTT — M 21T China Everbright Bank Hangzhou Branch
EBLEREE HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISOR
RIEMEBA (AR EEEEER) Tian Yuan Law Firm LLP

EERIR Room 3304-3309, 33/F Jardine House
FREERE515% One Connaught Place

15K E33123304-3309F Central Hong Kong

PEEEER PRC LEGAL ADVISOR
RICERIEIEFT Tian Yuan Law Firm

Fh Suite 509 Tower A, Corporation Square
i) 35 Financial Street

A= Xicheng District

© B E 355 Beijing

B b S R EARES098 T PRC

44§ 2022 Annual Report RXWRBHHRAS NONGFUSPRING CO., LTD. /7
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OVERSEAS AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road, Quarry Bay

Hong Kong

DOMESTIC AUDITOR

Pan-China Certified Public Accountants LLP

Tower B, China Resources Building, 1366 Qianjiang Road
Shangcheng District

Hangzhou, Zhejiang

PRC

H SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai

Hong Kong
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

BZ12B31BLEE
Year Ended December 31,
20184 20194 20204 20214
2018 2019 2020 2021

AREREL AREKEEL ARKEEL AREKEER
RMB million ~ RMB milion ~ RMB milion ~ RMB million

Wegs REVENUE 20,475 24,021 22,877 29,696 33,239
e GROSS PROFIT 10,921 13,311 13,508 17,656 19,095
B TSR AR A PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 4,763 6,499 6,986 9,354 11,050
Frie R Income tax expense (1,151) (1,549) (1,709) (2,192) (2,555)
EERF PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 3,612 4,954 5,277 7,162 8,495
NEEAE NEERF Profit attributable to owners of
the parent 3,606 4,949 5277 7,162 8,495
ARET AEET AEET ARET AR¥TR
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
SR EAREF Earnings per share 0.33 0.46 0.48 0.64 0.76
R12A31H
As at December 31,
20184 20194 20204 20214
2018 2019 2020 2021

AREREL AREKEEL ARKEEL AREKEER
RMB million ~ RMB milion ~ RMB milion ~ RMB million

BEE Total assets 20,950 17,796 25,859 32,396 39,255
BeE Total liabilties 6,534 7,914 10,367 12,154 15,171
BEREE Total equity 14,416 9,882 15,492 20,742 24,084
Re iR Cash and bank balances 1,764 1,083 9,119 14,784 15,211
WEEE/(BfE)%8E Cunent assets/(iabilties), net 2,678 (3,069) 2,367 6,247 3,760

44 2022 Annual Report RXWRBHHRAS NONGFUSPRINGCO.,LTD. / O
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

EMEELIR

20224 - MEERIRIE MU RBEELE
EH o BRIWFEBERGE  -BMEE
AR BERABRENERES  THESR
BLER W EESHKMAZTNED K
TR o R —FEZMEBFERS - BRIOIAE
FOARB LM A ER M E S FERINE - £
2R ESEER121E o

BARFEEEEE BNEHEBNAER
H BFNEREERNHERMER
ERIEZEME  BABTMAERH D
Lt BFEEMTK RETHRNEGBMN
EmftE - LEE ESEK - MERS
HREENERTHIERRIURANEE I
B B A R R FR A B R ESMNE
B

BES - FAPIAEAE SR E BERRIA T AL
MEBERNMGRE  MEE—FHARITHE
RS FERSHERBARYRESR
FWNERER  ARELTEENDRD
IR IR T HERE -

ARPEBRNE S - 20224F » KEE S
U s AR B33,280F & T © th2021 F 1
£11.9% - EBEAFGENIFERF - 2022F
REBE QR HA AR FER2021F K
ARB712EETTIEME ARKS 405F &
TR — R RS EEANEBERAAR
#8205 HETT) °
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Dear shareholders,

In 2022, Nongfu Spring continued to make progress while
maintaining stability in spite of suffering hardships from the world
environment and the COVID-19 pandemic. We respect nature,
adhere to the concept of providing natural and healthy products, and
constantly attempt to optimize our products. In view of this, we have
been seeking after and developing new high-quality water sources.
Owing to our construction and preparation for more than one year,
our new production base located in Daming Mountain, Guangxi was
completed and put into operation this year, increasing the number of
our water sources to 12 across the country.

We insist on choosing distributors and partners that share the same
values with us, and work together to strengthen channel construction
and development of sales outlets. During the COVID-19 pandemic
period, our employees and partners strove to overcome the
difficulties and ensured the smooth flow of logistics and the supply
of products with hard work and diligence. In particular, our Shanghai
team brought into full play the responsibility, courage, teamwork and
dedication of Nongfu Spring staff with practical actions in fighting
against the COVID-19 pandemic.

Furthermore, we continued the development of information
technology to match the business development and layout of our
Group. We have not only further upgraded the digital marketing
system, but also effectively optimized the production and logistics
management and enhanced our supply efficiency by applying
information technology, such as warehousing and logistics system,
during the Reporting Period.

Depending on out team effort, the Group recorded a total revenue
of RMB33,239 million in 2022, representing an increase of 11.9% as
compared to 2021. The profitability of the Group also kept improving.
Profit attributable to the owners of the parent in 2022 recorded
further increase from RMB7,162 million in 2021 to RMB8,495 million
(RMB8,295 million after deducting one-time non-operating gains and
losses).

4z 2022 Annual Report
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EER3E CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

In light of the Group’s operations in 2022, the Board will recommend
the distribution of a cash dividend of RMBO0.68 per share for
the year ended December 31, 2022 at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company (amounting to a total dividend of
approximately RMB7,647.6 million).

In the future, we will further strengthen the development and reserve
of high-quality water resources and talent resources while continuing
to deepen the exploration into R&D, brand, information, channels
and other aspects, so as to ensure the long-term sustainable
development of the Company.

As the term of office of the seventh session of the Board of Directors
and the Supervisory Committee of the Company expired in March of
this year, the Board has announced the replacement and adjustment
plan for the new session of the Board of Directors, the Supervisory
Committee and the senior management. For details, please refer to
the Company’s announcement published on the website of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s
website (www.nongfuspring.com) on March 3, 2023. This list of
candidates not only considers the stability and sustainability of
the Company’s operations, but also fully takes into account the
Company’s future development needs. The appointment of the new
Directors and Supervisors is still subject to approval by the General
Meeting of Shareholders. Before that, all the current Directors and
the Supervisory Committee of Nongfu Spring shall remain in office
and will make every effort to assist the new management team in
making preparations for taking over. Besides, the outgoing Executive
Directors, except one who retires due to age, will continue to serve
in the Company.

Last but not least, | would like to extend my sincere gratitude to every
employee again for their commitments and contributions over the
past year. In the future, all of our Nongfu Spring staff will go all out as
always to repay all sectors of society for their long-term support and
love to Nongfu Spring with better products and services!

Zhong Shanshan

Chairman

Hangzhou, the People’s Republic of China
March 28, 2023

RXIWRBHHRAZ NONGFU SPRING GO, LTD.  / 11
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RERITERE

2022%F  MEKBURRBEET L - HREK
ETTRERINA - RBREEZ R RIEERES
% mins R RARSZEREHRENRE
BHE  FERRENEMELA EHHEZB
TEERIE N - 2022 FEIGDP X B EFH &
B ERAREI21BEL  BEEMSES
HEEEHERKN  FRIRESEM - BEEE
BYXR 2FHELEHERTEREAR
K448BT - L EAFTFR02% - E—1B0R
F12AMABRNE - 128 MHHEEEER
TEMETEAELLT1.8%  [FIELL 11 AU
ETA1EE DB o B R IB 2 A FTP
B EREEEERFMENE T EERSS
kR - EEMSEEEFSIE -

REFRFERTIREIRTH® KT HEE
1 o 20225 OB ER Lk - 1ERRMET
MHEMPETE RAERIFHIRAE LR - 8
AT APETEMFHEREMBE T ZRE
EVER KM BREH I SEHIRC AR R 7]

2023F 3 AE - FIEMGAKRBEBEERD
ELREBEBEEITINAMGRER 57
E—PEBROEZRTFEEMT  BARK

EEn  BEELRENBIERERS

ERUHTERFLT - EHRARER
B BRERERERNCE  BFERE
Bl — SRETNEE -
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MACRO AND INDUSTRY ENVIRONMENT

In 2022, the world economy suffered increasing downside risks
due to the volatile geopolitical situation, while China’s economy
witnessed repeated impacts by multiple unexpected factors such
as frequent and scattered pandemic outbreaks and extreme heat
weather, so the development environment has become further
complex. Despite so many unexpected situations, China’s GDP
still hit a new high to reach RMB121 trillion in 2022. However, the
consumer market suffered greater impact from the pandemic,
especially the consumption involving crowding and contacting of
consumers was highly weakened. The total retail sales of consumer
goods in China reached RMB44 trillion, representing a decrease of
0.2% as compared to last year. This situation improved somewhat
in December, during which the total retail sales of consumer goods
declined by 1.8% on a year-on-year basis, down by 4.1 percentage
points as compared to that in November. As the pandemic
prevention and control come to a new stage, we’ll usher in the
restoration of a normal production and living order, the accelerated
expansion of offline consumption scenarios, and the gradual recovery
of the consumer market.

The conflict between Russia and Ukraine has continuously brought
uncertainty to the global energy market. As the price of crude oil
rose in 2022, the price of raw materials such as PET, a downstream
product of crude oil, also roared. This has increased the cost
pressure of drinking water and beverage enterprises that use PET as
the main raw materials for product packaging.

The Interim Measures for Supervision and Management of the
Quality and Safety of Food-related Products, which was newly
promulgated, has become effective since March 2023, aiming to
further urge enterprises to fulfill their corporate responsibilities and
improve their risk prevention and control capabilities. Consumers are
increasingly concerned about health. Under the fierce competition of
the industry, enterprises that insist on selecting healthy raw materials
and strictly control product quality will further strengthen and exert
their competitive advantages.

4z 2022 Annual Report
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BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2022, The Group’s business experienced fluctuations and
challenges along with changes in the pandemic in different quarters.
The Group recorded annual revenue of RMB33,239 million,
representing an increase of 11.9% as compared to 2021. Among
which, the proportion of revenue from packaged drinking water
products to total revenue was 54.9% and the proportion of revenue
from beverage product to total revenue was 43.9%. The following
table sets out the breakdown of the Group’s revenue and the
percentage of total revenue for each product category during the
period indicated:

BZE12A31ALEE
Year Ended December 31,

20214
2021
AR I
(B8 Btk
Percentage
EEmE R RMB of total
Product Category (million) revenue
B AKE & 18,263 54.9% 17,058 57.4%
Packaged drinking water products
TRERLEE M 6,906 20.8% 4,579 15.4%
Tea beverage products
DR SREHE 3,838 11.5% 3,695 12.4%
Functional beverage products
ST R E M 2,879 8.7% 2,614 8.8%
Juice beverage products
H 2 o (M) 1,353 4.1% 1,750 6.0%
Other products (note)
A5t Total 33,239 100.0% 29,696 100.0%

MGt EfbERET 2 BEHIT/KEE - 3 REKK
K MEERR SRR ER - RERFRE

0
[s[alng
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Note: Other products primarily include other beverage products such as soda
water beverage, sparkling flavoured beverage, coffee beverage, and
agricultural products such as fresh fruits.
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Packaged drinking water products

The revenue of our packaged drinking water products in 2022 was
RMB18,263 million, representing an increase of 7.1% as compared
to 2021 and accounting for 54.9% of our total revenue for the year.
Sales in the packaged drinking water in the ready-to-drink channel
suffered impact during the pandemic in 2022 due to the lockdown
policy. In order to promote the sales of medium-to-large-size
packaged drinking water, we launched the products with the new
capacity specifications such as 4.5L and 6L, further improving the
capacity specification matrix of our packaged drinking water.

During the Chinese New Year of 2022, we continued our tradition of
launching an anniversary edition of zodiac version of natural mineral
water (glass bottled) in Chinese year of “Tiger”. We also launched an
animation advertisement called as “Golden Tigers Dream Big ({ X Z=
HEE) )" which was produced jointly with China Space Foundation,
and a documentary “a Lunch of Family Reunion ({Z 4 IR [EIER) )’
which was cooperated with famous swimmers, conveying best
wishes to consumers that “As long as we have a home in our heart,
reunion can be achieved no matter how far we are. (R EHEBZK -
Bz #sEE). Later, we continued to publish two commercials in
documentary style, “Every Snowfall is an Unexpected Surprise (&
—I5EHEEBTINEEZ)) and “Mothers in Changbai Mountain
((EBEIWLBEERFI) ), conveying the product characteristics of
“Changbai Snow (KB Z)” sourcing from natural jokul mineral water
on the Changbai Mountain and the brand value of “The quality of the
water source defines the quality of life (ft EEiE8I/KRZ2 B IR
@n)” to consumers. “Changbai Snow” has further approached the
consumers through new packaging such as the limited edition for the
Chinese year of “Tiger”, the cub series, etc. Due to its outstanding
packaging design and advertising creativity, “Changbai Snow” has
won several awards, including the German Red Dot Design Award,
Pentawards Award for Packaging Design, ROI Festival for Advertising

Creativity, etc.

14 / BXWRKHHRAT NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.
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Tea beverage products

Our tea beverage products were constantly recognized and favored
by consumers. The revenue from our tea beverage products in
2022 was RMB6,906 million, representing an increase of 50.8% as
compared to 2021, accounting for 20.8% of the total revenue for the
year.

During the Reporting Period, we have launched two new flavors of
“Tea 1 (Z&n)” — “Citrus Pu’er Lemon Tea (fH E 115 25)” and “Green
Grape Oolong Tea (B2 &B8EX)”, and simultaneously conducted the
“New Flavor, New Tea mm (3T 5K » #TZ5K)” activity for trying out. By
launching the 900 ml-sized package of “Tea n” series of “Grapefruit
Jasmine Tea (FHHHZEFITEL)” and “Grapefruit Green Tea (fhF4%
ZX)”, the product matrix of “Tea n” was further enriched to meet
the different needs of consumers and broaden the consumption
scenarios. In the second half of 2022, we also launched music
activities in cooperation with China’s well-known music streaming
platform “QQ Music” and held “Campus Roadshow (K& &)” to
deeply interact with young consumers and spread the new spiritual
core of “infinite possibilities, self-contained faction ([ 7] g€ -
BRC—K)”. The innovative favors of “Tea m” combined with the
imaginative illustrated bottle packaging have gained wide attention
and recognition in the market.

BEREM
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“Oriental Leaf (854 5)” launched two seasonal limited products
in 2022: In spring, it launched the spring limited product “Longjing
Spring Tea (BEH#4Y)”. In combination with the promotion theme
of “Spring starts with a cup of spring tea (X = {t—HFETZERI14)",
it endeavors to transmit and promote Chinese tea culture; During
the Mid-Autumn Festival, it further launched the second autumn
and winter limited product “Osmanthus Oolong (7€ &8E)". In
combination of the promotion theme of “Warm Hands and Warm
Hearts (B FBE1))", it delivers the warm tea drinking experience to
consumers, and enables more people to fall in love with Chinese tea
through multi-scenario exploration. During the Reporting Period, we
continued to release the brand advertisement of “Oriental Leaf” to
strengthen its product advantages of “zero sugar, zero calorie, zero
fat, zero essence, zero preservative (0#E0-~ON§0F #5085 B Hl)”,
enabling consumers to deeply perceive the charm of Chinese tea.

r B

In March 2022, we launched a brand-new series of carbonated tea
product, “Sparkling Tea Drink (3Z%)”, inheriting the classic slogan
of “Full of ‘sparkle’ ()51 f2)” and breaking through the inherent
boundaries of tea and carbonated beverages. Through the three
innovative flavors of passion fruit oolong, citrus pu’er and wampee
jasmine, it emphasizes the concept of real tea and low sugar, with an
aim to provide consumers with a refreshing and low-burden drinking

experience.
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Functional beverage products

Impacted by the pandemic, consumers lessened their outdoor
activities, but attention has been paid to vitamin beverage products.
The revenue from our functional beverage products in 2022 was
RMB3,838 million, representing an increase of 3.9% as compared to
2021, accounting for 11.5% of the total revenue for the year.

During the Reporting Period, “Scream (4 A)” beverage and Ultraman
launched co-branded bottles, and conducted brand activities
themed “Scream Energy, Guardian of Light (42888 » . 7 <FiE)”.
“Vitamin Water (#fth#57K)” continued the route of trendy functional
beverages, and launched the Douyin trials “Vitamin Water Sends You
to Strawberry (#fibap/Kix{R FE )" by joining hands with Modern
Sky and Strawberry Music Festival, providing “Music Vitamins (&
448 b an)” for young music lovers. It has also launched the first
“V-Break Dance Battle (VBD)”, and organized professional break
dance competitions in seven cities and provinces, providing “Vitality
Vitamins (& 14t @5)” for young lovers of street dance.

Juice beverage products

“Nongfu Spring” NFC juice was further favored by consumers. The
revenue from our juice beverage products in 2022 was RMB2,879
million, representing an increase of 10.1% as compared to 2021,
accounting for 8.7% of the total revenue for the year.

During the Reporting Period, we completely renovated and upgraded
the “Farmer’s Orchard (= £ [&), which has a history of 19 years. In
October and November 2022, “Farmer’s Orchard” launched five new
and upgraded 30% mixed juice beverages with new logo and new
packaging, subject to the brand concept of “shake before drinking,
mix fruits with good flavors ("B R#E—¥# » JEA KRIFIKE)". These
products select high-quality raw materials, with intense fruit flavor
and sophisticated taste, and continue to provide consumers and the
market with better-quality juice beverages.

RXIWRBHHRAS NONGFUSPRING CO., LTD. / 17
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(A

“Nongfu Spring” NFC Juice series further adheres to the brand
concept of that “Good Fruit Juice is Grown” ({81 27 H 3k #9).
We carried out NFC juice and 17.5° fresh fruit combination display
and joint brand promotion activities to demonstrate the high-end
positioning of NFC juice from the agricultural source, and emphasize
its characteristics of “Not From Concentrate (3E247:2R)”, “No
Water, No Sugar, No Additives (TNA07K ~ ANANHE ~ RANE(RTZ A0
), allowing our fresh juice products to be further recognized and
favored by consumers.

Other products

Other products primarily include other beverage products such
as soda water beverage, sparkling flavored beverage and coffee
beverage, as well as agricultural products such as fresh fruits etc.
Amid the pandemic, we adopted a strategy of assigning priority to
operational efficiency and further aggregating resources during the
Reporting Period, which led to a decrease of sales in other products.
In 2022, revenue from other products decreased by 22.7% to
RMB1,353 million as compared to 2021, accounted for 4.1% of our
total revenue in 2022.

%R 2022 Annual Report
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R&D and Innovation

The Group always adheres to the concept of providing natural and
healthy products. Through R&D and innovation from different aspects,
such as safety, quality, raw materials and technology, the Group
continues to develop products that are suitable for consumer needs,
and bring value to consumers.

In 2022, we launched a variety of innovative products. “Tea m (Zm)”
launched the two new flavors of “Green Grape Qolong Tea (512 58E
ZX)” and “Citrus Pu’er Lemon Tea (fHE12152X)” to further enrich its
product lines. The whole product lines of “Farmer’s Orchard” were
renovated and upgraded. Farmer’s Orchard selects high-quality fruits
from the origin, and develops scientific proportion and technology of
various fruits through in-depth research, so as to present products
with intense and rich fruit flavor and improved quality. The “Yirgacheffe
Selected Pure Black Coffee (B INEIEEE 48 20NHE)” of “TANBING
(FXR)” has innovatively debuted ready-to-drink (‘RTD”) coffee, made
of coffee beans from Yirgacheffe, a high-quality coffee production
region. Inheriting the standards of “TANBING (X R)” series products,
it selects raw beans from the country of origin, self-develops the
baking curve, and conducts self-baking and self-extraction. With
all the coffee flavors 100% from the coffee beans themselves, the
coffee deeply restores the characteristic flavors of Yirgacheffe berries
and citruses, setting a new benchmark for RTD coffee in China.

Information system buildup

To match the strategic business development and layout of the
Group, we strengthened our marketing system and product supply
chain system, further upgraded our digital marketing system, and
launched the order management system and the warehousing
and logistics system online in 2022, so as to enhance the
operation efficiency of our production and logistics, facilitate digital
transformation of our factories, and achieve efficient, automated and
intelligent operation.
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Meanwhile, we continued to upgrade and optimize the new retail
operation platform, open up online and offline operation procedures
for membership, supply chain and service, and further tap the
potential of new retail business.

In addition to this, we have also launched the digital construction
of human resources, built a HR base platform, and facilitated
the transformation of HR sharing and operation through effective
integration of personnel, technologies and processes.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The following financial results are extracted from the financial report
of the Group prepared in accordance with the IFRS during the
Reporting Period:

Revenue and Gross Profit

The Group recorded a revenue of RMB33,239 million in 2022,
representing an increase of 11.9% as compared with RMB29,696
million in 2021. In 2022, gross profit of the Group was RMB19,095
million, representing an increase of 8.2% as compared with
RMB17,656 million in 2021. During the Reporting Period, the
Group’s gross profit margin decreased by 2.1% from 59.5% in the
corresponding period of last year to 57.4%, which was mainly due
to the increase in the Group’s PET procurement costs as a result of
changes in international crude oil prices.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

In 2022, sales and distribution expenses of the Group were
RMB7,821 million, representing an increase of 8.1% as compared
with RMB7,233 million in 2021; sales and distribution expenses of
the Group accounted for 23.5% of the total revenue, representing a
decrease of 0.9% as compared with 24.4% in 2021. This is mainly
because the investment in advertising expenses decreased due to
the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic during the Reporting Period.

Administrative Expenses

In 2022, administrative expenses of the Group were RMB1,835
million, representing an increase of 4.8% as compared with
RMB1,751 million in 2021. Administrative expenses accounted
for 5.5% of our total revenue, representing a decrease of 0.4%
as compared with 5.9% in 2021, and the proportion essentially
maintained at the level.

4z 2022 Annual Report
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Other Income and Gains

In 2022, other income and gains of the Group amounted to
RMB1,709 million, accounting for 5.1% of our total revenue, which
was mainly due to the interest income from time deposits and the
exchange gains caused by the foreign currencies from the unutilised
initial public offering proceeds. In 2022, the exchange gains
amounted to approximately RMB370 million. As of December 31,
2022, the Group held HK$1,469 million, US$443 million and a small
amount of other foreign currencies, representing a slight decrease
as compared with the HK$1,485 million, US$491 million and a small
amount of other foreign currencies held in December 31, 2021.

Finance Costs

During the Reporting Period, the discount amount of bank
acceptance bills used by the Group increased, and the finance costs
increased from RMB53 million in 2021 to RMB76 million in 2022.

Profit for the Year

As a result of the aforementioned changes, profit of the Group for
the year increased by 18.6% from RMB7,162 million in 2021 to
RMB8,495 million in 2022.

Dividends

Having accounted for, including but not limited to, the Group’s
overall performance, surplus, overall financial condition, capital
expenditures in 2022, the Board proposed to declare a final cash
dividend of RMBO0.68 per share (inclusive of tax, amounting to a total
dividend of approximately RMB7,647.6 million) for the year ended
December 31, 2022 at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.

Long-term Bank Deposits, Pledged Deposits, Cash, Bank
Balances and Borrowings

As of December 31, 2022, the sum of long-term bank deposits,
pledged deposits, cash and bank balances of the Group amounted
to RMB19,316 million, representing an increase of 21.4% as
compared with RMB15,909 million as of December 31, 2021. The
total credit facility of the Group was RMB12,710 million and interest-
bearing borrowings amounted to RMB2,425 million as of December
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31, 2022, representing a decrease of 3.0% as compared with
RMB2,500 million as of December 31, 2021, with due repayment
of a total amount of RMB6,563 million as of December 31, 2022.
All of the borrowings are denominated in RMB. Among the total
borrowings as of December 31, 2022, the borrowings of RMB100
million were charged at a fixed interest rate (not including discounted
bank acceptances). The Group does not have any interest rate
hedging policy.

Inventories

Inventories of the Group increased by 16.5% from RMB1,809 million
as at December 31, 2021 to RMB2,108 million as at December 31,
2022. Due to inventory turnover driven by growth in sales, inventory
turnover days decreased from 54.8 days as at December 31, 2021
to 50.5 days as at December 31, 2022.

Trade and Bills Receivables

Trade and bills receivables of the Group increased from RMB476
million as of December 31, 2021 to RMB479 million as of December
31, 2022. The turnover days of trade and bills receivables slightly
increased from 5.1 days as at December 31, 2021 to 5.2 days as at
December 31, 2022.

Trade and Bills Payables

Trade and bills payables of the Group increased from RMB1,153
million as of December 31, 2021 to RMB1,425 million as of
December 31, 2022. The turnover days of trade and bills payables
increased from 30.8 days as at December 31, 2021 to 33.3 days as
at December 31, 2022.
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Gearing Ratio

As at December 31, 2022, the gearing ratio of the Group (equaling
(interest-bearing borrowings + lease liabilities)/equity) was 10.5%
(during the Reporting Period, the Group has no minority equity),
representing a decrease as compared with the gearing ratio of the
Group as at December 31, 2021 being 12.5%, mainly due to the
growth in interest-bearing borrowings of the Group in 2022 lower
than that of the equity in the same period.

Treasury Policy

The Group adopts a prudent financial management approach for
its treasury policy to ensure that the Group’s liquidity structure
comprising assets, liabilities and other commitments is able to
always meet its capital requirements.

MATERIAL EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There have been no material events of the Group from December
31, 2022 until the date of this report.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

As of December 31, 2022, the Group held HK$1,469 million,
US$443 million and a small amount of other foreign currencies. As
of the date of this report, the exchange rates of the U.S. dollar and
the Hong Kong dollar against RMB have both increased, and we
need to monitor the further trends in the foreign exchange market.
The Group will closely monitor our foreign exchange risks and will
utilize appropriate financial instruments for hedging purposes when
necessary to help reduce foreign exchange risks.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of December 31, 2022, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB1,542 million as at December 31, 2022, mainly used for
construction of production plants and purchase of production
equipment.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at December 31, 2022, no assets of the Group were pledged by
the Group.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL ACQUISITION
AND DISPOSAL

The Group did not have any significant investments held, or
any material acquisition or disposal of any relevant subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the Reporting Period.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, save for the “Future Plans and Use
of Proceeds” disclosed in the Prospectus, the Group did not have
any existing plan for acquiring other material investments or capital
assets.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

From September 8, 2020 (the “Listing Date”) to December 31, 2022,
the Group has gradually used the proceeds from the initial public
offering for the intended purposes set out in the Prospectus.

3 2022 Annual Report
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The sum of IPO proceeds from the listing of the shares of the
Company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and the
net proceeds from the full exercise of the over-allotment option
(after deducting underwriting fees and other related expenses) is
approximately HK$9,377 million. As of December 31, 2022, the
Group has utilised approximately HK$4,896 million of the proceeds
for the intended purposes set out in the Prospectus issued by
the Company, accounting for 52.2% of all raised funds, and the
remaining unutilised proceeds is approximately HK$4,481 million.
The balance of the proceeds from the Listing will continue to be
utilised according to the purposes and proportions disclosed in the
Prospectus. See the table below for details:

B ZE20226F B ZE20226F
twmEE 128318 12A318 HAREBAFEH
aEEA BREA HABA FARERE
T R FE ERARH
Actual net
amount Unutilised
utilised for net amount
Net proceeds the year for the Expected timeline
from the ended year ended for utilising
Listing December 31, December 31, unutilised net
Available 2022 2022 amount
(B¥AEE8) (B¥AaE) (B¥Aa&)
(HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million)
oo hR R 2,344 1,003 1,341 2024712 A31H
Brand building December 31, 2024
BEHER®E 2,344 371 1,973  2024%12H31H
Purchasing sales equipment December 31, 2024
REBEERERITERE 1,875 1,434 441 20249 12A31H
Purchasing production facilities and December 31, 2024
building new factories
HeE NER 838 212 626 2024F12H31H
Strengthening fundamental capabilities December 31, 2024
BEER 938 938 - TEA
Repaying loans N/A
HWrRREBERMEM—REERE 938 938 - TEA
Working capital and other general N/A
corporate purposes
45+ Total 9,377 4,896 4,481 2024F12A31H

December 31, 2024
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GOING CONCERN

On the basis of current financial projections and facilities available,
the Group has adequate financial resources to continue its operation
in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the financial statements are
prepared on a going concern basis.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND EMOLUMENT POLICY

As at December 31, 2022, the total number of employees of the
Group exceeded 20,000. In 2022, the total employee benefit
expenses (including directors’ remuneration) amounted to
RMB3,261 million. The Group always believes that our long-term
growth depends on the expertise, experience and development of
our employees. We proactively optimize the talent selection and
cultivation system in order to improve the general competitiveness
of our employees and their sense of belongings to the Group.
The remuneration and benefits for employees of the Group are
determined with reference to the market standards as well as
individual qualification and experience, performance bonus and
other incentive systems are established. Performance bonuses are
paid based on the Group’s revenue and profit targets, as well as the
performance of the organisation in which the employee works and
the performance of the individual employee, and to recognise and
encourage outstanding contributions to the Group’s business. Our
overall remuneration policy is competitive.

In order to improve the Company’s incentive mechanism, retain
key employees and promote sustainable growth of the Company’s
performance, as approved in the extraordinary general meeting held
in January 14, 2022, the Company has adopted the Employee Share
Incentive Scheme to incentivize management personnel and core
technical experts who play an important role in the Group’s business
performance and future development. For details of the Employee
Share Incentive Scheme, please refer to the relevant content of the
2021 annual report of the Company.

4z 2022 Annual Report



EEEWE DT MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

WERA - ARFERIE S TIREREE
R TFHHBMHBEEEARRHREES
6,636,400/% ' G AN A BB EITIR D BE W
0.059% M AG AR A B E 31 THE AY0.1318% -
H 42,610,000 % £ B) B% 15 2 3= pK 5 — B
GBEEGMEBNEENZEER - Fk
44184 KRG A BB IR BB RN IERS
& - ARIBIE R FEATEAFATS FE
MEHETE - HERKRGMERFIE -
ENESEEERBERTHERINNES
BB E  HBRWEHRZITEABTR
WAEFEE @M - AR ARRIE S TR
FrEIE IR E - TEERERG o AR
FHRFERBES TRESE 288
T ARTFHI—A-_tTEFEERZEAR
AIHRWEBEHENE 2 =1 - BIS8E
35813.22/8 7T » AXIRFHI108 B HENE %
BREAREEE([ESE])JEN L EMER
A5 AE - ZABBERTHRE MR ER
NBEIHEEHE 599,000 s 1R BLEEEH
BT  EETHBOHBHERARIHREE
/539,6000% * ZEBETHLEEATERN
AEEREBTRENBEIZEER - AKX
EEEEASERMETEABR(ZET
ER2023FMAREE) - HER105% 2B
HR2EAKREFET - EAEEERATN
BE EE HMBEEATIREAQARHEKE
maI— B (B12020F987H ) BN A A A
R A MR o

F Rz 2022 Annual Report

During the Reporting Period, the Awards granted by the Company
according to the Employee Share Incentive Scheme correspond to
6,636,400 H Shares of the Company, accounting for 0.059% of the
total issued shares of the Company and 0.1318% of the issued H
Shares of the Company. Among them, 2,610,000 incentive shares
have met the conditions for the First Tranche Vesting and belonged
to the corresponding incentive objects, while the remaining 44,184
incentive shares that did not meet the vesting conditions have
become confiscated shares and been sold out completely by the
trustee under the instruction of the Company at the market price in
the open market. The proceeds from the disposal of the confiscated
shares, after repaying the self-owned capital contribution paid by
the incentive objects when subscribing for the granted shares, will
be retained by the trustee and incorporated into the trust fund pool
for further purchase of incentive shares during the implementation of
the Employee Share Incentive Scheme in the future. Pursuant to the
provisions of the Employee Share Incentive Scheme, the grant price
under the grant is 30% of the average closing price of the Company’s
H Shares in the 120 Hong Kong trading days before the grant date,
being HK$13.22 per incentive share. The 108 Scheme Participants
in the Grant include Mr. Liu Xiyue and Mr. Rao Minghong, the
supervisors of the Company (“Supervisors”). The number of H Shares
of the Company underlying the Awards granted to each of them is
99,000. The number of H Shares of the Company underlying the
Awards granted to 1 employee of Yangshengtang Group is 39,600.
Such employee made significant contributions to the construction
of the information system of the Group during the participation in
the connected transaction project where Yangshengtang Group
provided IT services to the Group (the employee was transferred to
the Group in 2023). The remaining 105 Scheme Participants are all
employees of the Group, excluding the Directors, Supervisors, other
connected persons of the Company and shareholders registered in
the register of members of the Company on the day before the listing
of the Company’s H Shares (being September 7, 2020).
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ENVIRONMENT, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

The Company is always committed to promoting the organic
integration of sustainable development concept with the
environmental, social and governance (ESG) issues. The Company
has established a three-level sustainable development structure with
the Board of Directors as the top leader, the Office of Public Policy &
Sustainable Development assisting the Board in managing the ESG
issues, and various functional departments and subsidiaries as the
executors to ensure the implementation of the ESG-related strategies
and plans. In 2022, based on the demands and expectations of
various stakeholders, the Company selected and determined the
key ESG issues for the current year according to the Company’s
development needs and the peer benchmarking results, thus
providing guidance for the smooth implementation of the Company’s
sustainability work.

Based on robust corporate governance, the Company has continued
its strategic layout of high-quality natural water resources, pursued
innovation and breakthrough, and provided consumers with natural,
healthy and novel products and services; steadily promoted the
improvement of environmental management, minimized the impact
of business operations on the environment, and achieved green and
sustainable development; adhered to the protection of employees’
rights and interests, and satisfied their self-improvement needs;
followed the community investment concept of “creating profits,
educating people and helping the world”, and made contributions to
the prosperity of the community.

° Regarding corporate governance, Nongfu Spring clarifies the
requirements on business ethics for all employees and all kinds
of partners to prevent the occurrence of illegal behaviors in
accordance with the “Anti-Corruption Policy”, “Whistleblowing
Policy”, “Code of Business Conduct for Employees of Nongfu
Spring” and other internal corporate systems. Through anti-
corruption training of internal employees and extended
management of external partners, we have improved our ability
to timely detect, respond to and deal with various violations.
During the Reporting Period, percentage of employees covered
by our signed Code of Business Conduct was 100%, and our
anti-corruption training has covered all employees.
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Regarding environmental protection, Nongfu Spring complies
with the Policy on Environmental Climate Changes and other
internal policies, and further resolves environmental issues
such as sustainable water consumption, packaging materials
and waste recycling based on its business development
conditions and sound environmental protection system. Under
the background of global climate change, we have actively
identified and updated the impact of climate change on our
business in real time, and formulated systematic response
strategies. We carried out effective management of energy and
GHGs to further help mitigate the impact of climate change on
the natural environment. We have also actively responded to
the United Nations’ Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs),
contributed to sustainable agriculture, protected ecological
diversity, and worked with all sectors of society to shape a
greener future.

° We focus on the risks and opportunities arising from
climate changes, identify climate change risks in
accordance with the Task Force on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures (TCFD) Framework, regularly
update significant climate change risks and their
countermeasures, and continuously track the fulfillment
of our energy and carbon emissions goals. During the
Reporting Period, we continued to facilitate our energy
efficiency improvement and clean energy replacement,
and strengthened low-carbon management in the value
chain from the two aspects of green logistics and carbon
footprint mapping of our products, so as to effectively
reduce carbon emissions in the value chain.

° In terms of water resources management, we attach
great importance to the protection of water sources,
monitor and track the situation of water sources in real
time, and carry out water source protection activities on a
regular basis. We are committed to achieving the rational
use of water resources, and constantly carry out water-
saving management, design and transformation work
by leveraging on the Group’s water conservation plan.
During the Reporting Period, we have reduced our water
intensity by 12.7% as compared to 2020, and achieved
63.4% of the 2030 strategic target on water intensity
reduction.
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In terms of emissions management, we continue to
optimize the management of waste water, exhaust gas
and waste with the support of a sound environmental
management system. By optimizing the sewage
treatment system, transforming production equipment
and exhaust gas treatment facilities, and carrying out
waste treatment and other related work in an orderly
manner, we tried to reduce the impact of business
operation on the natural environment as much as
possible. We've also proactively cooperated with various
parties to promote the efficient utilization of food residues
and reduce food waste.

In terms of packaging materials management, we
continuously carry out research on reducing the use of
packaging materials and choosing lightweight packaging
materials, promote the replacement with recyclable
packaging materials, and improve the recyclability of
packaging materials for our products. We improve the
recyclability of packaging materials on the premise of
ensuring product quality and consumer experience.
During the Reporting Period, we have achieved 99%
recyclable plastic packaging for water and beverage
products.

The diversified products of Nongfu Spring are more
closely related to agriculture. In 2022, we committed
ourselves to developing sustainable agriculture, focusing
on the potential impacts of agricultural production on
water resources, soil health, surrounding environment,
ecological balance and climate change, and doing our
best to conduct management, guidance and assistance
among farmers.
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823 4 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Regarding our employees, Nongfu Spring is always committed
to creating an equal, inclusive and diverse workplace, and
has established and continuous improved the policy system
covering issues such as employee employment, employee
development, occupational health and safety. By creating
an optimal training system, offering sound welfare projects
and opening up fair promotion channels, we have provided
a diversified platform for employees to secure healthy
development of the workplace. Furthermore, we have also
revised the internal health and safety system, and set relevant
production safety management objectives to achieve all-round
protection of occupational health and safety of our employees.

Regarding our products, Nongfu Spring always adheres to the
philosophy of developing “natural and healthy” products, and
constantly pursues product innovation and breakthrough to
meet the increasing material needs of consumers by relying on
the perfect R&D management system and professional R&D
team. We also continue to promote product standardization
and information management from the raw materials end,
production end, sales end and after-sales end, and integrate
quality and safety into the entire life cycle of our products.
During the Reporting Period, the qualification rate of our
products for external inspection and national random
inspection reached 100%.

Regarding social welfare, Nongfu Spring insists on building
a sustainable supply chain, and constantly improves the
performance of our suppliers in environment, human rights,
integrity and other sustainable aspects in accordance with the
“Supplier Health, Safety and Environment Policy” and “Code of
Conduct of Suppliers”, thereby promoting green development
of the industry. Based on the “Community Investment Policy”,
we also carry out charitable and public welfare activities in
the four areas of disaster relief, poverty alleviation, education
improvement and public sports, so as to contribute our
strength to building a prosperous society.
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WE2 D HT MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The continuous exploration and persistent implementation of the
sustainable development strategy has always driven Nongfu Spring
to forge ahead. In the future, Nongfu Spring will continue to regard
promoting social sustainable development as its own responsibility,
actively respond to market changes, maintain a good momentum
of development, and create greater sustainable value to all
stakeholders.

The Company’s 2022 Sustainability Report has been released on the
same day as this Annual Report, and please refer to the report on
the website of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk)
and the website of the Company (www.nongfuspring.com) for more
details.

OUTLOOK

In 2023, with the optimized implementation of epidemic prevention
and control policies, the consumer market is expected to recover
and the consumption scenes are also recovering in an orderly
manner. We will continue to provide healthy and natural products,
explore and develop more innovative and high-quality products to
meet the changing needs of consumers, and continue to expand
sales channels and expand market share. However, we should also
note that the epidemic may recur again, and we will strengthen
our attention and actively respond to it. After the epidemic, public
consumption psychology and patterns may also change. We will
strengthen our understanding and research of consumer needs,
continuously improve our products and services, flexibly adapt to
market changes and better meet consumer needs.
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The Company is committed to upholding high standards of corporate
governance which, it believes, is crucial to the development of the
Company and safeguarding the interests of the shareholders of
the Company. The Company has adopted sound governance and
disclosure practices, and will continuously improve these practices
and establish a highly ethical corporate culture.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to the best practices on corporate
governance, and had complied with all the code provisions as set
out in the Corporate Governance Code of the Company during the
year ended December 31, 2022, save for the deviations from the
code provision C.2.1 under Section Il of the Corporate Governance
Code disclosed below.

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 under Section Il of the Corporate
Governance Code, the roles of chairman of the board and chief
executive officer should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive officer should be clearly established
and set out in writing. Mr. Zhong Shanshan is the Chairman of the
Board and General Manager of the Company. As the founder of the
Group, Mr. Zhong Shanshan has extensive experience in the drinking
water and soft beverage industry and is responsible for the overall
management of the Company’s business strategies and operations.
He has been mainstay to the growth and business expansion of the
Group since the Company’s establishment in 1996. The Board is of
the view that vesting both roles of Chairman and General Manager
in Mr. Zhong Shanshan is beneficial to the management of the
Company.

In addition, the balance of power and authority is ensured by
the operation of the senior management and the Board, which
comprises experienced and high-caliber individuals. The Board
currently consists of five executive Directors (including Mr. Zhong
Shanshan), one non-executive Director and three independent non-
executive Directors. Therefore, we consider that the Board has a
fairly strong independence element in its composition.

The Board shall review the structure from time to time to ensure that
the structure facilitates the execution of the business strategies of
the Group and maximizes effectiveness of its operation.
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SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS AND
SUPERVISORS

The Company works out the Regulations on Securities Transactions
by Directors, Supervisors and Related Employees by applying the
Model Code. The Company has made specific enquires with the
directors and supervisors and all of them confirmed that they had
been in compliance with the requirements for securities transactions
of directors and supervisors set out in the Model Code during the
Reporting Period.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

As of December 31, 2022 and up to the Latest Practicable Date, the
Board currently consists of nine Directors, including five executive
Directors (namely, Mr. Zhong Shanshan (Chairman), Mr. Guo Zhen,
Mr. Zhou Li, Ms. Zhou Zhenhua and Mr. Liao Yuan), one non-
executive Director (namely, Mr. Zhong Shu Zi) and three independent
non-executive Directors (namely, Mr. Stanley Yi Chang, Mr. Yang,
Lei Bob and Mr. Lu Yuan). As far as the Company is aware, except
for the non-executive Director Mr. Zhong Shu Zi, who is the son of
Mr. Zhong Shanshan, the Chairman and General Manager, there
is neither financial, business, family or material/related relationship
between other members of the Board and the General Manager, nor
significant relationships between Directors, Supervisors and senior
management that need to be disclosed.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section

headed “Biographies of Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.
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MAJOR RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for and has the general power over the
management and operation of our business, including determining
our business strategies and investment plans, implementing
resolutions passed at our Shareholders’ general meetings, and
exercising other powers, functions and duties as conferred by the
Articles of Association. The Board also assumes the responsibilities
for developing and reviewing the policies and practices of the
Company on corporate governance, risk management and internal
control and compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

The Board shall represent the long-term interest of the Company
and the interest of shareholders and related parties when making
scientific and strategic decisions, be effectively supervised and
evaluated when controlling corporate resources and conducting
operation management and maintain effective stimulation and
supervision over the senior management when duly delegating its
power to the senior management. The Board is the core of the
Company’s corporate governance framework and its role is clearly
separated from that of senior management. The Company clearly
defines the responsibilities of the general meeting, the Board,
the Supervisor Committee, and senior management. The general
meeting is the highest authority of the Company, and the Board is
responsible to the general meeting. The Board has established three
special committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Nomination
committee and the Remuneration Committee, which operate under
the leadership of the Board and advise the Board on its decisions. In
addition, the Company has also set up the Office of Public Policy &
Sustainable Development as a working organ of the Board to assist
the Board in identifying and monitoring the Company’s sustainable
development risks, formulating sustainable development strategies,
tracking sustainable development performance and disclosing
sustainability-related information. The Supervisor Committee
supervises the performance of duties by the Board and senior
management as well as the financial activities, risk management, and
internal control of the Company. Under the leadership of the Board,
senior management is responsible for implementing the resolutions of
the Board and for daily business and management of the Company,
and reports to the Board and the Supervisor Committee.
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The Company has a general manager (the “General Manager”). The
roles of the Chairman of the Board and General Manager of the
Company are performed by Mr. Zhong Shanshan. The Chairman of
the Board is responsible for ensuring that the Directors perform their
duties properly and ensuring discussions on material matters take
place on a timely basis. The power and authority to carry out daily
operations and implementation of the strategies and directions set by
the Board are delegated to the management team of the Company
(the “Management”). The Management assumes accountability to
the Board for the operation of the Group.

The Board has established an audit committee, a remuneration
committee and a nomination committee. Please see below for the
composition and responsibilities of each committee. Each committee
shall provide its recommendations to the Board based on its
respective terms of reference. The decisions of the Board on such
recommendations shall be final, unless otherwise clearly stated in the
terms of reference of these committees.

During the Reporting Period, the Board continued to improve the
internal management rules of the Company, enhance the corporate
governance standards and establishing and improving the internal
systems and processes of the Company to implement and ensure
the effective implementation of the Corporate Governance Code
in accordance with the requirements of relevant laws, regulations
and regulatory rules as amended from time to time, as well as the
practice of the Company. During the Reporting Period, the Board
regularly reviewed the Company’s compliance with the domestic and
overseas regulatory requirements and its implementation of various
internal corporate governance rules and policies, and reviewed the
Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and
the disclosures in the Corporate Governance Report. Meanwhile,
we arrange continuous professional trainings for the Directors,
Supervisors and the senior management of the Company to
enhance their understanding of the Listing Rules and the Corporate
Governance Code, and improve their professional judgment and
decision-making capabilities.

During the Reporting Period, the Board considered and approved
the “Mechanism for the Board to Obtain Independent Views
and Opinions”, which clarifies the procedures and channels for
Directors to seek advice from external professional consultants
and obtain information, as well as the qualifications, number
and time contributed by independent non-executive Directors to
ensure independent views and opinions available to the Board. The
Board will also review the implementation and effectiveness of this
mechanism on a yearly basis.
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CHANGES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

There is no changes in Directors, Supervisors and senior
management of the Company during the Reporting Period.

Considering that the term of office of the seventh session of the
Board of Directors and the Supervisory Committee will expire in
March 5, 2023, the Company will establish the eighth session of the
Board of Directors and the Supervisory Committee in accordance
with relevant laws and regulations and the Articles of Association. A
resolution was made at the Board meeting of the Company on March
3, 2023, approving to nominate Mr. Zhong Shanshan, Ms. Wu Limin,
Mr. Xiang Xiansong and Ms. Han Linyou as candidates for executive
Directors of the eighth session of the Board of the Company,
nominate Mr. Zhong Shu Zi and Ms. Xue Lian as candidates for
non-executive Directors of the eighth session of the Board of the
Company, and nominate Mr. Stanley Yi Chang, Mr. Yang Lei and Mr.
Lu Yuan as candidates for independent non-executive Directors of
the eighth session of the Board of the Company. A resolution was
made at the meeting of the Supervisory Committee of the Company
on March 3, 2023, approving to nominate Ms. Liu Min and Mr.
Liu Xiyue as candidates for Supervisors (excluding the employee
representative Supervisor) of the eighth session of the Supervisory
Committee of the Company. The above list of candidates for
Directors/Supervisors will be submitted to the 2022 Annual General
Meeting of the Company for consideration and approval by
shareholders.

Subject to the democratic election procedures of the Company’s
employees, Mr. Rao Minghong was re-elected as the employee
representative Supervisor of the eighth session of the Supervisory
Committee on March 2, 2023. Mr. Rao Minghong will constitute
the eighth session of the Supervisory Committee of the Company
together with the two shareholder representative Supervisors elected
at the 2022 Annual General Meeting of the Company. His term of
office will be the same as that of other Supervisors of the eighth
session of the Supervisory Committee of the Company.
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The term of office of the eighth session of the Board of Directors/the
Supervisory Committee of the Company will be three years, and the
appointment of candidates for Directors/Supervisors will take effect
from the date of approval at the Annual General Meeting. Prior to
this, all the current members of the seventh session of the Board of
Directors/the Supervisory Committee shall continue to perform their
roles and duties in accordance with applicable laws, administrative
regulations and the Company’s Articles of Association, until the re-
election of the new session of the Board completed.

The Company decides to make corresponding adjustments to
candidates for the senior management of the Company during
the general election of the eighth session of the Board. When the
candidates for the eighth session of the Board are approved to
take office at the 2022 Annual General Meeting of the Company,
Mr. Guo Zhen and Mr. Zhou Li, who are currently members of the
seventh session of the Board, will cease to be Deputy General
Managers of the Company, and Ms. Zhou Zhenhua will cease
to be Chief Financial Officer of the Company and the Authorized
Representative under Section 3.05 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Authorized Representative”). The Board agrees to appoint Ms.
Wu Limin as Chief Financial Officer and Authorized Representative of
the Company, which will take effect from the date when the Annual
General Meeting approves to appoint her as the executive Director
of the Company, with a term of office for three years, consistent with
the term of office of the eighth session of the Board.

For details on changes to the general election of Directors,
Supervisors and senior management, please refer to the
announcements published on the website of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the website of the Company
(www.nongfuspring.com) dated March 3, 2023.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETINGS

During the Reporting Period, the Company held 4 Board meetings
and 2 general meetings. During the Reporting Period, the attendance
record of each Director at the Board meetings and general meetings is
as follows:

HEXRE BITEBRE
Attendance/No. of

Meetings held
EEEgER BRERE
Board General
== Directors meetings meetings
HITES Executive Directors
SEIRRLA Mr. Zhong Shanshan 4/4 2/2
R A4 Mr. Guo Zhen 4/4 2/
Epab Mr. Zhou Li 4/4 2/2
AEEL+ Ms. Zhou Zhenhua 4/4 2/
BIREE Mr. Liao Yuan 4/4 2/2
FHITES Non-executive Director
Zhong Shu Zi%t 4 Mr. Zhong Shu Zi 4/4 2/2
BAFHITES Independent Non-executive Directors
Stanley Yi Changt 4 Mr. Stanley Yi Chang 4/4 2/2
BEEkE Mr. Yang, Lei Bob 4/4 2/2
BRI E Mr. Lu Yuan 4/4 2/2

REZSSHHME  ARASMEERE K
AEMERREAFNEBZHMERNE
£t MITES ST EIFMITERN - U
RRREHAREBERNEEEEENE
R IAESHEESEH TAERNEMA
EETHFEMNGEER - RIRESVARES

ZIEHEHRE
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At Board meetings, the senior management of the Company reported
the information regarding business activities and development of the
Company to all Directors on a timely basis. The executive Directors
also often communicate with the non-executive directors for their
opinions on the Company’s business development and operations. If
any Director has conflict of interests in any proposed resolution to be
considered at the Board, such Director shall abstain from voting on
such resolution.
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TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

The Company is responsible for arranging and funding suitable
training for the Directors. The office of the Board has provided
all Directors with relevant guideline materials regarding the roles,
duties and responsibilities of being a Director, the relevant laws and
regulations applicable to them, duty of disclosure of interests and
business of the Group. They have also made timely updates on the
latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and enhance all
Directors’ awareness of good corporate governance practices.
The Board ensures the Directors, upon reasonable request, to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstance,
at the Company’s expenses. The Directors confirmed that they
have complied with Code Provision C.1.4 under Section Il of the
Corporate Governance Code on directors’ training. During the
Reporting Period, all of the Directors have participated in continuous
professional development by attending seminars, participating in
training courses, conducting business research or reading materials
on corporate governance and related topics to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills and provided relevant records of training
to the Company.

Fr2 B (L)

Training

participated in
2= Directors (Note)
HITES Executive Directors
B ST A Mr. Zhong Shanshan a,b,c
IR ST Mr. Guo Zhen a,b,c
BhsE Mr. Zhou Li a,b,c
AEEL+ Ms. Zhou Zhenhua ab,c
BR&EAE Mr. Liao Yuan ab,c
FHITES Non-executive Director
Zhong Shu Zist 4 Mr. Zhong Shu Zi a,b,c
BIFHITES Independent Non-executive Directors
Stanley Yi Changt 4 Mr. Stanley Yi Chang ab,c
BTt Mr. Yang, Lei Bob ab,c
EIREAE Mr. Lu Yuan ab,c
FIE - Note:
a: (EREBAM2ERE a: Law firm training participated in
b:  REMEIIR R, S eE R i b: Internal training and/or seminars and/or conferences and/or forums
c: BENBEEFEMALR HEEAREME o Reading or watching data or information regarding Directors’ responsibilities

FRENBEHELE
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and/or corporate governance and other related topics
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

As of December 31, 2022 and up to the Latest Practicable Date,
the Audit Committee of the Company consists of three Directors,
including two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Stanley Yi Chang, Mr. Yang, Lei Bob and one non-executive Director,
namely Mr. Zhong Shu Zi with Mr. Stanley Yi Chang currently serving
as the chairman. The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee
are to inspect, review and supervise the Company’s financial
information and reporting procedure for financial information. These
responsibilities include, among others:

advising the Board on the appointment, renewal or
replacement, dismissal of the external audit agency;

reviewing and supervising the independence and objectivity of
the external auditor agency and the effectiveness of the audit
procedures in accordance with applicable standards;

formulating and implementing policies of non-audit services
provided by the external audit agency (if any);

serving as the main representative between the Company and
the external audit agency to monitor their relationship;

reviewing and monitoring the completeness of the Company’s
financial statements, annual reports and accounts, interim
reports and quarterly reports (if they are prepared for
publication), and reviewing significant financial reporting
opinions contained in the financial statements and financial
reports;

reviewing the Company’s financial control system, and risk
management and internal control systems;

having discussions on the risk management and internal control

systems with management to ensure that the management has
performed their duty to establish effective systems;

BXRIFRHBERLSE NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.
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considering major investigations findings on risk management
and internal control matters on its initiative or as delegated by
the Board and management’s response to these findings;

ensuring coordination between the internal audit department
and the external audit agency;

reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on financing
and accounting;

reviewing the Explanatory Letter on Audit submitted by the
external audit agency to the management, any material
questions raised by the external audit agency to the
management in relation to accounting records, financial
accounts or internal control system and the management’s
responses on these material questions;

ensuring proper channels have been established by the
Company for the employees to report or raise concerns on
potential improprieties in financial reporting, internal controls or
other matters in a confidential manner, and reviewing relevant
arrangements from time to time to ensure fair and independent
investigations and appropriate follow-up actions have been
taken by the Company to address these matters;

reporting to the Board on relevant matters within the scope of
the Audit Committee’s duties;

reflecting the Company’s extent of compliance with the
Corporate Governance Code and disclosures in the Corporate

Governance Report; and

other duties and powers authorized by the Board of the
Company.
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During the Reporting Period, three meetings were held by the Audit
Committee. The attendance record of the committee members at
the meeting during the Reporting Period is as follows:

HERE

BITERRH

Attendance/No. of

X Directors Meetings held
Stanley Yi Chang%t 4 (/&) Mr. Stanley Yi Chang (chairman) 3/3
BE@TE Mr. Yang, Lei Bob 3/3
Zhong Shu Zi%t 4 Mr. Zhong Shu Zi 3/3

REHRE - B2 EBeEEBEgRLEE
EME 202256 A30H8 |75 E A By SR
& THEREEMERMNEFRA - ERK
MEMBEHRHAEE -

HESEATEE  BZEeC0EBHAS
BHE2022F 12 A1 HILFEMNEFEE
RNE - WRBAARBETHBEANGT
BREFME  WHERDOEE - F1E8
EEHSEEANEHIEHEITERN - BEXR
EE2022F M - EERAREERR
REIRINRE - W ETEVE BN EB ST M Il Y
R EHRERERE - B L EEEE
BI2022 F % BRMMBEFTMER WHES
CEZBEERESTMEBM(FERLBEE
%) RATI2023F EHRBEBIRANEA - RE
BBk &5 B E IS FT(Emst & Young) &R 7]
2023F [E My B3R SMZ BRD - HEZB AR R
RENGRITHFEREARE LHE - HAlE
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During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee had reviewed the
Company’s interim report for the six months ended June 30, 2022,
and confirmed that the applicable accounting principles, standards
and requirements have been complied with, and that adequate
disclosures have been made.

As of the Latest Practicable Date, the Audit Committee has reviewed
the annual result announcement of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2022 and believes that the Company has complied
with all applicable accounting standards and regulations and made
sufficient disclosures. The Audit Committee has reviewed all material
internal control rules, including the financial and operational and
compliance controls, as well as risk management of the Group in
2022. The Audit Committee was satisfied with the effectiveness and
sufficiency of the internal control mechanism in its operations. The
Audit Committee has reviewed the remuneration of the auditors for
2022 and recommended the Board to re-appoint Pan-China Certified
Public Accountants LLP as the domestic auditors of the Company
for 2023 in the PRC and Ernst & Young as the overseas auditors of
the Company for 2023, subject to the approval of shareholders at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As of December 31, 2022 and up to the Latest Practicable Date, the
Nomination Committee of the Company comprised three Directors,
including one executive Director, namely Mr. Zhong Shanshan; two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lu Yuan and Mr.
Stanley Yi Chang, with Mr. Zhong Shanshan currently serving as the
chairman. The primary responsibilities of the Nomination Committee
are to formulate the nomination procedures and standards for
candidates for Directors. These responsibilities include, among
others:

o reviewing the structure, size and composition (including skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least once a year
and making recommendations on any proposed changes to
the Board in line with the Company’s corporate strategies;

o conducting researches and making recommendations on the
criteria, procedures and methods for selection of directors and
senior management members;

° identifying qualified candidates for directors and senior
management members;

° evaluating candidates for directors and senior management
members and making suggestions on the evaluation and
recommendations on appointment to the Board;

° assessing the independence of independent non-executive
directors;

o making recommendations to the Board on matters related to
the appointment and reappointment as well as succession
planning of directors and senior management members, in
particular, chairman of the Board and the general manager;

° reporting to the Board on its decisions or recommendations,
unless otherwise restricted by laws or regulations; and

° other duties and powers granted by the Board.

The nomination procedures of the Directors are as follows: the
Nomination Committee shall firstly propose and consider a list of
candidates for Directors, which shall then be submitted by the
Committee to the Board for review; the Board shall then submit the
relevant proposal to the general meeting for shareholders’ approval.
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The examination procedures of the candidates for Directors are: (1)
the Company recommends talents to the Nomination Committee
according to its management requirements; (2) the Nomination
Committee considers and reviews the candidates recommended
by the Company, and may, as required, widely search for the
candidates for directors and senior management within the
Company and its wholly-owned and holding (joint-stock) enterprises
as well as in the talent market; (3) collecting information about the
primary candidates, such as occupation, educational background,
professional titles, detailed work experience and all part-time
experience, and forming written materials; (4) seeking consent
from each candidate before nominating him/her as a candidate
for director or senior management members; (5) convening the
Nomination Committee meeting and conducting qualification review
on the primary candidates based on requirements for directors and
senior management members; (6) providing suggestions and related
materials of the candidates for directors and senior management
members to the Board prior to the election of new directors and
appointment of new senior management members; (7) carrying
out additional follow-up works in accordance with decisions and
feedbacks of the Board.

In order to ensure a diversity on the Board members and
improve the Company’s corporate governance, the Board has
approved the Board diversity policy formulated by the Nomination
Committee, which summarized as: other than complying with
relevant requirements under the relevant laws, regulations and
rules (including but not limited to the Company Law, the Listing
Rules and the Articles of Association), the Company should also
consider various diversity factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, culture and education background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and/or length of service, etc. when
designing the Board’s composition. The Nomination Committee
shall make final recommendation on the appointment to the Board
based on the merits of the candidates and contribution they may
bring to the Board. Meanwhile, the Company’s diversity policy also
includes monitoring, reporting and reviewing system to ensure the
effectiveness and successful implementation of the policy. The
Nomination Committee believes that, with the strict implementation
of the Board diversity policy, the composition of the Board has
satisfied the diversity policy in terms of gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and/or length of service. The Nomination Committee will review
the policy on an annual basis to ensure its effectiveness and make
recommendations to the Board on any amendments to the policy
when necessary.
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As of the date of this Annual Report, the Board consists of one
female and eight male Directors. The Board is satisfied with its
gender diversity and will continue to maintain a diverse Board. In the
future, gender will continue to be fully considered in the selection
and development of nominees on the basis of maintaining at
least one female Board member. The Nomination Committee and
the Company’s Human Resources Center will also pay attention
to maintaining and strengthening the concern, selection, and
development of high-potential female talents, and nominate and
recommend competent and qualified candidates to the Board when
necessary. For details on gender diversity of employees, please refer
to pages 103 to 105 of the Group’s “2022 Sustainability Report (ESG
Report)”, to be released on the same day as this Annual Report.

During the Reporting Period, one meeting was held by the
Nomination Committee. The attendance record of the committee
members at the meeting during the Reporting Period is as follows:

HERE

BIEBIRE

Attendance/No. of

22X Directors Meetings held
SBRSERE(EE) Mr. Zhong Shanshan (chairman) 1/1
=R A Mr. Lu Yuan 1/1
Stanley Yi Chang?t 4 Mr. Stanley Yi Chang 1/1
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During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee has
assessed the independence of independent non-executive
Directors at relevant meetings and reviewed the structure, number,
composition and diversity of the Board. Please refer to the relevant
disclosures under “Report of The Directors-Confirmation of
Independence by Independent Non-Executive Directors”.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As of December 31, 2022 and up to the Latest Practicable Date,
the Remuneration Committee consists of three Directors, including
one executive Director, namely Mr. Zhong Shanshan and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lu Yuan and Mr.
Yang, Lei Bob, with Mr. Lu Yuan currently serving as the chairman.
The primary responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee of the
Company are to formulate and review the remuneration policies and
schemes for the Directors and senior management of the Company.
These responsibilities include, among others:

o advising the Board on the overall remuneration policy and
framework for directors and senior management members,
and the establishment of a standardized and transparent
remuneration policy formulation procedures;

o formulating and advising the Board on the remuneration
packages for directors and senior management members of
the Company;

° reviewing and approving the compensation payable for
the loss or termination of the office or appointment of the
executive directors and senior management members, and
the compensation arrangements with regard to the dismissal
or removal of directors due to their misconduct, to ensure the
compensation shall be fair, reasonable and not excessive;

° examining assessment criteria, performance evaluation
procedures, remuneration and rewards and punishment
policies for directors and senior management members and
submitting these policies and procedures for the Board’s
approval;

° making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior
management members, including benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments (such as any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment);

° making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive directors;

° examining the performance of duties by directors and
senior management members and conducting performance
appraisals and evaluations;
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o ensuring that no director or any of his/her associates (as
required by the Hong Kong Listing Rules) is involved in
deciding his/her remuneration;

o studying and advising on the Company’s equity incentive plan
at the request of the chairman;

o reporting to the Board on its decisions or recommendations,
unless otherwise restricted by laws or regulations; and

° other matters authorized by the Board.

During the Reporting Period, one meeting was held by the

Remuneration Committee. The attendance record of the committee
members at the meeting during the Reporting Period was as follows:

HERE,

BITEBRRH

Attendance/No. of

2= Directors Meetings held
=R E(FE) Mr. Lu Yuan (chairman) 11
SR ST AR Mr. Zhong Shanshan 1/1
(ke Mr. Yang, Lei Bob 11
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During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee approved
the Employee Share Incentive Scheme of the Company, reviewed
the remuneration policy and structure of the Company at relevant
meetings, as well as the remuneration packages of Directors and
senior management and other related matters of the Company.
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FEHFITESNEH TERM OF OFFICE OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
HE Bfu B A [& 5% B A ()

Name Position Starting date Expiry date (Note)
Zhong Shu Zie & FERITES 201756 A21H 2023%F5716H

Mr. Zhong Shu Zi Non-executive Director June 21, 2017 May 16, 2023
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Note: The expiry date of the term of office was originally March 5, 2023, but it has
been extended to May 16, 2023, the date on which the Annual General
Meeting is to be held.

REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

The Company’s domestic audit agency, Pan-China Certified Public
Accountants LLP and overseas audit agency, Ernst & Young have
served as the independent external auditors of the Group. The
remuneration paid and payable by the Group to Pan-China Certified
Public Accountants LLP and Ernst & Young in respect of the services
provided during the Reporting Period is as follows:

FriRfit =z BR#% e REMER

Fees paid and

Services provided payable

(AR¥BER)

(RMB miillion)

2022F RETE B RTS 6.566
Statutory audit service provided for 2022

FERZBR TS 0.3

Non-audit service

Ak © JERBURT + B R IEESCR S HARGE -
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Note: Non-audit services mainly include the consultancy services for ESG
reporting.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for supervising the preparation of
annual accounts in order to give a true and fair view of the financial
position, operating results and cash flow of the Company during the
year. For the purpose of the preparation of the financial statements
for the Reporting Period, the Directors have selected appropriate
accounting policies, adopted applicable accounting principles, made
judgments and assessments that are prudent and reasonable and
ensured the accounts were prepared on a going concern basis. The
Directors have confirmed that the Group’s financial statements were
prepared in accordance with the requirements of laws and applicable
accounting principles.

The Directors have reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control
system of the Group. The review covered all the material aspects
of its internal controls, including the supervision of the financial and
operational and compliance affairs, as well as risk management.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast doubt upon the ability of the
Company to operate as a going concern. The statement of auditors
about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is
set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” of this
Report.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company shall convene an extraordinary general meeting at
the request of shareholders who individually or collectively hold
more than 10% of the Company’s shares. However, prior to the
announcement of the resolutions approved at the general meeting,
the number of the Company’s shares individually or jointly held by the
above shareholders shall not be lower than 10% of the total number
of the Company’s shares with voting rights; should the shareholding
is less than 10%, resolutions passed at the extraordinary general
meeting would become invalid.

When the Company convenes a shareholders’ general meeting, the
shareholders who individually or jointly, hold more than 3% of the
total number of voting shares of the Company, have the right to put
forward a new proposal in written form to the Company and submit
it to the convener not less than 10 days before the shareholders’
general meeting is held. The convener of the shareholders’ general
meeting shall, within 2 days after receiving the proposal, issue a
supplementary notice of the shareholders’ general meeting to inform
other shareholders and include the matters which are within the
scope of responsibilities of the shareholders’ general meeting in the
agenda of the meeting and submitted to the shareholders’ general
meeting for deliberation.

The shareholders may put enquiries to the investor relations working
team of the Company or the Office of the Board via email (ir@mail.
nfsg.com.cn) or telephone (86-571-26699096) as stated in this
annual report.

AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

During the Reporting Period, the Articles of Association of the
Company were not amended.
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EFFECTIVE COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Company has adopted the Shareholder Communication Policy
and published the full text of the policy on the websites of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange and the Company. The purpose of this
policy is to ensure that shareholders and investors have equal and
timely access to the Company’s information, enable shareholders
to exercise their rights in an informed manner, and allow them to
participate actively in the Company’s affairs. The Company publishes
updated information on its business operations and development,
financial data, corporate governance practices and other information
on its website for public access. Meanwhile, the Office of the
Board of the Company is responsible for receiving enquiries from
shareholders and investors, handling relevant information requests
and ensuring timely and effective communication with shareholders
and investors.

The Group had made effective improvements in investor relations
in 2022 under the leadership and support of the Board and
management. After issuing the interim results announcement
and annual results announcement every year, the Group will hold
a performance presentation meeting to fully communicate with
investors and analysts. In addition, we also maintain continuous and
effective communication with shareholders and investors by holding
exchange meetings, attending investor forums and investment
summits, etc.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the Shareholder Communication Policy during the Reporting Period,
and believes that the Company’s Shareholder Communication Policy
has been properly implemented and deemed effective during the
Reporting Period.

4z 2022 Annual Report



THRFAEBITIENR

BT EECEMERRTEREEE
BB FABRETER - WHERERM T
HREEERNEE2022F12A31HILEE
—HBTZERBIR - ERBTEREE
BENMAEARBERE —HETIRFEAHD

fER5K

BB IERITERATA BT ENEE
EIWMERTRFAGBOER - Bt - #=
2022F 12 AB1 B IEFE  ANA A S EKE
ERIFAERATE ©

RIBAR DR EER S R B EZRT T
BRAGE  BRMEEREEENANBL
A(TERELmHBRREARE) R 35S
R AR SRR R R R EHE
EREERRTEBKEFOEHEE - &
EBHREREBANBHEAKE - FI512
BIEA A2 B R A SR ORR (R | —ERFTER It
[TEBEFAGE I RIEBEE IR -

RBERE - ARBEF(BIEBILIFNTT
ER)MEMOITERRIDEEERELRE
B MEXIMEEMEERSRE -

F Rz 2022 Annual Report

TEEERIRE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

PERFORMANCE OF NON-COMPETITION
UNDERTAKING

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
compliance by Mr. Zhong Shanshan and Yangshengtang of the
Non-competition Undertaking and confirmed that Mr. Zhong
Shanshan and Yangshengtang have complied with the terms of such
undertaking during the year ended December 31, 2022. Mr. Zhong
Shanshan and Yangshengtang also confirmed to the Company
that they have complied with the terms of the Non-Competition
Undertaking.

The independent non-executive Directors were not aware of any
breach of the terms of the Non-Competition Undertaking by Mr.
Zhong Shanshan and Yangshengtang and therefore, no remedy
action was taken by the Company during the year ended December
31, 2022.

In accordance with the Non-Competition Undertaking entered
into between the Company and Mr. Zhong Shanshan and
Yangshengtang, if any of Mr. Zhong Shanshan and Yangshengtang
or their subsidiaries (excluding their listed subsidiaries and the
Group) are recommended or provided with business opportunities
which directly or indirectly compete with the Restricted Business in
the PRC during the term of the Non-competition Undertaking, the
New Business Opportunities should be recommended or introduced
to the Group. For details, please refer to the “Non-Competition
Undertaking” and “New Business Opportunities” mentioned in the
section headed “Relationship with the Controlling Shareholders” in
the Prospectus.

During the Reporting Period, the Directors of the Company (including
the independent non-executive Directors) did not make any decisions
in relation to the exercise or termination of the option or the right of
first refusal or take up or waive any Business Opportunities.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has established a risk management and internal control
system in accordance with the requirements of paragraph D.2 under
Section Il of the Corporate Governance Code, which is responsible
for independently reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control system of the Company,
and continuously monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of its
operation once a year. The system aims to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, promote
effective and efficient operations, reasonably ensure the reliability of
financial reports and comply with applicable laws and regulations
and protect the assets of the Group. The Board can only give
reasonable but not absolute assurance that there will be no material
misrepresentation or loss.

Characteristics of the Risk Management and Internal Control
Organization System

In accordance with the requirements of code provision D.2.2
under Section Il of the Corporate Governance Code, the Group
has established a sound risk management and internal control
organization system which includes the Board, the Audit Committee,
the Supervisory Committee, the management of the Group, the
office of the Board, the audit and inspection center, the legal
department and other departments to ensure that the Group has
sufficient resources, qualified and experienced staffs, training
courses and related budget for risk management and internal audit.
The various departments of the Group are the first line of defense
for risk management and internal control; the office of the Board
and the management of the Group are the second line of defense;
while the audit and inspection center, the legal department, the
Audit Committee and the Supervisory Committee are the third
line of defense. The Board bears the ultimate responsibility for the
establishment and improvement of the Group’s risk management
and internal control system as well as the effective implementation
of the risk management work, and serves as the highest decision
maker for the Group’s risk management and internal control.
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Implementation of Risk Management and Internal Control

The Group reviews the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems every year and assesses all important
monitoring aspects including supervision on financial, operation and
compliance affairs, etc. based on the elements of internal control
such as the internal environment, risk assessment, control activities,
information and communication as well as internal supervision, and
optimizes and updates the risk control mechanism.

After risk assessment, the Company’s major risks in 2022 mainly
involve business risks, financial risks, compliance risks, inside
information and internal control risks. According to our actual
situation, we have formulated practical and feasible response plans
to effectively manage risks:

Business risks: The business risks the Group mainly faces in respect
of its operations in the PRC include macro-environmental risks such
as the epidemic, competition risks, supply chain risks, reputation
risks and sustainability risks. The Board regularly reviews and
identifies potential risks of the Group, and adjusts strategies and
policies in a timely manner, to ensure that the business risks are
controlled and managed.

Financial risks: The Group has adopted financial risk management
policies to control the Group’s financial risk exposure, such as
taxation risks, currency risks and financial reporting risks. Also, the
Board monitors the financial results and key operating statistics
with the assistance of the Group’s internal finance department on a
regular basis.

BXRIFRHBERLSE NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.
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Compliance risks: The Group has adopted internal procedures to
monitor the Group’s compliance risks to ensure that the Group
has complied with the laws and regulations of the regions where
the Group conducts business. In addition, the Group engages
professional advisers from time to time to keep the Group updated
with the latest development in the regulatory environments. It also
arranges compliance trainings on connected transactions, internal
control management and anti-corruption for employees, and
promotes the “Code for Mutual Supervision of Anti-Commercial
Bribery and Fraud” among distributors, to further standardize risk
management efforts.

Inside information and internal control risks: The Group attaches
utmost importance to the proper handling and dissemination of
inside information. Internal policies are put in place to ensure that
inside information is properly controlled. The Group has implemented
information management system control to prevent the leakage of
sensitive information.

Formation of a Long-term Mechanism for Risk Management
and Internal Control

We continue to improve risk management policies and procedures,
specify the risk management structure and responsibilities. We
identify major risks that hinder the achievement of objectives and
control them within acceptable levels to ensure the achievement of
business objectives, the improvement of operational efficiency, the
reliability of financial reports and compliance with national regulations
and other compliance requirements.

We evaluate and check the effectiveness of our risk management
and internal control systems through channels such as the
management, business units in the risk management system, audit
and inspection teams of the Group, external auditors, and external
legal advisor to improve risk response measures. Meanwhile, in order
to ensure the effective operation of the risk management system, the
Audit Committee reviews and supervises the risk management work.

4z 2022 Annual Report
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The audit and inspection team of the Group focuses on business
risks, financial risks and compliance risks. Through agile audits, it
achieves more comprehensive and accurate risk control, identifies
potential risks more quickly, and promotes the improvement in
management and system processes to support the achievement of
the mid- to long-term vision and strategic goals of the Company.

The Group’s management procedures for financial reporting
and information disclosure, etc. are in strict compliance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules. Office of the Board conducts
information reporting, reviewing and disclosure in strict accordance
with the Information Disclosure Management formulated by the
Company. Prior to disclosing relevant information to the public, the
Group will ensure that such information is kept confidential properly
and will perform the obligation to inform and supervise the insiders of
inside information as required.

The Board reviewed the risk management and internal control
during the Reporting Period and concluded that there had been no
deficiency in material risk control nor any weakness in material risk
control based on the outcome of the risk management and internal
control work implemented by the Group as of the Latest Practicable
Date. The Board was of the view that the risk management and
internal control system of the Group is effective and sufficient.
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WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Group has continuously improved the whistleblowing policy
and system, publicly released the special phone number and
E-mail address for whistleblowing, and emphasized the protection
of whistleblowers. The personal information of whistleblowers and
the information provided by them shall be kept strictly confidential.
Any act of malicious retaliation against whistleblowers will be held
accountable to relevant personnel. The Audit and Inspection Center
of the Group will independently conduct the third-party investigation
on the reported clues to ensure the objectivity and impartiality of the
process and results. The Audit and Inspection Center will report its
work results to the Audit Committee on a regular basis.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Group has always attached great importance to the construction
and implementation of its anti-corruption systems. We have
adopted the “Code of Business Conduct for Employees of Nongfu
Spring”, the “Management Measures for Employee Rewards and
Punishments” and other rules to clearly stipulate the illegal behaviors
of employees such as fraud, corruption, etc. and the punishment
standards, and we will terminate the labor contract of employees
with fraudulent behaviors and include them into the blacklist of the
anti-fraud alliance. Through the Code of Conduct of Suppliers, the
Code of Mutual Supervision on Anti-Commercial Bribery and Fraud,
the Letter of Commitment to Integrity of Business Partners, the
Distribution Contract, the Procurement Contract, etc., we define
the bribery, fraud and other illegal behaviors of our partners and
the liabilities for breach of contract, and include the customers and
suppliers who violate the agreement into the cooperation blacklist.

4z 2022 Annual Report
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Han Linyou (E8#R{&, former name: Han Yang (§845)), age 42,
has been the Secretary to the Board of the Company since February
2020 and concurrently a joint company secretary since January
2020. She is responsible for our corporate governance, information
disclosure and investor relations management. For the biographical
details of Ms. Han Linyou, please refer to the biography of “Senior
Management” below.

Ms. Mak Po Man Cherie (%2 X)) has served as a joint company
secretary of the Company since September 8, 2020. During the term
of office of Ms. Mak, Ms. Han Linyou was the main contact person
between the Company and Ms. Mak. For the biographical details
of Ms. Mak Po Man Cherie, please refer to the biography of “Joint
Company Secretaries “below.

The Company will ensure that Ms. Han and Ms. Mak Po Man Cherie
continue to have access to the relevant training and support in
relation to the Listing Rules and the duties required for a company
secretary of an issuer listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Ms.
Han and Ms. Mak Po Man Cherie have taken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training in 2022 financial year, which is in
compliance with the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

BXIWRBHHRAS NONGFUSPRING CO.,LTD. / 59



60 /

ES EEREAREEAEEE
BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

RIBEE RN R - BR&A - BAEELLT  SMRELE - mREE  BEEE

BN R - BERRAL A - BIENTA - B8R A © Zhong Shu Zist A ~ A% AE - Stanley Yi Changbt 4 ~ SMREAE ~ BT
Front row, from left: Mr. Liao Yuan, Ms. Zhou Zhenhua, Mr. Zhong Shanshan, Mr. Lu Yuan, Mr. Yang, Lei Bob

Back row, from left: Mr. Rao Minghong, Mr. Liu Xiyue, Mr. Zhong Jigang, Mr. Zhong Shu Zi, Mr. Zhou Li, Mr. Stanley Yi Chang,

Mr. Guo Zhen, Ms. Han Linyou

2=

BRAM L - 685% © ARAIAIIAA - EE
£ HITEERAKLIE - 71996F9 A &I
RARBIEMITEHRELEZFRAKEER
7] R2001F6 AR I AEERRWITE
£ R2005F5 AE R A AR RIS -
WHR2020F3 AR T AARREESIRRS
ZEeXFE FWERESZERE - AR &K
MAEEBARARRSHBRARKIR—EHT
ZENBARES - ERMELBEAEH
R BB B R BIAR « ETERTE] - EARLERE
WEEEBREMANDERIES - AEX
NAIFKSLAT - SERLEK S AE A 19934 3 A Al
BAEEBERARELAE])  B199343A
FAELEEE @ArREREER IR
2001411 A 2021 F1 AT RERE
YEERNER AR (R LEBEERSAT L
o RO HREE : 603392 NEEF -

BRIFRKHERAS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhong Shanshan ($£2BXBX), age 68, is the founder, Chairman
of the Board, an executive Director and the General Manager
of the Company. He founded Zhejiang Thousand-Island Lake
Yangshengtang Drinking Water Company Limited (7T T &#&4
EEAKA R R]), the predecessor of the Company, in September
1996. Mr. Zhong was appointed as the Chairman of the Board and
an executive Director in June 2001 and the General Manager of the
Company in May 2005, as well as the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee under
the Board of the Company in March 2020. Mr. Zhong Shanshan has
also been serving as the director of all subsidiaries of the Company
since their establishment. Mr. Zhong Shanshan is responsible
for the Group’s overall development strategies, business plans
and major operational decisions and direct management of our
brands and human resources. Prior to the establishment of the
Company, Mr. Zhong Shanshan founded Yangshengtang Co., Ltd.
(“Yangshengtang”) in March 1993 and has served successively as
Director, General Manager and Chairman of the Board of Directors of
Yangshengtang since March 1993. Mr. Zhong Shanshan had been
Chairman of Beijing Wantai Biological Pharmaceutical Enterprise Co.,
Ltd. (listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 603392)
from November 2001 to January 2021.
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Mr. Zhong Shanshan is the father of Mr. Zhong Shu Zi, the non-
executive Director.

Mr. Guo Zhen (f#R) (alias: Mr. Guo Zhen (£ E)), age 65, was
appointed as an executive Director in December 2019 and a Deputy
General Manager of the Company in March 2020 and is responsible
for our overall production and operation. Mr. Guo Zhen served
as a Supervisor of the Company from September to December
2019. Upon joining the Group in June 2003, Mr. Guo Zhen was
successively the manager of Danjiangkou plant, the Regional
Production Director of east China, north China regions and the
deputy general manager of the production and operation center
of the Group. Currently, Mr. Guo Zhen is currently the manager of
several subsidiaries of the Company. Prior to joining the Group, Mr.
Guo Zhen held several management positions in Hangzhou Tingjin
Food Co., Ltd. (fnMTEERMAMR AR from September 1994 to
March 2001.

Mr. Guo Zhen obtained a master’'s degree in law from Northeast
Normal University in December 1992, and a bachelor’s degree in
politics from Northeast Normal University in August 1982.

Mr. Zhou Li (& 17), age 51 was appointed as an executive Director in
September 2019 and the Deputy General Manager of the Company
since July 2019 and is responsible for our product research and
development, quality management, technology-related regulations
and legal affairs. Mr. Zhou Li served as the secretary to the
Board from April 2008 to February 2020. In addition, Mr. Zhou Li
concurrently serves as the manager of several subsidiaries of the
Company. In addition, Mr. Zhou Li served as a researcher and a
deputy director of YST Natural Medicine Research from March 1998
to May 2004, and concurrently as the production technology director
of Yangshengtang from November 2002 to May 2004 and as the
general manager of Yangshengtang Zhejiang Food Company Limited
BEEEMIRMAMRAE], now renamed as Mugin Foodstuff (Anji)
Co., Ltd. (B# &M (ZF) AR AQR]) from May 2004 to March
2008.

Mr. Zhou Li obtained a PhD in chemical engineering and a bachelor’s
degree in chemical engineering from Zhejiang University in May 1998
and July 1993, respectively. Mr. Zhou Li is a professor-level senior
engineer.
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Ms. Zhou Zhenhua (EZ2E), age 46, was appointed as an executive
Director in September 2019 and as the Chief Financial Officer in
November 2007, is responsible for our financial matters and external
investment. Ms. Zhou Zhenhua has been assisting Mr. Zhong
Shanshan in managing the overall operations of the Company as
an assistant to the General Manager since March 2014 and was
concurrently in charge of the branding and marketing of the Group
from April 2015 to September 2016. After joining the Group in
July 2007, Ms. Zhou Zhenhua, being the Chief Financial Officer of
the Group, successively served as the chief financial officer and
general manager of the financial center of the Company until July
2012. Ms. Zhou Zhenhua was a Supervisor from June 2014 to
September 2019. Ms. Zhou Zhenhua also served as a consultant
of Yangshengtang from July 2012 to March 2014. Prior to joining
the Group, Ms. Zhou Zhenhua successively served as a consultant
at Deloitte Consulting (Shanghai Pudong) Co., Ltd. (&)1 %18
=4 (%) AR A F) and an investment banking associate at
HSBC Markets (Asia) Limited from March 2000 to June 2007.

Ms. Zhou Zhenhua obtained a bachelor’s degree in electrical
engineering from Shanghai Jiao Tong University in July 1998,
an MBA from Fudan University in June 2004 and completed the
International MBA Program of MIT Sloan School of Management
during the same year. Ms. Zhou Zhenhua is a fellow member of the
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants in the UK and a
Chartered Global Management Accountant in the USA.

Mr. Liao Yuan (BJg), age 52, was appointed as an executive
Director in March 2020 and is responsible for the management
of our engineering and equipment. Mr. Liao Yuan has been the
general manager of the engineering and equipment center of the
Group since February 2020, and a director of Hangzhou Innovax
Biotech Co., Ltd. (f1/N&ZRAEW R AR A F]) since August 2021.
After joining the Group in April 2000, Mr. Liao Yuan successively
served as the section chief of the equipment technology section and
deputy manager of the Jiande Plant, manager of the Chun’an Plant,
manager of the Group’s quality assurance department, production
director, director of the engineering and equipment department and
assistant to the general manager of the production and operation
center, etc., and served as the general manager of the engineering
and equipment center of Yangshengtang from May 2018 to February
2020. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Liao Yuan was a technician
at Shaoxing Automobile Oil Pump Factory (48852 MR &) from
August 1993 to March 1995, and a technician and the chief of the
manufacturing section at Hangzhou Tingjin Food Co., Ltd. ({1 T8%
B AR A7) from April 1995 to April 2000.
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Mr. Liao Yuan obtained a bachelor’s degree in technique of
mechanical manufacturing and equipment from Nanchang University
in July 1993.

Mr. Zhong Shu Zi, age 35, was appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Company in June 2017 and a member of the Audit
Committee under the Board of the Company in March 2020, and
is responsible for providing advice on our business plans, major
decisions and investment activities. Mr. Zhong Shu Zi joined the
Group in January 2014 and has been the general manager of
Yangshengtang Brand Center since January 2020.

Mr. Zhong Shu Zi obtained a bachelor of arts degree in English
from University of California, Irvine in the United States in December
2011, and received his master degree in international business from
Zhejiang University in March 2021.

Mr. Stanley Yi Chang, age 64, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, the Chairman of the Audit Committee
under the Board and a member of the Nomination Committee of
the Company in March 2020 and is responsible for overseeing
and providing independent judgment to the Board, and offering
strategic advice and guidance to our financial management, internal
control and external investment. Mr. Chang is currently a standing
council member of China Institute of Internal Audit, and served as a
member of Auditing Expert Panel of Asian Development Bank, and
has been serving as an independent director of Cowealth Medical
China Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange,
stock code: 603122) since April 2019. He was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director and the Chairman of the Audit
Committee of YS Biopharma Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the
NASDAQ, stock code: YS) in January 2021 and an independent non-
executive Director and the Chairman of the Audit Committee of Sipai
Health Technology Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange, stock code: 0314) in December 2022. Mr. Chang
has been a Professor at Shanghai Advance Institute of Finance of
Shanghai Jiaotong University since July 2018. He was a Professor at
National Taiwan University from August 2016 to June 2018. Prior to
that, Mr. Chang successively served as the Chief Operating Officer of
MarcumBP where he also led its China Advisory Services, Managing
Partner of China Advisory Services and Global Business Risk
Services Leader for Grant Thornton, and Partner of Business Risk
Services and Asia Pacific Life Sciences Leader for Ernst & Young
from September 2007 to October 2016.

Mr. Chang received his bachelor’s degree in Business Administration
from National Taiwan University in June 1980; his master’s degree
in Accounting from University of Missouri-Columbia in the United
States in August 1983; and his PhD in Accounting from Texas
Tech University in the United States in August 1987. Mr. Chang is a
Certified Public Accountant of Texas, United States.
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Mr. Yang, Lei Bob (#%2), age 55, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company in September 2019 and a
member of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee under the Board of the Company in March 2020, and is
responsible for supervising and providing independent judgement to
the Board and offering strategic advice and guidance to the Group’s
financial management, internal control and external investment.
Mr. Yang, Lei Bob was an independent director, chairman of the
nomination committee and member of the audit committee of
Shanghai Kehua Bio-Engineering Co., Ltd. (/G REE4 %) Ti2B& %D
BBR /A B], a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock
code: 002022) from May 2017 to June 2020; was a visiting professor
of finance at China Europe International Business School from
January 2012 to December 2012 and from April 2016 to December
2019, and was an adjunct professor of finance at China Europe
International Business School from April 2013 to March 2016. Mr.
Yang, Lei Bob has extensive experience in corporate finance and
financial management. He worked for The Hongkong and Shanghai
Banking Corporation Limited from July 2004 to March 2010 with his
last positions as the Global Banking and Markets managing director
and head of the China Investment Banking Division, and worked for
Goldman Sachs Asia Limited from August 1999 to June 2004 with
his last position as an executive director of the Investment Bank
Division.

Mr. Yang, Lei Bob obtained an MBA (with a finance concentration)
degree from McGill University in Montreal, Canada in June 1993.
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Mr. Lu Yuan (B)R), age 67, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company in September 2019, and
was appointed as the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
under the Board of the Company and a member of the Nomination
Committee in March 2020. and is responsible for supervising
and providing independent judgement to the Board and offering
strategic advice and guidance in relation to the business and
operations management of the Group. Mr. Lu Yuan has been
an adjunct professor at the Department of Management and an
honorary teaching and research fellow at the Asia-Pacific Institute of
Business of The Chinese University of Hong Kong since December
20183. Mr. Lu Yuan was a chair professor at the School of Business
Administration of South China University of Technology from
February 2019 to January 2022, and was an adjunct professor at the
School of Management of Zhejiang University of Technology from
August 2018 to July 2021, and acted as an independent director
of Sirio Pharma Co., Ltd. (L2 RERHZARH B R A E], a company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 300791) from
April 2015 to July 2021. Prior to that, Mr. Lu Yuan was the Dean of
the Business School of Shantou University from October 2013 to
August 2017, and the distinguished professor there from September
2017 to August 2018, an adjunct professor, an associate professor
and a professor at the Department of Management of the Chinese
University of Hong Kong from August 1996 to September 2013, the
Rothmans researcher at Cambridge Judge Business School (the
predecessor of the Judge Institute of Management Studies) from
January 1993 to August 1996 and an assistant research fellow at
Lancaster University Management School in the UK from 1991 to
1992.

Mr. Lu Yuan received his bachelor’s degree in Engineering from
Beijing University of Technology in January 1982; his MBA from the
China Europe Management Programme (the predecessor of China
Europe International Business School) in December 1986; and his
PhD in Management from Aston University in Birmingham, the UK in
July 1991.
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SUPERVISORS

Mr. Zhong Jigang (442 8), age 64, was appointed as the Chairman
of the Supervisory Committee of the Company in June 2021. He has
been the vice president of Yangshengtang since February 2020 and
he has concurrently served as executive director and manager of
Yangshengtang (Anji) Agricultural Co., Ltd. and Youdao Biomedical
(Hangzhou) Co., Ltd., chairman of Hangzhou Lingzhi Pharmaceutical
Technology Co., Ltd., and manager of Mother Catering (Hangzhou)
Co., Ltd. and Xinjiang Yangshengtang Base Fruit Industry Co.,
Ltd. He served as the general manager of the Agricultural Product
Business Department of the Company, deputy general manager and
executive director of the Company from April 2015 to March 2020
and served as the production director, general manager and deputy
general manager of the Company from January 2001 to November
2006. In addition, he was engaged in technical and management
work of the Steel Pipe Branch of Hangzhou Iron and Steel Factory
from January 1982 to February 1995; he was responsible for the
management of Hangzhou Dingjin Food Co., Ltd. from March 1995
to July 1999; he served as the deputy general manager of Zhejiang
Minghuang Natural Food Products Co., Ltd. from August 2013 to
June 2014 and the general manager of Zhejiang Nongfu Industrial
Development Company Limited from June 2014 to April 2015.

Mr. Zhong Jigang obtained a bachelor’s degree in automation
from the Central South Mining & Metallurgical College (4 FEH&
JAEBT) (subsequently renamed as the Central South University
of Technology (17 T # A £), now known as the Central South
University (FR 5 A £2)) in December 1981.

Mr. Liu Xiyue (RIZ1}1), age 49, has been a shareholder representative
Supervisor since December 2019 and is responsible for overseeing
the Company’s operations and financial activities, etc. Mr. Liu
Xiyue has been the Chief Information Officer of the Group since
November 2017. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Liu Xiyue worked at
the software center of the Ministry of Posts and Telecommmunications
of the People’s Republic of China (the predecessor of the Ministry
of Industry and Information Technology of the People’s Republic
of China), UTStarcom Telecom Co., Ltd. (UTHT:EE:BEERAF),
Accenture (China) Co., Ltd. (%% () AR A7) and Huawei
Technologies Co., Ltd. (A4 1B R A A]) successively from
August 1996 to November 2017.

Mr. Liu Xiyue obtained a bachelor’s degree in computer
communication from Beijing University of Posts and
Telecommunications in July 1996 and obtained an MBA degree from
the School of Economics and Management of Tsinghua University
in June 2001 and completed the International MBA Program of MIT
Sloan School of Management in the same year.
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Mr. Rao Minghong (££BB4T), aged 47, joined the Group in June
1999 and successively served as a mechanical engineer, a chief
of the manufacturing section, a plant manager and the general
manager of the base. He was elected as an employee representative
Supervisor of the Company in December 2019 and as the president
of the labour union of the Company in April 2020. Mr. Rao has
been the general manager of the production and operation center
of the Company since August 2022, responsible for the production
and operation management of the Company. Mr. Rao Minghong
concurrently serves as manager and legal representative of several
subsidiaries of the Company.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

For the biographical details of Mr. Zhong Shanshan, Mr. Guo Zhen,
Mr. Zhou Li and Ms. Zhou Zhenhua, see the biographies in the
“Directors” above.

Ms. Han Linyou (§8#R{4, former name: Han Yang (§815)), age 42,
has been the Secretary to the Board of the Company since February
2020 and concurrently a joint company secretary since January
2020. She is responsible for corporate governance, information
disclosure and investor relations management of the Group. Ms. Han
Linyou joined the Group in November 2019 as the deputy general
manager of Nongfu Spring Drinking Water Hong Kong Company
Limited (FX LR ERA/KE BB 2AR]). Prior to joining the Group,
Ms. Han Linyou served as an assistant to the chief executive officer,
a legal director and a senior vice president of Tibet Water Resources
Ltd. (@ company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, stock
code: 01115) from April 2013 to November 2019, and an executive
director from May 2017 to November 2019. She has been chairman
of the risk management committee of the Board of the aforesaid
company since August 2017. Ms. Han Linyou worked at Jingtian &
Gongcheng from August 2002 to March 2013 and became a partner
of such firm in 2009, and concurrently served as the PRC legal
adviser of Chiu & Partners in Hong Kong from May 2008 to May
2009.
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Ms. Han Linyou obtained a bachelor’s degree in law from Peking
University in July 2002 and a PRC Legal Professional Qualification
Certificate in February 2008.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Han Linyou (#2#K{K) is one of our joint company secretaries. For
the biographical details of Ms. Han Linyou, see the biography in the
“Senior Management” above.

Ms. Mak Po Man Cherie (238 X) becomes a joint company secretary
of the Company on September 8, 2020. Ms. Mak Po Man Cherie is
the vice president of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong)
Limited. She has worked for various professional firms and listed
companies in Hong Kong, with over 18 years of experience in the
fields of auditing, accounting, corporate finance, compliance and
company secretarial. Ms. Mak has been the vice president of SWCS
Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited since October
2019 and was the assistant vice president from August 2018 to
September 2019. Ms. Mak also served as a company secretary of
Cosmos Machinery Enterprises Limited (a company listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange, stock code: 0118) from June 2014
to March 2018. Ms. Mak obtained a master degree of corporate
governance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2017.
She has been admitted as an associate member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators in the United Kingdom in 2017, a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in
2003, and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in 2006.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, as of December 31, 2022,

there was no other information required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2022.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The Group is a leader in the packaged drinking water and beverage
business in the PRC with devotion to providing consumers with high-
quality products. The Group’s major products include packaged
drinking water, tea beverage, functional beverage and juice
beverage. Since its establishment in 1996, the Group has adhered to
the principle that “every drop of Nongfu Spring has its source” ([ &
—EEKXILEEBEEHRE]). The Group sources all of packaged
drinking water products from natural water sources. We have
obtained access to twelve quality natural water sources in different
regions of China which cover the entire national market supply.
The twelve water sources are all located in excellent ecological
environments and have outstanding water quality. The Group treats
the quality natural water with the necessary process, including
filtration and sterilization. Our packaged drinking water products
contain the natural minerals that are beneficial to human body, such
as potassium, sodium, calcium, magnesium and metasilicate.

The Group has established dual growth engines, packaged drinking
water and beverage, which enhance our competitive advantage
and reduce the risks of fluctuating operating results. The Group
implements a multi-brand strategy, has long-term visions for our
brands and strong brand communication capabilities, and has built a
super brand in the PRC soft beverage market.

Please refer to the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate Governance
Report” in this annual report for a review and the analysis using
financial key indicators on the Group business, major risks and
uncertainties faced by the Group, and the future development of the
Group’s business.

RELATIONS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The success of the Group relies on the support of important relations
such as employees, suppliers and customers. The Company
maintains a good relationship with its employees, customers and
suppliers in order to ensure smooth business operation.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The analysis of the Group’s performance by business segment for
the year is set out in note 4 to the financial statements.

RESULTS

The operating results of the Group during the Reporting Period are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 107 of
this annual report.

ISSUED SHARES

Details of the changes in the share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 29 to the financial statements.

DIVIDENDS

Relevant resolution has been passed at a meeting of the Board
held on March 28, 2023, and recommended the distribution of a
final dividend (the “Final Dividend”) of RMBO0.68 (tax inclusive) per
share for the year ended December 31, 2022, with a total amount of
RMB7,647.6 million. If such profit distribution plan is considered and
approved by shareholders at the 2022 Annual General Meeting to
be held on Tuesday, May 16, 2023, the final dividend will be paid on
August 30, 2023 to the shareholders whose names are listed on the
register of shareholders of the Company on Saturday, May 20, 2023.

The Company will not be liable for any claim or dispute over the
withholding mechanism arising from any delay in, or inaccurate

determination of the status of the shareholders.

The Board is not aware of any shareholders who have waived or
agreed to waive any dividend.

4z 2022 Annual Report
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company currently does not have a pre-determined dividend
payout ratio. The Board may declare and pay, dividends after taking
into account results of operations, financial condition, cash flow,
operating and capital expenditure requirements, future business
development strategies and estimates of the Group and other factors
as it may deem relevant. The Company’s historical declarations of
dividends may not reflect our future declarations of dividends.

The allocations to the statutory common reserve are currently
determined to be 10% of the Company’s after-tax profit attributable
to equity holders of the Company for the fiscal year determined in
accordance with PRC accounting rules and regulations. When the
accumulated allocations to the statutory common reserve reach 50%
of the registered capital of the Company, it will no longer be required
to make allowances for allocation to the statutory common reserve.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS AND
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Group’s operations are carried out primarily in the PRC, while
the Shares of the Company are listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange. The businesses operated by the Group are subject to
the laws of relevant jurisdiction in the PRC and Hong Kong. During
the year ended December 31, 2022 and as of the Latest Practicable
Date, the Group has complied with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group in the applicable jurisdictions.
Specifically, as a manufacturer of packaged water and beverages,
the Group’s operations in China are subject to the applicable food
safety and environmental protection laws and regulations in the PRC.
During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any material
non-compliance with such laws and regulations.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

None of the Company and its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company for the year
ended December 31, 2022.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

From September 8, 2020 (the “Listing Date”) to December 31, 2022,
the Group has gradually used the proceeds from the initial public
offering for the intended purposes set out in the Prospectus.

The sum of IPO proceeds from the listing of the shares of the
Company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and the
net proceeds from the full exercise of the over-allotment option
(after deducting underwriting fees and other related expenses) is
approximately HK$9,377 million. As of December 31, 2022, the
Group has utilised approximately HK$4,896 million of the proceeds
for the intended purposes set out in the Prospectus, accounting for
52.2% of all raised funds, and the remaining unutilised proceeds is
approximately HK$4,481 million. The balance of the proceeds from
the Listing will continue to be unutilised according to the purposes
and proportions disclosed in the Prospectus. See the table below for
details:

BZ220226  HE2022F
IHER 12A31H 12A318  HXBA
AHERFE BREAFE HABRFE FEEHEY
(BMEE) (B¥EE) (B%EE) GRS
Actual net
Net amount Unutilised net  Expected
proceeds from  utilisedupto amountupto timeline for
the Listing December 31, December 31, utilising
available 2022 2022  unutilised
(HKS$ million)  (HK$ million)  (HK$ million)  net amount
MR Brand building 2,344 1,003 1,341 2024F12A31H
December 31, 2024
EEHERE Purchasing sales equipment 2,344 371 1,978 2024F12A31H
December 31, 2024
BELERBRTERE Purchasing production facilities and 1,875 1,434 441 2024%12A31H
building new factories December 31, 2024
e I Strengthening fundamental 838 212 726 2024F12A31H
capabilities December 31, 2024
BEEZ Repaying loans 938 938 - TNEA
N/A
wRTBESM Working capital and other general 938 938 - TEf
Hin—Re¥ERR corporate purposes N/A
fast Total 9,377 4,896 4,481 2024%F12A31H

December 31, 2024

BRIFRKHERAS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.
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PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the names, principal places of business, places of
incorporation and issued share capital of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the Reporting
Period are set out in the consolidated statement of changes inequity
on pages 111 to 112 of this annual report and note 31 to the
financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

In accordance with the PRC Company Law, the Company may only
distribute dividends out of its distributable profits of the year (i.e., the
Company’s profit after tax after offsetting: (i) the accumulated losses
brought forward from the previous years; and (i) the allocations to
the statutory surplus reserve and, if any, the discretionary common
reserve (in such order of priorities)).

According to the Articles of Association, for the purpose of
determining distributable profit, the distributable profit of the Company
shall be the lower of its profit after tax determined in accordance
with: (i) the PRC accounting standards and regulations; and (ii) the
international standards or the accounting standards of the place(s)
outside the PRC where the shares of the Company are listed.

As at December 31, 2022, the distributable reserves of the
Company, calculated based on the above principles, amounted to
approximately RMB9,378 million.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of changes in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Reporting Period are set out in note 14 to the financial
statements.

BORROWINGS

Details of borrowings of the Group are set out in note 27 to the
financial statements.

ISSUED DEBENTURE

During the Reporting Period, the Company did not issue corporate
bonds.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, the Group purchased less than 30% of
its goods and services from its top five suppliers and sold less than
30% of its goods to its top five customers.

To the best of the directors’ knowledge, none of the Directors or
their associates or any Shareholders who is expected to have 5% or
more of the issued share capital of the Company has any interest in
the top five suppliers and top five customers of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Company has maintained directors’ liability insurance to protect
the Directors of the Company against any potential losses arising
from his/her actual or alleged misconduct. During the Year and up
to the Latest Practicable Date, permitted indemnity provision (as
defined in section 9 of the Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation
(Chapter 622D of the Laws of Hong Kong)) was and is being in force
for the benefit of the Directors of the Company.

Non-fully Exempt Continuing Connected Transactions

As of December 31, 2022, Mr. Zhong Shanshan held approximately
83.9757% interest in our total share capital, including approximately
17.1543% direct interest and approximately 66.8215% indirect
interest through Yangshengtang (Mr. Zhong Shanshan holds
100% of the total registered capital of Yangshengtang, including
98.38% direct equity and 1.62% indirect equity held by Hangzhou
Youfu, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Zhong Shanshan). Mr. Zhong
Shanshan and Yangshengtang and their respective associates are
our connected persons.

The Group conducted non-fully exempt continuing connected
transactions in 2022. The transactions set out below are made in the
ordinary and usual course of business and on normal commercial
terms where, as our Directors expected, the highest applicable
percentage ratios for the purpose of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
would be more than 0.1% but less than 5% on an annual basis.
Accordingly, such transactions are subject to the announcement,
reporting, and annual review requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules but are exempted from the circular (including
independent financial advice) and independent shareholders’
approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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The following table sets forth the proposed annual caps for and the
actual transaction amounts of such transactions:

1 BEREENABEARERY

Purchase of goods from Yangshengtang and its associates

2 BEEE L HBE ARHITEm MR

IT products and services provided by Yangshengtang and its associates
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265.0 223.3
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Basic R&D and test services provided by Yangshengtang and/or
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Purchasing Framework Agreement

On August 12, 2020, the Company entered into the Purchasing
Framework Agreement with Yangshengtang, pursuant to which,
Yangshengtang and its associates have agreed to sell and the Group
has agreed to purchase bottle caps for the production of “Scream
(&L 0Y)” and other products of Yangshengtang Group (including
snack food and cosmetics products) which are sold through the
Group’s new retail channels represented by vending machines,
with a term commencing from the Listing Date to December 31,
2022. The Purchasing Framework Agreement will be renewable
subject to the negotiation between the parties to the agreement and
compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. For details of
this agreement and the transaction, please refer to the “Connected
Transactions” section of the Prospectus.

Mr. Zhong and Yangshengtang are substantial Shareholders of the
Company and the connected persons of the Company under the
Listing Rules. Therefore, the transactions under the Purchasing
Framework Agreement entered into by the Company and
Yangshengtang constitute the continuing connected transactions of
the Company.
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Subject to terms of the Purchasing Framework Agreement, the
Group entered into specific agreements or place purchase orders
with Yangshengtang and its associates to set out specific terms
and conditions in respect of the supply of goods. The consideration
payable by the Group under the Purchasing Framework Agreement
for purchasing goods is paid at the time and according to the
method to be agreed in specific agreements or purchase orders.

The price of transactions contemplated under the Purchasing
Framework Agreement is determined on an arm’s length basis.
The price for purchasing bottle caps of “Scream (4204)” from
Yangshengtang and/or its associates by the Group is determined
with reference to the fee quote of bottle caps of “Scream (4= Al)”
that the Group could obtain from the independent third party,
but in any event is not higher than the fee quote provided by
the independent third party; and the price for purchasing other
products of Yangshengtang and its associates, such as snack food
and cosmetics products, is determined with reference to prices
of such products provided to other independent third parties by
Yangshengtang and its associates, but in any event does not exceed
the prices provided to independent third parties by Yangshengtang
and its associates.

The proposed annual cap and the actual amount of the transactions
contemplated under the Purchasing Framework Agreement and
for the year ended December 31, 2022 are RMB265.0 million and
RMB223.3 million, respectively.

IT Product and Service Framework Agreement

On August 12, 2020, the Company entered into the IT Product and
Service Framework Agreement with Yangshengtang and its wholly-
owned subsidiary, Rainbow Fish Technology, pursuant to which,
Yangshengtang and Rainbow Fish Technology have agreed to
provide several types of IT products and services to the Company
with a term commencing from the Listing Date to December 31,
2022. The IT Product and Service Framework Agreement will be
renewable subject to the negotiation between the parties to the
agreement and compliance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules. For details of this agreement and the transaction (including
the types of services, the main terms of the agreement, the basis
for pricing and other main contents), please refer to the “Connected
Transactions” section of the Prospectus.

Mr. Zhong and Yangshengtang are substantial Shareholders of the
Company and the connected persons of the Company under the
Listing Rules. Therefore, the transactions under the IT Product and
Service Framework Agreement entered into by the Company and
Yangshengtang and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Rainbow Fish
Technology constitute the continuing connected transactions of the
Company.
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The proposed annual cap and the actual amount of the transactions
contemplated under the IT Product and Service Framework
Agreement and for the year ended December 31, 2022 are
RMB150.0 million and RMB121.8 million, respectively.

Basic R&D and Test Service Framework Agreement

On August 12, 2020, the Company entered into the Basic R&D and
Test Service Framework Agreement with Yangshengtang and its
wholly-owned subsidiary, YST Natural Medicine Research, pursuant
to which, Yangshengtang and/or YST Natural Medicine Research
have/has agreed to provide basic beverage R&D services and test
services of raw material and product to the Company, with a term
commencing from the Listing Date to December 31, 2022. The Basic
R&D and Test Service Framework Agreement shall be renewable
subject to the negotiation between the parties to the agreement and
compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. For details of
this agreement and the transaction, please refer to the “Connected
Transactions” section of the Prospectus.

Mr. Zhong and Yangshengtang are substantial Shareholders of the
Company and the connected persons of the Company under the
Listing Rules. Therefore, the transactions under the Basic R&D and
Test Service Framework Agreement entered into by the Company
and Yangshengtang and its wholly-owned subsidiary, YST Natural
Medicine Research constitute the continuing connected transactions
of the Company.

Subject to terms of the Basic R&D and Test Service Framework
Agreement, the Group enters into specific agreements or place
orders with Yangshengtang and/or its associates to set out specific
terms and conditions in respect of the basic R&D and test services.
The consideration payable by the Group under the Basic R&D and
Test Service Framework Agreement for accepting such services
is paid at the time and according to the method agreed in specific
agreements or orders. The proprietary rights of all work products
and intellectual property rights and other rights obtained pursuant
to the Basic R&D and Test Service Framework Agreement are
jointly owned by the Group and Yangshengtang and/or YST Natural
Medicine Research. The Group has the exclusive right of use on
such intellectual properties, while Yangshengtang and/or YST Natural
Medicine Research are/is only able to use them with the consent
of the Group. Use of such jointly-owned intellectual properties by
Yangshengtang and/or YST Natural Medicine Research is free of
charge.
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Fees of basic R&D services provided by Yangshengtang and/or
YST Natural Medicine Research under the Basic R&D and Test
Service Framework Agreement are determined with reference to
the actual cost incurred by Yangshengtang and/or YST Natural
Medicine Research with a cost markup of 25% of the actual costs,
and in any event are not higher than the prices of similar services
that can be procured from independent third-party suppliers by
the Group. Fees of test services provided by Yangshengtang and/
or YST Natural Medicine Research under the Basic R&D and Test
Service Framework Agreement are determined with reference to the
prevailing market prices, and in any event are not higher than the
prices of similar services that can be procured from independent
third-party suppliers by the Group.

The proposed annual cap and the actual amount of the transactions
contemplated under the Basic R&D and Test Service Framework
Agreement and for the year ended December 31, 2022 are
RMB100.0 million and RMB98.4 million, respectively.

Waiver Application for Non-fully Exempt Continuing
Connected Transactions

Mr. Zhong and Yangshengtang are substantial Shareholders of the
Company and the connected persons of the Company under the
Listing Rules. Therefore, the transactions abovementioned constitute
the continuing connected transactions of the Company.

As the above non-fully exempt continuing connected transactions
are expected to continue a recurring and continuing basis, our
Directors consider that compliance with the above announcement
requirements will be impractical, will incur unnecessary administrative
costs for us, and will be unduly burdensome to us.

Accordingly, we have applied to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
for, and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver to
us under Rule 14A.105 of the Listing Rules from compliance with
the announcement requirements in respect of the above non-fully
exempt continuing connected transactions.

The Company has confirmed that the execution and enforcement
of the implementation agreements under the continuing connected
transactions set above for the year ended December 31, 2022
has followed the pricing principles of such continuing connected
transactions.
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent
non-executive Directors had reviewed the above non-fully exempt
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that these
transactions had been entered into:

i. in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Company;

ii. either on normal commercial terms or on better terms; and

ii. in accordance with relevant agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged the
auditors of the Company to perform certain agreed-upon procedures
in respect of the continuing connected translations and the auditors
have reported the factual findings on these procedures to the Board.

The auditors of the Company had informed the Board and confirmed
that the abovementioned continuing connected transactions:

were approved by the Board;

i. were conducted in accordance with the pricing policy of the
Company;

ii.  were entered into pursuant to the terms of relevant transaction
agreements; and

iv.  did not exceed the annual cap disclosed by the Company in
the Prospectus.
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Renewal of Existing Continuing Connected Transactions

Both the Purchasing Framework Agreement and the Basic R&D and
Test Service Framework Agreement have expired on December 31,
2022. Upon the resolution of the Board of the Company, the Parties
concerned have renewed these agreements by entering into the New
Purchasing Framework Agreement and the New Basic R&D and Test
Service Framework Agreement on December 14, 2022. The New
Purchasing Framework Agreement and the New Basic R&D and
Test Service Framework Agreement are valid for three years from
January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2025. The Company has set the
annual caps of the above transactions contemplated under the New
Purchasing Framework Agreement and the New Basic R&D and Test
Service Framework Agreement for the three years ended December
31, 2025. With regard to the renewed continuing connected
transactions, the Company has issued an announcement on such
discloseable continuing connected transactions according to the
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. For details on
the renewed continuing connected transactions, please refer to the
Company’s announcements published on the website of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the website of the
Company (www.nongfuspring.com) dated December 14, 2022.

New Purchasing Framework Agreement

Pursuant to the New Purchasing Framework Agreement,
Yangshengtang Group agrees to sell and the Group agrees to
purchase: (i) some bottle caps for the production of some of the
Group’s products, such as “Scream” bottle caps; (ii) products of
Yangshengtang Group sold through the Group’s vending machine
business and other channels, including but not limited to food,
cosmetics products, etc.; and (i) products of Yangshengtang Group
used by the Group as raw materials for production, including but
not limited to raw fruit materials used for juice extraction, etc. The
Group will enter into specific agreements or place purchase orders
with Yangshengtang Group to set out specific terms and conditions
in respect of the supply of goods. The consideration payable by
the Group under the New Purchasing Framework Agreement for
purchasing goods will be paid at the time and according to the
method agreed in specific agreements or purchase orders.

The proposed annual cap of the transactions contemplated under
the New Purchasing Framework Agreement is RMB306 million for
the year ended December 31, 2023, RMB326 million for the year
ended December 31, 2024, and RMB346 million for the year ended
December 31, 2025, respectively.
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The prices of transactions contemplated under the New Purchasing
Framework Agreement are determined on an arm’s length basis.
The price for the Group to purchase some bottle caps for some of its
products from Yangshengtang Group is determined with reference
to the fee quote of bottle caps that the Group could obtain from the
independent third party, but in any event is not higher than the fee
quote provided by the independent third party; and the price for the
Group to purchase other products from Yangshengtang Group is
determined with reference to prices of such products provided to
other independent third parties by Yangshengtang Group, but in
any event does not exceed the prices provided to independent third
parties by Yangshengtang Group.

New Basic R&D and Test Service Framework Agreement
Pursuant to the New Basic R&D and Test Service Framework
Agreement, Yangshengtang Group agrees to provide the Company
with basic R&D and raw material and product test services related to
the products of the Group, and to authorize the Group to use other
R&D achievements of Yangshengtang Group (excluding the R&D
achievements of Yangshengtang Group as entrusted by the Group)
whenever the Group requires.

The Group will enter into specific agreements or place orders with
Yangshengtang Group to set out specific terms and conditions in
respect of the basic R&D, test services and authorization of R&D
achievements. The consideration payable by the Group under
the New Basic R&D and Test Service Framework Agreement for
accepting such services will be paid at the time and according to the
method agreed in specific agreements or orders.

The proposed annual cap of the transactions contemplated under
the New Basic R&D and Test Service Framework Agreement is
RMB100 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, RMB100
million for the year ended December 31, 2024, and RMB100 million
for the year ended December 31, 2025, respectively.
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Fees of basic R&D services provided by Yangshengtang Group
under the New Basic R&D and Test Service Framework Agreement
are determined with reference to the actual cost incurred by
Yangshengtang Group with a cost markup of 25% of the actual
costs, and in any event are not higher than the prices of similar
services that can be procured from independent third-party suppliers
by the Group. Fees of test services provided by Yangshengtang
Group under the New Basic R&D and Test Service Framework
Agreement are determined with reference to the prevailing market
prices, and in any event are not higher than the prices of similar
services that can be procured from independent third-party suppliers
by the Group. Fees for the Group’s use of other R&D achievements
of Yangshengtang Group (excluding the R&D achievements of
Yangshengtang Group as entrusted by the Group) authorized by
Yangshengtang Group under the New Basic R&D and Test Service
Framework Agreement are determined with reference to the current
market prices according to the specific intellectual property rights
involved, and in any event are not higher than the prices of similar
services that can be procured from independent third-party suppliers
by the Group.

Save as disclosed above, for the year ended December 31, 2022,
there is no other related party transaction or continuing related
party transaction set out in note 36 to the financial statements
which constitutes disclosable connected transaction or disclosable
continuing connected transaction under the Listing Rules. In respect
of the connected transactions and the continuing connected
transactions, the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements of the Listing Rules (as amended from time to time).

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

Pursuant to Rules 19A.54 and 19A.55 of the Hong Kong Listing
Rules, we have entered into a contract with each of our Directors
and Supervisors in respect of (among other things) (i) the compliance
of relevant laws and regulations; (ii) observance of the Articles of
Association; and (iii) provisions on arbitration.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or Supervisors has
entered into any director or supervisor service contract with any
member of the Group (other than contracts expiring within one year
or determinable by the relevant employer without the payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation).
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND

Biographies of the Directors, Supervisors and senior management

are set out from pages 60 to 68 of this annual report.

The list of Directors during the Reporting Period and as at the Latest

SNHIESEZEBENT ¢ Practicable Date (unless otherwise stated) is set out below:
FiEEHER A
KEEHARR A (B#=E)
Commencement Expiry Date of
e B Date of the Current the Current Term
Name Position Term of Office of Office (Note)
BYRBEE WTES 202063 A6H 2023557 16H
Mr. Zhong Shanshan executive Directors March 6, 2020 May 16, 2023
R E WITES 202043 A6H 2023F5H16H
Mr. Guo Zhen executive Directors March 6, 2020 May 16, 2023
BEhEE WITES 202043 /6H 2023F5A16H
Mr. Zhou Li executive Directors March 6, 2020 May 16, 2023
BEREL L WTES 202043 A6H 202345/ 16H
Ms. Zhou Zhenhua executive Directors March 6, 2020 May 16, 2023
BR&E WITEZR 202043 A6H 2023F5A16H
Mr. Liao Yuan executive Directors March 6, 2020 May 16, 2023
Zhong Shu Zi%t 4 FEHITES 2020%F386H 2023F5H16H
Mr. Zhong Shu Zi non-executive Director March 6, 2020 May 16, 2023
Stanley Yi Changst & BAURTES 202093 A6H 2023F5H16H
Mr. Stanley Yi Chang independent non-executive Directors March 6, 2020 May 16, 2023
BELE BIUFNTES 202053 A6H 2023%5A16H
Mr. Yang, Lei Bob independent non-executive Directors March 6, 2020 May 16, 2023
AR E BUFHITES 202043 A6H 2023F5A16H
Mr. Lu Yuan independent non-executive Directors March 6, 2020 May 16, 2023

WRE - EHE R BHIR 520233 50 ' EEHE
2023F5A16HFEREAREEM2H -
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Note: The expiry date of the term of office was originally March 5, 2023, but it has
been extended to May 16, 2023, the date on which the Annual General
Meeting is to be held.
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REMUNERATIONS OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS,
SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for formulating,
reviewing and advising the Board on the remuneration policies
and packages for directors and senior management members of
the Company (“remuneration” shall include but not limited to all
salaries, bonuses, allowances, benefits (in cash or in kind), pensions,
compensations (including compensation payable in respect of loss or
termination of office or appointment), options and gifting of shares).

Details of emoluments of directors and chief executive and the five
highest paid individuals of the Group in 2022 are set out in note 9
and note 10 to the financial statements from pages 165 to 168 of
this annual report. Details of the remuneration of the current senior
management of the Company by band for the year ended December
31, 2022 are set out as follows:

AE

Number of

N Range individuals
072 1,000,0007T HKS$0 to 1,000,000 0
751,000,001 72 1,500,0007T HK$1,000,001 to 1,500,000 0
7 #1,500,0017C22,000,0007T HK$1,500,001 to 2,000,000 0
752,000,001 7TA £ Above HK$2,000,001 5
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS IN
TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT

Save as the Directors’ or Supervisors’ service contracts, those
disclosed in the “Related Party Transactions” in note 36 to the
consolidated financial information in this report and the section
headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” of this report, there
was no transaction, arrangement and contract of significance to
which the Company or its holding company or its subsidiaries or its
fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director, Supervisor or
their connected entity has or had for the year ended December 31,
2022, in any way, whether directly or indirectly, a material interest.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

For the year ended December 31, 2022, none of the Directors,
the directors of the Company’s subsidiaries or their respective
associates had any interest in a business, which competes or is likely
to compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of the Company
and its subsidiaries (except as acting as Directors and/or directors
of their subsidiaries and their respective associates), which would
require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at December 31, 2022, the interests or short positions of the
Directors, Supervisors and Chief Executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFO”) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the
requirements of the Model Code are as follows:
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AR TR Interests in the Company

ERRE HEBTRA
R mREN AEREN
BHES BHES
(%) (%)
Approximate Approximate
Percentage of  Percentageof 8/ %8/
Shareholding  Shareholding ~ THtEHHRA
BENRAEE  inthe Relevant inthe Total  Long Position/

#e B3R ERtE Number of Classof lIssued Share  Short Position/

Name Class of Shares  Nature of Interest Shares Held Shares (%) Capital (%) Lending Pool

EMBEE NER SEEEREER 6,211,800,000 100.0000 552333 {78

Mr. Zhong Shanshan Domestic shares  Interest held by controlled (B3E1) Long position

corporations (note 1)
EMBEE HiR REFERAER 1,303,252,410 25.8856 115881  #f&
Mr. Zhong Shanshan H shares Interest held by controlled Long position
corporations

BYRBEE Hi& EGHAA 1,929,249,240 383193 171543 #1&

Mr. Zhong Shanshan H shares Bengficial owner Long position

PR Hi& ERHAA 1,700,030 0.0338 00151 ##&

Mr. Guo Zhen H shares Beneficial owner Long position

BNk Hi& ERHAA 7,879,000 0.1565 00701  ##&

Mr. Zhou Li H shares Beneficial owner Long position

ARELL R ERREA 7,879,000 0.1565 00701  ##

Ms. Zhou Zhenhua H shares Beneficial owner Long position

BRAE HiR ERHEAA 8,156,030 0.0627 00281 A&

Mr. Liao Yuan H shares Beneficial owner Long posttion

At HiR ERHAA 3,156,030 0.0627 00281 #&

Mr. Zhong Jigang H shares Beneficial owner Long position

HEHEE Rk ERREA 59,400 0.0012 00005 #&

Mr. Liu Xiyue H shares Beneficial owner (FizE2) Long position
(note 2)

BRALE Hi& ERHEAA 59,400 0.0012 00005 #f&

Mr. Rao Minghong H shares Beneficial owner iR Long position
(note 3)

86 / BXWRKHHRAS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD. 44} 2022 Annual Report



FTiE 5815 B Ty & E N & B B 22 BT 89 48 b
(www.hkex.com.hk) FT IR M5 B R & &
EEEMEHBEROEEME o EXX1b
BETRAGERBENOSENB DL T
11,246,466,400 8% 1% 17 (BN 7220224 12 H 31
AEZETHRMNEER ) BERTH -

ME -

) RARSAH ERRETCEEREELY
98.38% M m + i M AR (R EEmE ST A
2EHA ) BEREREEE1.62% % - At
B R SR AR B E AT B RN P
B -

@)  H2022F12A31BMAFERELL - FE
15 AL E AR A2 A59,4000% BIHAL A # A
ESER  RERMAREAARE TREY
Bt EER T EEABBRSENEEEELAA
AIHREE - B TRERE R S B T2RA
FEREIANEREAMES R -

(3)  R2022F12 A31BMAFEFRE BE - #05
AT SRR RIEIE £59,400 8 FIHARF A
EmiEm  ZERMNARBEARREE TRER
BETEER TR REENBENOEEELAR
AIHEEE - B TRERE EIFBI2HA
FEREIANERAMNEER] -

F Rz 2022 Annual Report

EE23 % REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The information was disclosed based on the data available on the
website of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.
hk) and the information provided by each of the Directors and
Supervisors for confirmation. The abovementioned “Approximate
Percentage of Shareholding in the Total Issued Share Capital” is
calculated based on the 11,246,466,400 shares, being the number
of issued shares of the Company as at December 31, 2022.

Notes:

(1) As at the date of this Report, Mr. Zhong Shanshan directly held 98.38%
equity interest in Yangshengtang and indirectly held 1.62% equity interest
in Yangshengtang through Hangzhou Youfu (wholly owned by Mr. Zhong
Shanshan). Therefore, Mr. Zhong Shanshan was deemed to be interested
in the shares held by Yangshengtang.

) As at December 31, 2022 and the date of this annual report, Mr. Liu Xiyue
owned a beneficial interest in 59,400 H Shares of the Company, which are
the number of H Shares of the Company corresponding to the incentive
shares granted under the Company’s Employee Share Incentive Scheme
but not yet attributed. For details of the Employee Share Incentive Scheme,
please refer to the “Human Resources and Emolument Policy” in this annual
report.

) As at December 31, 2022 and the date of this annual report, Mr. Rao
Minghong owned a beneficial interest in 59,400 H Shares of the Company,
which are the number of H Shares of the Company corresponding to the
incentive shares granted under the Company’s Employee Share Incentive
Scheme but not yet attributed. For details of the Employee Share Incentive
Scheme, please refer to the “Human Resources and Emolument Policy” in
this annual report.
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PEEEE N ER Interests in Associated Corporations
PEBEE
RHEBOEIN
(%)
frisi#%E  Approximate
BEMNRAHA  Percentage
(B)  of Interests
Number of  in Associated
B LS ERftE Shares Heldor ~ Corporations
Name Name of Associated Corporations Nature of Interest Interested (%)
EMBEE BAEZ (M) ERAEAA TER 98.38
Mr. Zhong Shanshan Yangshengtang (note 1) Beneficial owner N/A
R R AR TER 162
Interest held by controlled corporations N/A
BEFEEERNR(ME2) ERAEAA @R 247
Yangshengtang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (note 2) Beneficial owner N/A
REEERAER TER 97.53
Interest held by controlled corporations N/A
ERERENEERNERAR (HE3) EEAAA TER 17.65
Beijing Wantai Biclogical Pharmaceutical Enterprise Beneficial owner N/A
Co., Ltd. (note 3)
REiERAER TER 55.64
Interest held by controlled corporations N/A
EMEBNBRERERAR(HE4) R R TER 6350
Xiamen Youmaike Medical Instruments Co., Ltd. (note 4)  Interest held by controlled corporations N/A
ERFRARREE S ERDA (D) R R TER 60.00
Beijing Tairun Innovation Technology Incubator Interest held by controlled corporations N/A
Co., Ltd. (note 5)
RAR(GLR) EMREER AR (H6) REEERAER TER 94.93
JWT (Beijing) Biotechnology Company Limited (note 6)  Interest held by controlled corporations N/A
EFRBELDRRERAT (M) REEERAER TER 60.00
Xiamen Innobiomax Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (note 7) Interest held by controlled corporations N/A
BrERZA(BK) B R (BRAK) (H:T8) ERAEA TER 90.00
Guanzi Management Consulting (Lishui) Partnership Beneficial owner N/A
(Limited Partnership) (note 8)
REEER AR TER 10.00
Interest held by controlled corporations N/A
BATRERE (BK) 2B E(ERAH) (M) ERAEAA @R 24,81
Guanzi Equity Investment (Lishui) Partnership (Limited ~ Beneficial owner N/A
Partnership) (note 9)
REEERAER TER 74.94
Interest held by controlled corporations N/A
ERERFABK)ABER(ARAR) (WE10) ERHAA TER 24.81
Chengguang Management Consulting (Lishui) Partnership Beneficial owner N/A
(Limited Partnership) (note 10)
R R ER TEm 7494
Interest held by controlled corporations N/A
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Yangshengtang, our controlling shareholder, is a company incorporated
in the PRC with limited liability and did not issue any share. Mr. Zhong
Shanshan directly held 98.38% equity interest and, through Hangzhou
Youfu (wholly owned by Mr. Zhong Shanshan), indirectly held 1.62% equity
interest in Yangshengtang.

Yangshengtang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (B4 EZEEHR A F]), a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of Yangshengtang, is a company incorporated
in the PRC with limited liability and did not issue any share. Mr. Zhong
Shanshan directly held 2.47% equity interest and, through Yangshengtang,
indirectly held 97.53% equity interest in Yangshengtang Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd.

Beijing Wantai Biological Pharmaceutical Enterprise Co., Ltd. ({1t REZ4
W EE RN B R A 7)), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Yangshengtang,
is a joint stock company incorporated in the PRC with limited liabilities
with total share capital of 880,208,000 shares as at December 31, 2022.
Mr. Zhong Shanshan directly held 17.65% equity interest and, through
Yangshengtang, indirectly held 55.64% equity interest in Beijing Wantai
Biological Pharmaceutical Enterprise Co., Ltd.

Xiamen Youmaike Medical Instruments Co., Ltd. (EPF9E BRI E 2 E R
BFR/AF]), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Beijing Wantai Biological
Pharmaceutical Enterprise Co., Ltd., is a company incorporated in the PRC
with limited liabilities and did not issue any share. Mr. Zhong Shanshan
indirectly held interest in Xiamen Youmaike Medical Instruments Co., Ltd.
through Beijing Wantai Biological Pharmaceutical Enterprise Co., Ltd.,
which holds 63.50% interest in Xiamen Youmaike Medical Instruments Co.,
Ltd.

Beijing Tairun Innovation Technology Incubator Co., Ltd. (1t R ZE Al
BRI 8B PR A7), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Beijing Wantai
Biological Pharmaceutical Enterprise Co., Ltd., is a company incorporated
in the PRC with limited liabilities and did not issue any share. Mr. Zhong
Shanshan indirectly held interest in Beijing Tairun Innovation Technology
Incubator Co., Ltd. through Beijing Wantai Biological Pharmaceutical
Enterprise Co., Ltd., which holds 60.00% interest in Beijing Tairun
Innovation Technology Incubator Co., Ltd.

JWT (Beiiing) Biotechnology Company Limited ((#Z (JbR) £WRH
BFRAF]), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Beijing Wantai Biological
Pharmaceutical Enterprise Co., Ltd., is a company incorporated in the PRC
with limited liabilities and did not issue any share. Mr. Zhong Shanshan
indirectly holds interest in JWT (Beijing) Biotechnology Company Limited
through Beijing Wantai Biological Pharmaceutical Enterprise Co., Ltd.,
which holds 94.93% interest in JWT (Beijing) Biotechnology Company
Limited as at December 31, 2022.
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Xiamen Innobiomax Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (EFE#EE A YRR AR A
al), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Xiamen Innodx Biotechnology Co.,
Ltd. (EFIEFINImEDEMT AR A 7)) (a wholly owned subsidiary of Beijing
Wantai Biological Pharmaceutical Enterprise Co., Ltd.), is a company
incorporated in the PRC with limited liabilities and did not issue any share.
Mr. Zhong Shanshan indirectly holds interest in Xiamen Innobiomax
Biotechnology Co., Ltd. through Xiamen Innodx Biotechnology Co., Ltd.,
which holds 60.00% interest in Xiamen Innobiomax Biotechnology Co., Ltd.

Guanzi Management Consulting (Lishui) Partnership (Limited Partnership)
(BFERGH (BK) ABEE (BERAER)) is a limited partnership
incorporated in the PRC, where Guanzi Private Equity Fund Management
(Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. (B FILEELEE (/1) BR2AF) (@ wholly owned
subsidiary of Yangshengtang) acts as its executive partner. Mr. Zhong
Shanshan holds 90.00% and 10.00% interest in Guanzi Management
Consulting (Lishui) Partnership (Limited Partnership) directly and indirectly
through Guanzi Private Equity Fund Management (Hangzhou) Co., Ltd.
respectively.

Guanzi Equity Investment (Lishui) Partnership (Limited Partnership) (B8 /%
ERE (BBK) ABLE (BRA%E)) is a limited partnership incorporated
in the PRC. Mr. Zhong Shanshan directly held 24.81% equity interest
and, through Yangshengtang and Guanzi Management Consulting (Lishui)
Partnership (Limited Partnership) indirectly held 74.44% and 0.50%
equity interest in Guanzi Equity Investment (Lishui) Partnership (Limited
Partnership), respectively.

Chengguang Management Consulting (Lishui) Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (A &R HER (BK) @%b% (BRA%)) is a limited
partnership incorporated in the PRC. Mr. Zhong Shanshan directly
held 24.81% equity interest and, through Yangshengtang and Guanzi
Management Consulting (Lishui) Partnership (Limited Partnership) indirectly
held 74.44% and 0.50% equity interest in Chengguang Management
Consulting (Lishui) Partnership (Limited Partnership), respectively.

Saved as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2022, none of the
Directors, Supervisors and chief executive of the Company had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
pursuant to the requirements of the Model Code.
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RIGHTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE

No arrangements to which the Company, any of its subsidiaries, its
holding company or any subsidiary of its holding company is or was
a party enabling the Directors, Supervisors and the chief executive
of the Company to acquire benefits by means of acquisitions of
shares or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate
subsisted during the Reporting Period.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the retirement benefit scheme are set out in note 2.4 to the
financial statements.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at December 31, 2022, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
the interests or short positions of the following persons (other than
the Directors, Supervisors or the chief executive of the Company)
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO are as
follows:

EHEEN  EERORE
R4 RAER BEREN
BRI BHEM
(%) (%)
Approximate Approximate
Percentageof  Percentageof 8/ %B/
Shareholding Shareholding A& LR 4
BEMRGEE  inthe Relevant inthe Total ~ Long Position/
nE/ &% R &R ERtE Number of Classof Issued Share  Short Position/
Name Class of Shares  Nature of Interest Shares Held Shares (%) Capital (%) Lending Pool
BEE WER ERlEA 6,211,800,000 1000000 552333 1A
Yangshengtang Domestic shares  Beneficial owner Long position
BEE Hi& ERHEA 1,308,252,410 25,8856 115881 #12
Yangshengtang H shares Beneficial owner Long posttion

T B 8D RERE B AT 481k
(www.hkex.com.hk)BTiR 8912 Bt
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The information was disclosed based on the information available
on the website of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (http://www.
hkexnews.hk).
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Save as disclosed above, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
as at December 31, 2022, no person (other than the Directors,
Supervisors or the chief executive of the Company) had any interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of
the SFO.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” of this Report of the Directors, (i) no contract of
significance was entered into by, and/or subsisted between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries with the controlling shareholder
or any of its subsidiaries during the Year; and (i) there is no contract
of significance in relation to provision of services by the controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries to the Group.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the Reporting Period, the Company has not entered into any
equity-linked agreement (as defined in the Section 6 of Companies
(Directors’ Report) Regulation (Cap 622D of the laws of Hong Kong).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association and the laws of the PRC which oblige the Company to
offer pre-emptive rights of new shares to existing shareholders on
their shareholding proportion.

SUFFICIENT PUBLIC FLOAT

The Stock Exchange has granted the Company a waiver from strict
compliance with the requirements of Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Hong
Kong Listing Rules, provided that the minimum public float of the
Company shall be the highest of (1) approximately 13.66% of the
total issued share capital of the Company; (2) such percentage of H
shares to be held by the public immediately after the completion of
the Global Offering and the exercise of the Over-allotment Option.
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
as at the Latest Practicable Date and to the best knowledge of the
Directors, the Directors confirmed that the Company has maintained
the aforementioned minimum public float required by the Stock
Exchange since the Listing Date and up to the Latest Practicable
Date.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Board reviewed with the management
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters
including the review of the audited financial statements for the year
and has recommended their adoption by the Board.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

There was no contract concerning the management or administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
which was entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.

PENSION SCHEME

During the Reporting Period, details of the pension scheme of the
Group are set out in note 2.4 to the financial statements.

DONATION

During the Reporting Period, details of the donation of the Group are
set out in note 6 to the financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Group complies with relevant environmental protection laws
and regulations, including the Law on Environmental Protection
of the People’s Republic of China, the Environmental Impact
Assessment Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Water
Law of the People’s Republic of China, and the Regulations on the
Environmental Protection Management of Construction Projects (32
& IA B IR RE B IR 5() and other.

For the protection of the water source environment and the
harmonization with the natural habitat of the water source, the Group
has made best efforts to minimize the impact on the surrounding
environment. In addition, the Group conducts specific monitoring
and management of water resources, packaging materials and
energy usage, sewage and carbon emissions during the production
and operations, and strictly controls the environmental and
ecological impacts during the production and operations. Meanwhile,
the Group has established and been continuously improving the
internal environmental protection and sustainable development
management system. Through building a good health, safety and
environmental management system and order in the factory, the
overall management of the water resources, energy and three
wastes emissions in the factory will be achieved, and the overall
environmental performance will be improved.

For details of the Group’s environmental policies and performance,
please refer to the “2022 Sustainability (ESG) Report” of the Group.
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ENTRUSTED DEPOSIT AND MATURED TIME
DEPOSIT

As at December 31, 2022, the Group had not held any deposits
under trust or any time deposit in any financial institution in the PRC
which could not be withdrawn upon maturity.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware that any holders of securities of the
Company are entitled to any tax relief or exemption by reason of their
holding of such securities.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company had received annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors. Based on
their confirmation, the Company considers that all independent non-
executive Directors are independent under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

For the year ended December 31, 2022, Ernst & Young has served
as the overseas independent external auditor of the Company and
Pan-China Certified Public Accountants LLP served as the domestic
auditor in the PRC. The financial statements contained in this annual
report have been audited by Ernst & Young. The auditors of the
Company have not changed since the Listing Date.
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OTHER EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no major events that occurred after December 31, 2022
that would have a significant impact on the operation and financial
performance of the Group as at the Latest Practicable Date.

The other chapters, reports or notes of this report mentioned above
all form part of this Report of the Directors.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Nongfu Spring Co., Ltd.
Zhong Shanshan
Chairman

Hangzhou, the PRC
March 28, 2023
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During the Reporting Period, all members of the Supervisory
Committee of the Company (the “Supervisory Committee”) have
complied with the principle of integrity and earnestly performed their
supervisory duties in accordance with the relevant regulations set
out in the PRC Company Law, the Articles of Association and Rules
of Procedures for the Supervisory Committee of Nongfu Spring Co.,
Ltd. to protect the interests of the shareholders and the Company.

06 / mXWRKRHHRAS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

WORKS OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE
DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD

For the year 2022, the Supervisory Committee held two
meetings and the details are as follows:

The “Proposal on the 2021 Work Report of the Supervisory
Committee”, the “Proposal on the 2021 Consolidated Financial
Statements of the Group”, the “Proposal on Renewing the
Employment of the Company’s Domestic and Overseas
Auditors in 2022” and the “Proposal on the Declaration of
Final Dividends” were considered and approved at the seventh
meeting of the seventh session of the Supervisory Committee
held on March 28, 2022.

On August 24, 2022, the Company held the eighth meeting of
the seventh session of the Supervisory Committee, considering
and approving the draft unaudited interim financial statements,
interim results announcement and interim report of the
Company and its subsidiaries for the six months ended June
30, 2022, and agreeing not to recommend the declaration of
an interim dividend to the Board.

4z 2022 Annual Report



Z - EEgH2022FEARERE

HBERNER

WEME  EFEREAZHZER
ReaEwEe  REBTEBER
ERFTETORE  BERFERIE
EEgEBBlFRRAGRESS
SENBABEROKEREEAR
HARRREENF - BHAR - £
PSRN B M A B S AR
EETTEE - RATER

1. ARRMROEEFERR - MEH
B EFEREETHEQRDE
MRRERFE T HOENME
% HEERKEHISERER
REPRE - HRRAEMEFS
MEBIRREREZE  2RERE
BROAEE - REEF EFK
SREEANEERPETHES
% R AHIEE ERAAE
BEREERRMENTR

2. WMEARRRFBBER - HEH
M EEeHARRNTEHIE
MEABARRETT T EBRE - R
BRARMBHERS @ PKE
TERE - KRR - BAR
A)2022F EF T 3R & M L%
HAREES - B TEAR
BT ARRRMBI R - GEEAK
REMEEREBR -

F Rz 2022 Annual Report

EEE =% REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

COMMENTS OF THE SUPERVISORY
COMMITTEE ON CERTAIN MATTERS OF THE
COMPANY IN 2022

During the Reporting Period, the members of the
Supervisory Committee adhered to the principles of fidelity
and accountability to all shareholders and duly performed
their duties and works according to the relevant laws and
regulations. The Supervisory Committee worked actively,
supervised the regulatory compliance and operation, financial
condition, use of proceeds from the listing and internal control,
etc. of the Company through attending shareholders’ general
meetings and board meetings and audit and inspection
center as nonvoting delegates and onsite inspections. The
Supervisory Committee has arrived at the following opinions:

1. Regulatory compliance of the operation of the Company.
During the Reporting Period, the Board earnestly
exercised the rights and performed the obligations
conferred by the PRC Company Law and the Articles
of Association to make decisions in time on material
matters including production and operation plans, and
implemented all resolutions adopted by the shareholders’
general meetings and board meetings. Senior
management managed and operated the Company in
compliance with laws and regulations. The Directors and
senior management have fulfilled obligation of integrity
without violating any laws or Articles of Association or
committing any action which may be against the interests
of shareholders.

2. Evaluation of financial condition of the Company. During
the Reporting Period, the Supervisory Committee has
supervised and reviewed the financial structure and
position of the Company. The Supervisory Committee is
of the opinion that the financial structure of the Company
was healthy and standardized and the Company was in
a good financial position. The 2022 Audit Report of the
Company gives a true, accurate and complete picture
of the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the Company.
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3. The use of proceeds from the listing raised by the
Company. The Supervisory Committee is of the opinion
that the use of proceeds from the listing complied with
the provisions of relevant laws and regulations and the
Articles of Association without violating the interests of
the Company and its shareholders. The Supervisory
Committee will continue to supervise and monitor the use
of proceeds.

4.  Acquisition and disposal of assets of the Company.
There was no material acquisition and disposal of the
assets of the Company during the Reporting Period. No
insider dealing or any action that may injure shareholders’
interests or cause any loss of assets of the Company has
been found.

5. Connected transactions of the Company. During the
Reporting Period, the connected transactions between
the Company and all connected persons conformed
to applicable regulations under the Listing Rules.
The connected transactions were based on fair and
reasonable prices and were carried out in accordance
with the principles of reasonableness, fairness and
justice. No harm to the interests of the Company and
unrelated shareholders has been found.

6. Preparation and review of annual report of the Company.
The preparation and review procedures of the 2022
annual report of the Company conformed to all the
relevant regulations of the China Securities Regulatory
Commission and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
No breach of confidentiality provisions by any person
involved in the preparation or review of annual report has
been found.

In the coming year, the Supervisory Committee will continue to play
the role of supervising and monitoring with an aim to protect the
interests of all shareholders and the Company.

EFeFE Chairman of the Supervisory Committee

40 8 Zhong Jigang

202393 H28H March 28, 2023
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To the shareholders of Nongfu Spring Co., Ltd.
(Incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Nongfu
Spring Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 107 to 212, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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BAgETSEHE)
KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

BARETEER

Key audit matter

EMNESNAEERRETSHR

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Revenue recognition and volume rebates

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
recognised revenue from sale of goods amounting to
RMB33,239 million.

Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring the control of a
promised good to a customer in an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for that good.

The Group also offers volume rebates, including
discounts, rebates and promotional incentives, to its
customers in the normal course of business. These
costs are accounted for as a deduction from revenue.

A large proportion of the volume rebates had not
been paid or utilised as at 31 December 2022 and the
relevant accruals were included in other payables and
accruals.
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Our audit procedures to assess revenue recognition
and volume rebates included:

° Evaluating the design and implementation of
internal controls and testing their operating
effectiveness over revenue recognition and
volume rebates;

° Reviewing customer contracts, on a sample
basis, to identify terms and conditions relating
to the transfer of control over the products sold
and assessing the Group’s timing of revenue
recognition with reference to the requirements of
prevailing accounting standards;

o Comparing revenue transactions recorded during
the current year, on a sample basis, with invoices,
sales contracts and goods delivery notes;

° Comparing, on a sample basis, revenue
transactions recorded before and after the
financial year end date with goods delivery notes
and other relevant documentation;
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BAgETSEHE)
KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

BRETEHEGE

Key audit matter (continued)

BRAMETNARERERENSEE)
How our audit addressed the key audit matter
(continued)
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Revenue recognition and volume rebates (continued)
We identified revenue recognition and volume rebates
as a key audit matter because 1) there was a huge
volume of revenue transactions generated from sales
of different kinds of products to a large number of
customers, including direct customers and distributors
in many different locations; and 2) the amounts of
volume rebates were significant to the Group’s gross
profit and it involved significant estimates in determining
certain volume rebates granted to major customers.

The related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3, 5,
25 and 26 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Our audit procedures to assess revenue recognition
and volumes rebates included: (continued)

° Reviewing underlying documentation on a sample
basis, for manual journal entries relating to
revenue raised during the year;

° Reviewing the Group’s assessment of expected
volume rebates, sales discount, and rebate
payables, checking the Group’s historical data for
volume rebates and comparing the actual volume
rebates recorded by the Group with the current
year’s sales amounts of the current year;

° Selecting samples of volume rebates for the
year and comparing each selected item with the
relevant sales contract and customer agreement,
and recalculating the sales discount and rebate
payable by the Group; and

o Comparing subsequent actual settlement of
volume rebates with the corresponding amounts
accrued as at the year end.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concemn.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Yin Guowei.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

28 March 2023
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mEEER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

BZE2022F12831HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2022

20214
2021
Bi5E ARETFIT
Notes RMB’000
Wz REVENUE 5 33,239,187 29,696,406
SHER AR Cost of sales (14,143,776) (12,040,188)
FEAF Gross profit 19,095,411 17,656,218
E AU A R ZE Other income and gains 6 1,709,159 873,562
HE R HAX Selling and distribution expenses (7,820,691) (7,233,070)
TR Administrative expenses (1,835,125) (1,750,929)
HFs Other expenses 6 (22,394) (138,536)
B 75 E A Finance costs 8 (76,028) (52,945)
BRBEADER PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7 11,050,332 9,354,300
TS5 2 Income tax expense 11 (2,555,082) (2,192,506)
FERRF PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 8,495,250 7,161,794
ISUNSIE ¥ PN Attributable to owners of the parent 8,495,250 7,161,794
BRREBEER EARNINGS PER SHARE
BEEAEMWN ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
SRER EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
HEARNEE Basic and diluted
FRm For profit for the year RMBO0.76 RMBO0.64
13 AR¥0.76 AR#0.64
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BZE2022F12831HLEFEE
Year ended 31 December 2022

mEZHEBER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

20214
2021
AREFIT
RMB’000
F R A Profit for the year 8,495,250 7,161,794
Hit2E K& OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
AR BESRHETN D18 Other comprehensive income/(loss)
EEzMEMEE that may be reclassified to
Wz, (E18) - profit or loss in subsequent periods:
MEH =R Exchange differences:
BEBINEFEER Exchange differences on translation of
fEH =58 foreign operations 1,835 (543)
AR BESRHEN D8 Net other comprehensive income/(loss)
EEENEMERE that may be reclassified to
Wzs /(518 ) 558 profit or loss in subsequent periods 1,835 (543)
FREMEEKZ(EE) Other comprehensive income/(loss)
(BrFi8) for the year, net of tax 1,835 (543)
FREEW AT Total comprehensive income for the year 8,497,085 7,161,251
AR A AEWN Attributable to owners of the parent 8,497,085 7,161,251
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meRBERRE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2022%12H31H
31 December 2022

20214
2021
Bi5E AREFIT
Notes RMB’000
FEREBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
WME - BENEE Property, plant and equipment 14 15,397,585 12,800,140
HREEE Right-of-use assets 15 853,488 724,242
EEE Intangible assets 16 58,077 65,104
EIETIIBEE Deferred tax assets 17 433,105 293,090
REJIRTTE BAfF 3K Long-term bank deposits 23 4,101,670 1,121,461
HiIEREEE Other non-current assets 18 49,435 56,405
IEMENE EBRE Total non-current assets 20,893,360 15,060,442
RENEE CURRENT ASSETS
FE Inventories 19 2,108,372 1,809,230
E S EW G IE L EWEYE  Trade and bills receivables 20 478,587 476,276
BN FRIE - EfbEYWFRIE Prepayments, other receivables and
REMEE other assets 21 560,307 558,169
BN THER AR Financial assets at fair value through
SRVEE profit or loss 22 - 204,754
HHTFR Pledged deposits 23 3,059 3,648
R & RIRTTEERR Cash and bank balances 23 15,211,156 14,783,577
MBNVEERTE Total current assets 18,361,481 17,835,654
REBEE CURRENT LIABILITIES
B ENZENENEZIE  Trade and bills payables 24 1,425,069 1,153,133
HipEA R IE N EETE R Other payables and accruals 25 6,505,820 4,487,638
BHBEE Contract liabilities 26 2,677,190 2,350,952
FTEEE Interest-bearing borrowings 27 2,425,093 2,500,108
HEAE Lease liabilities 15 68,678 46,721
FEfTRLIE Tax payables 1,499,579 1,050,359
B BEATE Total current liabilities 14,601,429 11,588,911
REEETFHE NET CURRENT ASSETS 3,760,052 6,246,743
REERRBEE TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES 24,653,412 21,307,185
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2022%12H831H
31 December 2022

REMEARN KR () CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

20214
2021
P AREFTT
Notes RMB’000
FREBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
PRIEW ZS Deferred income 28 291,420 264,550
EEMIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 17 246,737 257,697
HEBRE Lease liabilities 15 31,179 43,304
JEmEaGEES Total non-current liabilities 569,336 565,551
BEEFE NET ASSETS 24,084,076 20,741,634
R EQUITY
BAREEAEE#E  Equity attributable to owners
of the parent
(&N Share capital 29 1,124,647 1,124,647
B Reserves 31 22,959,429 19,616,987
i Eattr Total equity 24,084,076 20,741,634
Zhong Shanshan Zhou Zhenhua
Director Director
EF EE
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mEERBER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BZE2022612A31ALEE
Year ended 31 December 2022

BATRE AR
Attributable to owners of the parent
FEA Eil
Bx  EARE  FRRG ROXGRE  tRRE  RERE  RERW
Share-
Shares based Exchange

Share Capital held by payment  Statutory fluctuation  Retained
capital reserve* trustee* reserve* reserve* reserve*  eamings* Total
AEETn  ARBTR ARETn ARETR ARETR ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

HifzE (Wit20)  (Hs1) (Was1) (W) (&s1)
Notes (note 29) (note 31) (note 31)  (note 31) (note 31)
2020%1 18 At 1 January 2022 1124647 8434304 - - 562,323 32 10620039 20,741,634
EREH Profi for the year - - - - - - 8495250 8495250
ERHB2ERE:  Other comprehensive income
for the year:
WEENERELE  Exchange difierences on
EfzE translation of foreign
Operations - - - - - 1,835 - 1,83

ERPEbEES Total comprehensive income

for the year - - - - - 1835 8495250 8,497,085
PERIERIRS  Fnd 2001 diidend ceclred 12 - - W - - - (OGO  (509118)
BERH Repurchese of shares Rl - - (25401) - - - - ([225400)
ERATA Recogniton of share-based R)]

payment - - - 101,793 - - - 101,793
BIEBTRIESEHE  Award shares vested

BRHAERN under employee

share incentive scheme - (4,693) 89,241 (56,465) - - - 26,083

R2022 124317 At 31 December 2022 1124647 8429611 (134,368) 45,328 562,328 2,156 14054379 24,084,076
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IREERBER (&) CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (continued)

B ZE2022F12A31ALLFEE
Year ended 31 December 2022

SN

Attributable to owners of the parent

R& MR AERE EXNBRE  REEA 3t

Exchange
Share Capital Statutory fluctuation Retained
capital reserve’ reserve’ reserve’ eamings” Total

ARETL  ARMTL  ARETT  ARBTR  ARETR  ARMTR
RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO
ik (Wie)  (Was)  (Wast)  (Gdt)

Notes (note 29) (note 31) (note 31) (note 31)
R0 E1 A1H At 1 January 2021 1,124,647 8,434,304 562,323 864 5,370,144 15,492,282
ERA Proftfor the year - - - N AT IR TR AT R
EREMZELE Other comprehensive income
for the year.
BEBNERELNELESE  Bohange diferences on
translation of foreign operations - - - (543 - (543
FrzEbaeE Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - (543 7,161,794 7,161,251
BER0NERBHES Final 2020 dividend declared 12 - - - - (1911,899) (1911,899)
R2001E12A318 At 31 December 2021 1,124,647 8,434,304 562,323 321 10,620,039 20,741,634
* ZERBREBERAMBMRAENEG * These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
& i A R#22,959,429,0007T (2021 RMB22,959,429,000 (2021: RMB19,616,987,000) in the consolidated
F : AR¥19,616,987,0007T) ° statement of financial position.
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GEREMNER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BZE2022F12831HLEFEE
Year ended 31 December 2022

20214
2021
53 ARETT
Notes RMB’000
ReTDMERSRE CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
BRI A& Profit before tax 11,050,332 9,354,300
FLTFIS BRI Adjustments for:
ME - BERRETE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7 2,358,940 2,287,083
FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 7 119,238 83,123
B EEEH Amortisation of intangible assets 7 8,747 7,980
BATERABRN Fair value gains on financial assets at fair value
SREELTFERE through profit or loss 6 (2,289) (4,754)
HEME - BER Loss on disposal of items of property, plant and
RBEEREE equipment 6 14,456 9,803
HEMETAERE (Wz)  Loss/(gain) on disposal of derivative instruments 6 634 (7,331)
FISWA Interest income 6 (623,360) (330,656)
LIMNFUECRERE),,  (Write-back of impairment)/impairment of trade
B receivables 7 (3,434) 11,401
TERE Impairment of inventories 19 16,372 -
B - HfbfEWEIER  Write-back of impairment of financial assets
HiEEFH included in prepayments, other receivables and
SREERERE other assets 7 (715) (2,654)
RIBRERHET K = Deferred income recognised in profit or loss 28 (25,799) (23,785)
BB Finance costs 8 76,028 52,945
AREEENRMOSZ MY Equity-settled share-based payment expenses 7 101,793 -
HNE (M) /518 Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (386,615) 115,632
12,704,328 11,553,087
FEEM Increase in inventories (315,514) (3,776)
B 5 REWGIE K Decrease/(increase) in trade and bills receivables
FERZER D,/ (38n) 1,123 (130,113)
FBNZIE - HibfEWEUIER  (ncrease)/decrease in prepayments, other
HEEGEM) ,md receivables and other assets (153) 381,622
B HENZIE M ENZIEEN  Increase in trade and bills payables 271,936 271,333
EHERZIE N ETEBIEM  Increase in other payables and accruals 1,124,862 1,063,385
BHBEEM Increase in contract liabilities 326,238 108,629
ERFF0RD,/ (38m) Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits 589 (3,648)
REMBRS Cash generated from operations 14,113,409 13,235,519
BREER Income tax paid (2,308,380) (2,034,681)
BURELFIE Interest received 312,530 252,269
ANELYSS Interest paid (76,049) (52,837)
RETHMBRENRETZE  Net cash flows from operating activities 12,041,510 11,400,270
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FEHREMER (M) CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

BZE2022F12A31ALEE
Year ended 31 December 2022

20214
2021
53 ARETT
Notes RMB'000
REZBHFERERE CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
BEWE  WMENREBEB Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment (4,193,347) (2,462,418)
HERANTEAEBREN Proceeds from sale of financial assets at fair value
SREEMBIIE through profit or loss 207,043 -
HEVE  BER Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant
SEIBE TG TAE and equipment 79,947 11,890
BEREVEE Purchases of intangible assets (1,720) (15,199)
BEFREEE - T FERE  Purchases of right-of-use assets - land use rights (156,975) (10,545)
WEE - BE R Receipt of government grants for property, plant
FIBHETEE and equipment 52,669 21,063
RUEERS [REZIRE B Increase in bank deposits with original maturity of
@A EREITERILI  more than three months when acquired (14,683,027 (13,105,840)
REAERRERMEASA  Withdrawal of bank deposits with original maturity
=@AAL BRI ER of more than three months when acquired 9,269,084 10,445,298
EERAFEFABEN Purchases of financial assets at fair value through
SREAE profit or loss - (200,000)
RETHFAREREFE  Net cash flows used in investing activities (9,426,326) (5,315,751)
RETBMERERE CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
BT E Dividends paid (5,059,118) (1,911,899)
BEAEEE Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings (6,563,000) (2,943,957)
S BEEMERE Proceeds from interest-bearing borrowings 6,488,006 3,030,000
HENRHNAL S Principal portion of lease payments (81,677) (67,603)
BRIARF RN Repurchases of the Company’s shares (225,401) -
RiEE TIERE 25T Proceeds from award of shares under the employee
BB FIE share incentive scheme 71,408 -
BETZHMAREREEE  Net cash flows used in financing activities (5,369,782) (1,893,459)
HERBEZEYW(HD),/  NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND
BmEE CASH EQUIVALENTS (2,754,598) 4,191,060
FRE MIREEEY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 10,187,896 6,055,981
HNPEFE R BIH) 2 Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 387,816 (59,145)
ERAERAELEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF
YEAR 7,821,114 10,187,896
ReRASZEYWEHII  ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS
RITER S Cash at bank 23 7,821,114 5,718,886
EHRTER Short-term bank deposits 23 7,390,042 9,064,691
REARITEE R Long-term bank deposits 23 4,101,670 1,121,461
RIS R T AR Long-term bank deposits and cash and bank
RESBITERERUN balances as stated in the statement of financial
B MIRITHER position 23 19,312,826 15,905,038
W NUEERR TR EEA  Less: Bank deposits with original maturity of more
={E A ERBRITER than three months when acquired (11,491,712) (5,717,142)
RIELRERTIENIES R Cashand cash equivalents as stated in the
BHEEEY statement of cash flows 7,821,114 10,187,896

BRIFRKHERAS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

4z 2022 Annual Report



MR MY EE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20224 12H31H
31 December 2022

1. QEIREEER 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
BRILEBRMDABRAE 200166 A Nongfu Spring Co., Ltd. was incorporated and registered in the
27TREFREARLME([HE]) M People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) on 27 June 2001. On 8
BN B ERD o A2020%F9A88H - AR September 2020, the Company was listed on the Main Board
AIRBRBBEXZMBRAR(HE of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “HKSE”)
B P ] ) R BT (R RSE 9633, (stock code: 9633. HK). The address of the registered office is
HK) o SEHg% = R Hh1k A T4 No. 181, Geyazhuang Road, Xihu District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang
MR EEIE1815% © Province.

NEFRE TN FEFBER - The Group was involved in the following principal activities:
—  HERHEEBESKAKESRE - Production and sale of packaged water and beverage
- HEREM - Sale of agricultural products
BIEEAA  KNATHERA R NME In the opinion of management, the holding company and the
BIERARIAEEEBRAR %A ultimate holding company of the Company is Yangshengtang
AR B FEMACAL - Co., Ltd., which is incorporated and registered in the PRC.
MtE A RIE R Information about subsidiaries
ARBMEBWBARIFFBEHINOT Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:
HMAL ER BRTLE/ AN E R
8 &R AH AR EREDL TEER
Place and date
of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered  equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
BHE GE
Direct Indirect
Shanghai Nongfu Spring Drinking ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 100% N/A  Sale of packaged water
Water Company Limited 4 September 1997 and beverage
HERRLSHAKERAA FREL/ BN, AEH1,000,0007T 100%  TNER HESESKAKREH
19979 H4A
Nongfu Spring Hangzhou PRC/Mainland China RMB171,000,000 100% N/A  Production of packaged
Thousand-Island Lake Drinking 3 August 1999 water and beverage
Water Company Limited
BRIRHN T B K BB, AR#171,000,0007C 100%  TEA HEBRKAKRSKH
ARAF 199968 A3AH
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2022%12H831H
31 December 2022

B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1. AERREEER(E) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
MEBATINER (&) Information about subsidiaries (continued)
RKARHEEN B A AIFIBHEY 0 Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
T (&) follows: (continued)
ML R ERITEE/ VNG)
£ REEmERAH AR BRI TEXB
Place and date
of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered  equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
H# LifE
Direct Indirect
Nongfu Spring Jilin Changbai PRC/Mainland China RMB138,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Mountain Company Limited 26 June 2001 water and beverage
BRILRERRAILBRAR hE/ R ER, AK#138,000,0007C 100%  NER AEDERBKRSH
20016 726H
Nongfu Spring Zhejiang Thousand-  PRC/Mainland China RMB111,800,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Island Lake Company Limited 23 July 2003 water and beverage
BRI TEHERAR HE/ R, ARH111,800,0007C 100%  NEA SEBERAKRGH
200347 H23H
Nongfu Spring Guangdong Wanlv  PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Lake Company Limited 7 April 2004 water and beverage
BRILRBEREZHBRAT hE R ER, AR #50,000,0007C 100%  NER AEDERBKRSH
200454 A7H
Xinjiang Nongfu Base Manas Food ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB25,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Company Limited 9 February 2006 water and beverage
HERXEMISANRRAERLR B/ RERM AE#25,000,0007T 100%  NER EESEKAKRESH
2006F2H9H
Nongfu Spring (Jiande) Xin’an River  PRC/Mainland China RMB190,000,000 100% N/A  Production of packaged
Beverage Company Limited 9 November 2006 water and beverage
BRIR GBI 8Rk hE /BRI, AE#190,000,0007T 100%  NER EESEKAKREE
BRAR 200611 A9H
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2022%12831H
31 December 2022

1. AERREEER(E) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
MEBATINER (&) Information about subsidiaries (continued)
RKARHEEN B A AIFIBHEY 0 Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
T (&) follows: (continued)
ML R ERTERE/ PN}
£ REgmERAH R ARAS BHEESL TEER
Place and date
of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered  equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
H# LifE
Direct  Indirect
Nongfu Spring (Chun’an Pingshan)  PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 95% 5%  Sale of packaged water
Company Limited 26 December and beverage
2006
BRILR (LI BRAF hE/ R ER, AR #30,000,0007C 95% 5% HEBRKAKREE
200612 A26H
Nongfu Spring (Chun’an Tea PRC/Mainland China RMB65,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Garden) Company Limited 26 December water and beverage
2006
BRUROELHRE)AERRA hE/ BN AR #65,000,0007T 100%  NER EESESKAKREE
2006F 12 426 H
Nongfu Spring Sichuan Emei PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Mountain Beverage Company 27 November water and beverage
Limited 2008
BRILRM)IEELFHAERDR  HE/ RERM, AE#20,000,0007T 100%  TNER EEOEKAKRSE
2008F11 /278
Nongfu Spring Hubei DanJiangkou  PRC/Mainland China RMB116,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
(Xincheng) Beverage Company 29 June 2009 water and beverage
Limited
BRI AGR) HE/ R, AR#116,000,0007T 100%  NER EESEKAKREH
SR BRAT] 200956 A29H
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2022%12H831H
31 December 2022

1. AERREEER(E) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
MEBATINER (&) Information about subsidiaries (continued)
RKARHEEN B A AIFIBHEY 0 Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
™ (#) follows: (continued)
EMRL &R BRITEE/ FAERELS
8 RSE BT AH EfRA BHEEST TEER
Place and date
of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered  equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
HE LifE

Direct  Indirect

Nongfu Spring Fusong Changbai PRC/Mainland China RMB251,000,000 100% N/A~ Production of packaged
Mountain Natural Mineral Water 4 February 2010 water and beverage
Company Limited

BRILFRRALRA g/ E R AR H251,000,0007C 100%  NEA EEEERAKREH
BRKER AT 2010%2R4H

Nongfu Spring Shaanxi Taibai PRC/Mainland China RMB60,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Mountain Beverage Company 2 September 2011 water and beverage
Limited

BRIRBRAA B L hE,/ R E A AR#60,000,0007C 100%  NER ALESRKAKLESH
ARRA 201149A2H

Nongfu Spring (Guizhou) Wuling PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 100% N/A  Production of packaged
Mountain Beverage Company 23 October 2012 water and beverage
Limited

BRILR(EM) R LSRR g/ E R AR #50,000,0007C 100%  TEA EEEERAKREH
BRRA 2012610A 238

Nongfu Spring Manas County PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 100% N/A  Sale of packaged water
Beverage Company Limited 21 October 2014 and beverage

BRILRIBATGHMERAE B/ RERM A #1,000,0007T 100%  TER HEBRKAKRHKH

20144 10H21H
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2022%12831H
31 December 2022

1. AERREEER(E) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
MEBATINER (&) Information about subsidiaries (continued)
RKARHEEN B A AIFIBHEY 0 Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
T (&) follows: (continued)
FMRYL &R ERTLE/ v NGl
=L RSB R AH SRR EHADL TEER
Place and date
of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered  equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
BHE L
Direct  Indirect
Nongfu Spring (Jiande) Xin’an River  PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 100% N/A  Production of packaged
Drinking Water Company Limited 10 December water and beverage
2014
BRILR(BE)HOIRAK FREL/ BN, AK#30,000,0007T 100% TER  EEARKEKRRE
YN 2014F12 5108
Nongfu Spring Sichuan Beverage ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Products Company Limited 31 December water and beverage
2014
BXILRM) IR RBRAR e/ BN AR #10,000,0007C 100%  NEA EEEERAKRGEH
2014F12A31H
Yili Nongfu Spring Fruit Industry PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 N/A 100%  Sale of agricultural
Company Limited 8 June 2015 products
FERRIIRREBRAF hE /R ER, AR#10,00000000 @A 100% $HEREM
20156 H8H
Xinfeng Nongfu Spring Fruit Industry PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 N/A 100%  Sale of agricultural
Company Limited 27 July 2015 products
FEERLRRERARRA hE/ R, AK®10,000,000T  NEMA 100% $HEREM
201557 H27H
Nongfu Spring Wulin Mountain PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Chengde Drinking Water 29 March 2016 water
Company Limited
BXIIRBELREHRAK hE BRI, A& #10,000,0007C 100%  TER AEBEHRAEK
BRAR 201643 A29H
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2022%12H831H
31 December 2022

1. REIREEER(E) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
MEBATINER (&) Information about subsidiaries (continued)
RKARHEEN B A AIFIBHEY 0 Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
™ (#) follows: (continued)
HEMR BR BRTEE/ KATEL
% RSB R AH ERUTEN EmE ot TEEHR
Place and date
of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered  equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
HiE %

Direct  Indirect

Nongfu Spring Guangdong Wanlv -~ PRC/Mainland China RMB15,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Lake Beverage Company Limited 8 December 2016 water and beverage
BRI EREZARE FREL/ BN, AR #15,000,0007T 100% TEf  EEARKEKRRE
YN 2016512 A8H

Nongfu Spring Hubei DanJiangkou  PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
(Junzhou) Beverage Company 11 July 2017 water and beverage
Limited

BRISHIATAEEMN) HE/ R ER, AR#50,000,0007T 100%  NER EESEKAKRAH
FEBRAF 201757 A11H

Xinfeng Nongfu Spring Beverage PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 N/A 100%  Production of packaged
Company Limited 2 August 2017 beverage

FEERRURHHAR AT R/ BN, AR #30,000,0007T i 100% “HEBEHRH

201748A2H

Nongfu Spring (Fujian Wuyi PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Mountain) Drinking Water 29 August 2017 water
Company Limited

BRI (R RIL)RAK hE/ R ER, AR#50,000,0007T 100%  NER AEEBRKAK
LN 201748 A29H
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2022%12831H
31 December 2022

1. AERREEER(E) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
MEBATINER (&) Information about subsidiaries (continued)
RKARHEEN B A AIFIBHEY 0 Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
T (&) follows: (continued)
MBI &R ERTLE/ AR
£ k&g RRAH AR BRI TEXB
Place and date
of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered  equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
i LifE
Direct  Indirect
Nongfu Spring (Anji) Smart Life PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 100% N/A  Sale of packaged water
Company Limited 12 December and beverage
2017
BRIR(RE)EER RE/ R ER, AR#100,000,0007T 100%  NER HEBRKAKRSH
AR 2017F 125128
Nongfu Spring (Chun’an Tea PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Garden) Beverage 25 October 2018 water and beverage
Company Limited
BRIURCZZRE) SR HE/ R, AR #20,000,0007T 100%  TEA HEBRKAKRSH
ARAR 2018%F10A25H
Nongfu Spring Hubei DanJiangKou  PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100% N/A  Sale of packaged water
Sales Company Limited 21 November and beverage
2018
BRLFHIATIAHE RE R ER, AR #10,000,0007T 100%  NER HELERKEKRIH
AR 2018F11f21H
Shanghai Nongfu Spring Supply PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 100% N/A  Supply chain
Chain Technology Company 16 May 2019 management
Limited
FERRILR AR HE/ R, AR#50,000,0007C 100%  TER HERER
BRAR 2019F5716H
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1. AERREEER(E) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
MEBATINER (&) Information about subsidiaries (continued)
RKARHEEN B A AIFIBHEY 0 Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
T (&) follows: (continued)
MBI &R ERTLE/ AR
£ RREHERBE AR BRI TEXB
Place and date
of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered  equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
i LifE
Direct  Indirect
Nongfu Spring (Shaanxi) Honghe PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 100% N/A Production of packaged
Village Beverage Company 12 July 2019 water and beverage
Limited
R IR (B ) AT A 8RR HE/HER AR #:30,000,0007T 100%  NEA EEEERAKREH
AR 201957 A12H
Nongfu Spring (Jiande) Industrial PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100% N/A  Sale of packaged water
Development Company Limited 19 November and beverage
2021
BRLUR(BR)BEER HE/ R, AK#10,000,0007C 100% TEf  HEARKAKRRE
ARAR 202111 198

HRARBEMEXEH - FEEM/A
AINENABYBHARRERERK
RENEFXEHERBEMR - &%
SERAREBTEEENINERE
EhE -

ERINTEERREIBFEFAXA
BN AREEEFRERF DA
REIMBRR - EFRA - BEEM
MBARMFIEESRIEANITE

122 / BXURBHHRAS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

The English names of the companies registered in the PRC
represent the best efforts made by the management of the
Company in directly translating the Chinese names of these
companies as no English names have been registered. These
entities are limited liability enterprises established under PRC
law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”), which comprise standards and interpretations
approved by the International Accounting Standards Board (the
“IASB”), and International Accounting Standards and Standing
Interpretations Committee interpretations approved by the
International Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for derivative
financial instruments and wealth management products which
have been measured at fair value. These financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (‘RMB”) and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2022. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has, directly or indirectly,
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@ the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (i)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i)
the fair value of any investment retained and (i) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the first
time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3
Amendments to IAS 16

Reference to the Conceptual Framework
Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use
Onerous Contracts -
Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9,
lllustrative Examples accompanying
IFRS 16, and IAS 41

Amendments to IAS 37

Annual Improvements to
IFRSs 2018-2020

The revised standards have had no significant financial effect
on these financial statements.
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2022%12831H
31 December 2022

23 CEMEBERERVEBRE K 2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL

HEA FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
REE N R ZE R RET P ELA A The Group has not applied the following new and revised
TEBMEHMREROFT RLEST IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these
R SR HER o financial statements.
EROEREENS IR RERE REZRAEE THpE1 Amendments to IFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
SPEAEREMEI(01E) EHEFIIER IAS 28 (2011) Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture?
=Rl EEBmyHER R Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?
B RRLER SR fEAA IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts'
BRERRSESTRNET  ABAY Amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts' 5
ARURRERUETRNET  IEEAERTAAEE Amendment to IFRS 17 Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 -
ZITEREETRE Comparative Information®
EREGT -1 EH:
BRETERERRB BEEAEEITENE Amendments to IAS 1 Classffication of Liabilities as Current or
(/20007 Non-current (the “2020 Amendments”)2-*
BRETERERRB WEZgnEasE Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilties with Covenants
(o000t (the "2022 Amendments’)
AREHENZIRRERNE  SAARAF Amendments to IAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies’
RS EHRE IFRS Practice Statement 2
BR e EaEeRnE:] EiBNEE Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates'
BReERE 125 ME] BEREE-RGHEER Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilties
BEZEERE arising from a Single Transaction’
i 20231 B1A R 2 &I FE 1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
S
2 202451 A1 B3 2 B FRBHFEE 2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
AR
3 i) A< 7B TE 9 1) AE 28 B B AT R A 3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption
4 R 2022F &3] + 2020F & 5T HI A 4K 4 As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of
AEIHIEE2024F1 A1 H S 2 %A the 2020 Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning on
B4R [E HAR or after 1 January 2024
5 ARR20204E6 A T 2% B R B 165 4 &5 2E ) 5 As a consequence of the amendments to IFRS 17 issued in June
FATREER] - BRI B mEERE4 2020, IFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption
OB AEREGR R - KRB A that permits insurers to apply IAS 39 rather than IFRS 9 for annual
202341 A1 B AIBIA M F E HiR % periods beginning before 1 January 2023

BB & R AR B 25 39 5% M 3F BB B 7%
AR

6 RIBERZETIFEEROEEERE 6 An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the
RIAN) T AL E N E BB SR classification overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it on initial
HRIFATHRERAZLEE application of IFRS 17

AEBIEFEZEINET LS BER The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the

BI FS SRR AV IR FEFR A& o impact of these new and revised IFRSs upon initial application.

s plt AEBREZEN MK So far, the Group considers that these new and revised IFRSs

&5 BB B 75 3 &5 £ Bl A] g = ] 7K are unlikely to have a significant impact on the Group’s results

EBEELRB MBI NEKENY of operations and financial position.

2 o
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its derivative financial instruments and
equity investments at the end of each reporting period. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
1o sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the
principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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2.4 BEXEFTHEME(HE)
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 —  based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 —  based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-
assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end
of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets and non-
current assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-
generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount
of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated
to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest
group of cash-generating units.
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2.4 BEXEFTHEME(HE)
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
1o the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises
in those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an
asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which
it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

@)

or

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person:

U)
(i)

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

U)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(viil

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a

part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is hormally charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual

RIR - rates used for this purpose are as follows:

il fhEt AT e A SE AR fhETRIEREE
Estimated Estimated

Category useful life residual value

gF 5-20%F 3%

Buildings 5-20 years

Hezs 5-10%F 3%

Machinery 5-10 years

a8 5-10%F 3%

Motor vehicles 5-10 years

B RERRE 3-5%F 3%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3-5 years

HEMHEEE TREAR3-55F (AR & H4E) 0%

Leasehold improvements
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Shorter of the lease terms and 3-5 years
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings and machinery
under construction, which are stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and are not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of construction. Construction in progress is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of the
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be finite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for another intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
The principal estimated useful lives of intangible assets are as
follows:

<Yl fhEt AL A SE AR fEEtRIBREE
Estimated Estimated

Category useful life residual value

EX LS 2-10%F 0%

Software 2-10 years

B SR 7K ERRE R A 75 1R B HARR 0%

Mineral water mining licence Over the licence term

HAtb 5-10%F 0%

Others 5-10 years

Bt Software

EHER AR AR E R BRI - I
REMAA AERFH2E10FABRE
i -

BRI T
8 SNSRI 2 A B AR A S8R ¢+ A
BRI T R -

Afth

Hib (BHEEN RBEHE) R AT
B WABBORIZE G AEAF 5
E105F#H -

HE A
FRrBR TR AR E LR B EmRIR ©

REMERBRMEENMAXESRE
AEBREEETRZBVEERLZ
A E RS R ENRMATT - £F
ExRkERRENERAIHEZE
E - REESEERKEENSNT
A~ ABAIREIRTTHKIAR A RKE
RO AR SEET B -
T UAERMCRIELE - RFF A Lt
AIWEMMAERSXNEERH -
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Software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful
lives of 2 to 10 years.

Mineral water mining licence
Mineral water mining licence is stated at cost and is amortised
on the straight-line basis over the licence term.

Others

Others include patents and emission right, which are stated
at cost and amortised on the straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of 5 to 10 years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources
to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Product development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed
when incurred.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(@  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the
assets as follows:

Leasehold land 50 years
Office premises and plant 2-5 years
Equipment 3-7 years
Others 3-5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

RXIWRBHHRAS NONGFU SPRING €O, LTD. /133



2022%12H831H
31 December 2022

2.4 BEXEFTHEME(HE)

HE (&)

PREEEREATN (&)

) HEAE
HERBERHEHERKAMZES
HAEENEEN R RER
R HENRBREEMNK(E
TR E [ 3R B ) e U
HEEE - BURNE —i5&skt
KAl SEHE MK - ARTEHIR
BRSEERRINOEE -
ENFITERAKEAEEER
TENBREESZEZITEE - A
RAERE R T AEBITE
EERRIHEE 2B THEZL
HEMZAHEIR o FEURRE
—RBEE XA EREN TR
BB A SR ST SR A A
IR R

R EHEENKZIRER - AR
HEFRESHNFNETZHE - 8
AEEFRAENEERNR B O
RIRIEEN X - RFEM AL -
HERBESRESEIMARBRE S
MR - X RLATIE R MR E LY
FAELFNR, o pEsh - WA E R
Ptk - 2% HENRED
(PIENERRE — B L R E M
HIRARKEEN K ER) KB
BEHBEENMAEE - RIEH
FHEHERENREE -

B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

134/ BXURBHHRAT NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change
in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to
leases of office equipment that are considered to be of
low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in
revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are
accounted for as finance leases.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income (“OCI”), and fair value through
profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets
with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.
Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected
to classify at fair value through OCI. Dividends on equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are also recognised as other income in the
statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host
and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host; a
separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or
loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in
the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification
of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is
required to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at fair
value through profit or loss.
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2022%12831H
31 December 2022

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(@) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of
the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest
rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective
of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information. The Group
considers that there has been a significant increase in credit
risk when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset
to be in default when internal or external information indicates
that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables and contract assets which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills payables,
other payables and accruals, interest-bearing borrowings,
lease liabilities and derivative financial instruments.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on a weighted average cost basis
and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods,
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred
to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and bank balances comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature
to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of each reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end
of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of each reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to the statement of
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset
by equal annual instalments or deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to the statement of profit or
loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point in
time when control of the asset is transferred to the customer,
generally on delivery of the goods.

Some contracts for the sale of goods provide customers with
rights of return and volume rebates. The rights of return and
volume rebates give rise to variable consideration.

Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right of
return the goods within a specified period, the expected
value method is used to estimate the goods that will not be
returned because this method best predicts the amount of
variable consideration to which the Group will be entitled. The
requirements in IFRS 15 on constraining estimates of variable
consideration are applied in order to determine the amount of
variable consideration that can be included in the transaction
price. For goods that are expected to be returned, instead of
revenue, a refund liability is recognised. A right-of-return asset
(and the corresponding adjustment to cost of sales) is also
recognised for the right to recover products from a customer.

Variable consideration: volume-based rebates

Retrospective volume rebates may be provided to certain
customers once the quantity of products purchased during
the period exceeds a threshold specified in the contract.
Rebates are offset against amounts payable by the customer.
To estimate the variable consideration for the expected future
rebates, the most likely amount method is used for contracts
with a single-volume threshold. The selected method that best
predicts the amount of variable consideration is primarily driven
by the number of volume thresholds contained in the contract.
The requirements on constraining estimates of variable
consideration are applied and a liability for the expected future
rebates is recognised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods
or services to the customer).

Share-based payments

The Group operates a share incentive scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Employees (including directors) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees render services in exchange for equity instruments
(“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which
they are granted. The fair value is computed based on their
most recent post-money valuations.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit or loss for
a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.
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2.4 BEXEFTHEME(HE)
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date
of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as
if they were a modification of the original award, as described
in the previous paragraph.

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. The
Group is required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions
are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme. Contributions paid for an employee are not available
to reduce the Group’s future obligations even if the employee
leaves.

Employee benefits to all eligible employees of the overseas
subsidiaries are made in accordance with the rules set forth in
the collective labour agreement, and recorded as an expense
in the period they are due as a charge to the statement of profit
or loss.
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2.4 BEXEFTHEME(HE)
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends
Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of each reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 BEXEFTHEME(HE)
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation differences on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss are also recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than RMB. As at the end of each reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into the presentation currency of the Company at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the
dates of the transactions.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing
rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash
flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
which arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that
could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgement

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgement, apart from
those involving estimations, which has the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses
and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
losses and deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to determine
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits
together with future tax planning strategies. Further details are
contained in note 17 to the financial statements.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Variable consideration for volume rebates

The Group estimates variable consideration to be included
in the transaction price for the sales of products with volume
rebates.

The Group’s volume rebates are analysed on a per customer
basis for contracts that are subject to a single volume
threshold. Determining whether a customer will likely be
entitled to a rebate depends on the customer’s historical
rebate entitlement and accumulated purchases to date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Variable consideration for volume rebates (continued)

The Group updates its assessment of expected volume
rebates yearly and the sales discount and rebate payables are
adjusted accordingly. Estimates of expected volume rebates
are sensitive to changes in circumstances and the Group’s
past experience regarding rebate entitlements may not be
representative of a customer’s actual rebate entitlements in the
future.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments that have similar
loss patterns (i.e., by product type, customer type and rating
and other forms of credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions
(i.e., gross domestic products, consumer price index, deposit
reserve ratio, inflation rate and rate of unemployment) are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to
an increased number of defaults in the manufacturing sector,
the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are updated and changes
in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note
20.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in
a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate
(“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest
that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar
term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain
an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the
Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation when
no observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that
do not enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to
be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease
(for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable
inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is
required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the
subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Fair value of financial instruments

If the market for a financial instrument is not active, the Group
estimates fair value by using a valuation technique. Valuation
techniques include using recent prices in arm’s length market
transactions between knowledgeable and willing parties,
if available, reference to the current fair value of another
instrument that is substantially the same, or discounted
cash flow analyses and option pricing models. To the extent
practicable, the valuation technique makes the maximum use
of market inputs.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-
use assets) at the end of each reporting period. Other non-
financial assets are tested for impairment when there are
indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a
cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which
is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value
in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal
is based on available data from binding sales transactions in
an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset.
When value in use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset
or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate to
calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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4., LEFEER 4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
MEEMS  AEBERKRERGEI D For management purposes, the Group is organised into
TBERL - RBUTHER2MEED business units based on their services and has five reportable
26 operating segments as follows:

— BUENIHERARBER KK - the water products segment engages in the manufacture
FHEMDES and sale of natural packaged drinking water;
—  BUEREEAFCRMRIRAAE - the ready-to-drink tea products segment engages in the
D ER manufacture and sale of ready-to-drink tea beverages;
— BUEREERES R AT RE SR -  the functional drinks products segment engages in the
EmED manufacture and sale of functional beverages;
— BEREERTHRERNRET - the juice beverage products segment engages in the
BEEDHL & manufacture and sale of juice beverage products; and
— BERHEERERMEMSEE -  the other products segment engages in the manufacture
B E b E R D36 o and sale of agricultural products and other beverages.
EEERERERNERKS DI E Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
& UABIERE R BORR MFHER segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
o DEBRIFF L I E R A HE D resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
BWH - BRFARBRGEREDENZETE performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit,
BRASWA - EER - EMAR which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted
H&Zé%&%@ﬁﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁiﬁﬁ%#ﬂ ol profit before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s
BRI - RS HERBLRDG M FH 2 EAR profit before tax except that interest income, finance costs,
EERBREA ,Imfrljfﬁl HRERET other income and gains, as well as head office and corporate
@ AE RO ARG EHER expenses are excluded from such measurement. No analysis
ZEBERE B ARENE DI ﬁ%& of segment assets and liabilities is presented as management
BENON - ILEZ7] D 2pUES does not regularly review such information for the purposes of
DEBELE o resource allocation and performance assessment. Therefore,

only segment revenue and segment results are presented.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Segment revenue and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by reportable segments.

BZ2022% Year ended
12A31HLLERE 31 December 2022
23 (fi32s) Segment revenue (note 5)
M BREHE Sales to external customers 18,262,614 6,905,986 3,837,605 2,878,830 1,354,152 33,239,187
AEEE Segment results 6,443,392 2,753,270 1,533,987 580,039 280,332 11,591,020
- Reconcilation:
FEHA Interest income 623,360
EtADEUMARYE  Other unallocated income

and gains 1,085,799
TEREMASEHRS  Corporate and other

unallocated expenses (2,173,819)
IBER Finance costs (76,028)
B A& Profit before tax 11,050,332
At HER Other segment information
TEREH Depreciation and amortisation 1,007,132 407,856 233,476 223,067 100,831 1,972,362
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4., RBEFBERE) 4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
kY ES A{C D) Segment revenue and results (continued)
KEER HMRREER DESHER RTRNER AthEm a5t
Ready-to- Functional Juice
BHZ0NE Year ended Water drink tea drinks beverage Other
12A31ALFE 31 December 2021 products products products products products Total

ARRTRL  ARRTT ARBTR AREBTR ARETR ARETR
RMB'OOO  RMBOO0 ~ RMBOO0  RMBO0O  RMBO00O  RMB'OO

AERUER (P555) Segment revenue note 5)
MR PHE Sales to external customers 17,058,483 4,578,949 3,694,968 2,613,571 1,750,435 29,696,406
EHEE Segment results 6,575,332 1,832,376 1,594,995 503,257 225,746 10,731,706
#E Reconciliation:
MEHA Interest income 330,656
EtARAEMARYE  Other unallocated income

and gains 542,906
PEREMANEMT  Corporate and other

unallocated expenses (2,198,023)
BB Finance costs (52,945)
CEThel Profit before tax 9,354,300
At Eas Other segment information
TEREH Depreciation and amortisation 995,635 298,272 244193 203,893 141,408 1,883,401
i & & R Geographical information
7N £ E /38 99% W 2 K 48 & A1) 15 Over 99% of the Group’s revenue and operating profits are
REFBEAMHER - MASEBR derived from customers based in Mainland China and over
9% M Al s R B E M B EH LN 99% of the Group’s identifiable assets and liabilities were in
A, © Mainland China.
FEEFER Information about major customers
H 220226 K 2021F12 A1 B IL & F No revenue from the Group’s sales to a single customer
E HERKEEAEEE -BFPHHEE amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue for
FIMER G AN S B ARG I 10% 3 BA E © each of the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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U & REVENUE
WD HTAT - An analysis of revenue is as follows:
20214
2021
AREFIT
RMB’000
KEEFEAIBI Wz Revenue from contracts with customers
HEME M Sale of goods 33,239,187 29,696,406
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The timing of the above revenue recognition is when the
performance obligations of sales and delivery of goods are
satisfied at a point in time.

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of
goods and payment in advance is normally required, except
for customers with credit terms, where payment is generally
due within 30 days, and extended up to 90 days for major
customers. Some contracts provide customers with a right
of return and volume rebates which give rise to variable
consideration.

The Group has no revenue contract that has an original
expected duration of more than one year, thus management
has applied the practical expedient under IFRS 15 and is not
required to disclose the aggregate amount of the transaction
prices allocated to the performance obligations that are
unsatisfied or partially satisfied as of the end of the reporting
period.
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6. HfWARYEREMEAX 6.

B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, AND OTHER

EXPENSES
20214
2021
BaE AREFIT
Notes RMB’000
Hig A Other income
ERIT 4 B S AR Government grants and
subsidies
RS A A related to income 0] 412,529 324,271
BB ERA related to assets (i) 25,799 23,785
S A Interest income 623,360 330,656
HERA Income from compensation 20,631 21,168
SHE R Sales of scraps 84,672 83,731
Hi Others 87,495 48,067
1,254,486 831,678
g Gains
BATERT ABER Fair value gains on financial
TREEA T ERE assets at fair value through
profit or loss 2,289 4,754
HETET AR Gain on disposal of derivative
instruments - 7,331
& XS F5E Foreign exchange gain, net 370,122 -
Hi Others 82,262 29,799
454,673 41,884
1,709,159 873,562
Bz Other expenses
P 5 E518 558 Foreign exchange loss, net - (116,619)
HETAET AEE Loss on disposal of derivative
instruments (634) -
=N Donations (1,169) (1,996)
HEYE - BEK Loss on disposal of items of
HAETE B R EE property, plant and equipment (14,456) (9,803)
HAth Others (6,135) (10,118)
(22,394) (138,536)

0 AN 5= B 2 4y B SRR AR B RO AU A58 B %
AL RSB RFRERT REAK
B SR OB E R R BB » 2B L
mARRIE BN UL 2% 55 KB AT A 107
R (NA)RERRRARER - I
géﬁi%%%ﬁﬁﬂﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁiﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁi%

I8 o

(i)  AEECUE|EEE L ERAR S
THTHEE) - BE R EARR
BEMRIEAFHANRGERPHER -
HAEMRRNZ S B FFRHN M T
28 ©
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The government grants and subsidies related to income have been
received to reward for the contribution to the local economic growth.
These grants related to income are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss upon receipt of these rewards and the related
conditions associated with the rewards are met, if any. There are no
unfulfiled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

The Group has received certain government grants related to the
investments in production bases. The grants related to assets were
recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the useful lives of
relevant assets. Details of these grants related to assets are set out
in note 28.
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2022%12831H
31 December 2022

7. BRBADER 7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX
REFEGBREMNTIIG(GEA)T The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/
PFIRIEFE ¢ (crediting):

20214
2021
s ARBTF T
Notes RMB’000
FEHERK A Cost of inventories sold* 14,143,776 12,040,188
M - BE K Depreciation of property, plant and
RiBITE equipment 14 2,358,940 2,287,083
FRAEEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 15 119,238 83,123
A Amortisation of intangible assets** 16 8,747 7,980
BTEMNEZ (B Employee benefit expenses (including
BENTETHAE  directors’ and chief executive’s
B (FE9)) - remuneration (note 9)):
TERF® Wages and salaries 2,708,554 2,494,041
RIKSETEI5% - 4 &€ Pension scheme contributions, social
1R F) N E b 48 1) welfare and other welfare*** 450,640 387,496
VARG i 45 E IR 1D Equity-settled share-based payment
SNl expenses 101,793 -
AP RS B AR Research and development costs**** 277,166 124,912
BEEAFEE M IR{B1E  Expenses relating to short-term leases
BEHEABNER  and leases of low-value assets 15 163,312 191,190
FERE Impairment of inventories 19 16,372 -
B G EIRGIA (Write-back of impairment)/impairment
CRERE), RE of trade receivables 20 (3,434) 11,401
FEFIE - Efb eI Write-back of impairment of financial
ENEMEEFH assets included in prepayments,
TREERERE other receivables and other assets 21 (715) (2,654)
HETET R (Loss)/gain on disposal of derivative
(E518) e instruments (634) 7.331
BATEET AB2E4)  Fair value gains on financial assets at
SREENTEWES  fair value through profit or loss 2,289 4,754
1% 2 B 27 Auditor’s remuneration 6,566 6,789
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Bt #% R & ML (48) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2022%12H831H
31 December 2022

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)

7. BRBLATER () 7.

Hox

Hekkk

FEHEERTREEYE - BERRE
e ERREENERETRANEH
MR - EBREE DB EFE D5
SRV ABEEH o

HE2022F 202112 A31 B ILEE
MEREESHE AGEBRERNITR
F o

AEEEREE A RIEREREHIUKTE
ZORYHK

MEXKARITEYE  BELRET
B ERREENERETRARRN
FX - EINBREE D &R 0 B5)
TREQKEERT -

*

ke

Hkkk

Cost of inventories sold include expenses relating to depreciation
of property, plant and equipment, depreciation of right-of-use
assets and staff costs, which are also included in the respective
total amounts disclosed separately above for each of these types of
expenses.

The amortisation of intangible assets for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021 is included in administrative expenses in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as
the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

Research and development costs include expenses relating to
depreciation of property, plant and equipment, depreciation of
right-of-use assets and staff costs, which are also included in the
respective total amounts disclosed separately above for each of
these types of expenses.

8. HMKEH FINANCE COSTS

EERSTAT An analysis of finance costs is as follows:
20214
2021
ARETT
RMB’000
STEEENNE Interest on interest-bearing borrowings 70,628 47,565
HEBBENNE Interest on lease liabilities 5,400 5,380
76,028 52,945
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2022%12831H
31 December 2022

9. EEBERIETHAEHM 9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION

FREELFTBITHABENEIIR Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,

B EMMRA - FB A EMEHI5383(1) disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(@), (b),

@~ ) kMERAF (HEEEF (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2

HERNE AT - HYMT of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of

Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

20214
2021
ARBTFT
RMB’000
ok Fees 780 780
HEMiNe : Other emoluments:
e Salaries 7,572 8,413
HENE R EIEAL Performance related bonuses 8,877 5,974
RS FH B Pension scheme contributions 378 345
16,827 14,732
17,607 15,512
(@ BIFBTES (a) Independent non-executive directors
FRZNTEULIERITESHHE The fees paid to independent non-executive directors
ERAT during the year were as follows:
20214
2021
ARBTFT
RMB’000
BIRTE Mr. Lu Yuan 260 260
BETE Mr. Yang, Lei Bob 260 260
Stanley Yi Changt 4 Mr. Stanley Yi Chang 260 260
780 780
FAREABILIERTEEIZN There were no other emoluments payable to the
EMEE (20214 « £) © independent non-executive directors during the year

(2021: Nil).
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2022%12H831H
31 December 2022

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (continued)

9. EERFEITBAEHMGE) o

(b) EETHAE HITESKIEH (b) Chief executive, executive directors and non-
TE=S executive directors
2022% 2022
TEABABRNT Chief executive and executive
. director:
BUBEE Mr. Zhong Shanshan 2,040 1,460 - 3,500
WTES: Executive directors:
bt Mr. Zhou Li 1,501 2,076 112 3,689
AEEZLT Ms. Zhou Zhenhua 1,500 2,103 154 3,757
PR~ Mr. Guo Zhen 1,330 1,610 - 2,940
BREE Mr. Liao Yuan 1,201 1,628 112 2,941
FHITESE: Non-executive directors:
Zhong Shu Zist & Mr. Zhong Shu Zi - - = =
7,572 8,877 378 16,827
ERNEY  RKEEE
He fEAL R A&t
Performance- Pension
related scheme
20216 2021 Salaries bonuses  contributions Total
ARETT AREFT ARETRT ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
TETRABFEHT Chief executive and
BE: executive director:
ERBEE Mr. Zhong Shanshan 2,040 1,460 - 3,500
HTEE Executive directors:
BhrsE Mr. Zhou Li 1,739 1,405 103 3,247
BRELLT Ms. Zhou Zhenhua 1,850 1,795 139 3,784
PREAE Mr. Guo Zhen 1,439 520 - 1,959
BRLAE Mr. Liao Yuan 1,345 794 103 2,242
FHTES: Non-executive directors:
Zhong Shu Zi%t & Mr. Znong Shu Zi - - - -
8,413 5,974 345 14,732

FAMBEEHNTIBTHRAEN
ZNFEERETAFHAOLZ
(20214F - &) »

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year (2021: Nil).
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10. EEBREHFMES

SHFHEETHEES
=R) WIFARBEEK
TETBABNTA (202145  WA)
Rima MR B FANFIFENT

FRNRAAH
(20214 :

B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

No director was included in the five highest paid employees
during the year (2021: three). Details of the remuneration for
the year of the five (2021: two) highest paid employees who

2022%12831H
31 December 2022

are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as

follows:

20214

2021

AREFIT

RMB’000

e Salaries 5,556 2,469

EREBRIEAL Performance-related bonuses 18,177 2,134
LARRHE S E AR 2B Equity-settled share-based payment

expense 7,822 -

RSB Pension scheme contributions 527 198

32,082 4,801

FMNFATBENFEERIFTE
TTRABNRSHHES ABRNT

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest

paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following

bands is as follows:

2,500,001 7T 23,000,000/ 7T
3,000,001 7T % 3,500,000/ 7T
5,500,001 7T 26,000,000/ 7T
6,500,001 7T 27,000,000/ 7T
7,500,001 7T 28,000,000/ 7T
8,500,001 7T % 9,000,000/ 7T
9,000,001 7T 29,500,000/ 7T

F Rz 2022 Annual Report

HKD2,500,001 to HKD3,000,000
HKD3,000,001 to HKD3,500,000
HKD5,500,001 to HKDG,000,000
HKD6,500,001 to HKD7,000,000
HKD7,500,001 to HKD8,000,000
HKD8,500,001 to HKD9,000,000
HKD9,000,001 to HKD9,500,000

EEAH
Number of employees

20214

2021

- 1

- 1

1 —

1 -

1 -

1 -

1 -
5 2
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2022%12H831H
31 December 2022

10. EEEREHFMEE (&) 10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)
FRN - OEFEFMFFETHRAER During the year, restricted H Share units were granted to five
b A A B R H A RIS 7] 5% = 5 BN non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees
BERTFIEHIHKMELNS - B in respect of their services to the Group, further details of
HIBHN Y EMERM 00 HES - which are included in the disclosures in note 30 to the financial
S ESREIHER GO EMN A TFETY statements. The fair value of such restricted H Share units,
REHBHRET  YERBEBHAR which has been recognised in the statement of profit or loss
BRRER Mt ARFETBHRE over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of
MEEEt A LXRIEEENIETE grant and the amount included in the financial statements
THAENSZSEHMEEHGIIRENR - for the current year is included in the above non-director and

non-chief executive highest paid employees’ remuneration
disclosures.

1. PR 11. INCOME TAX

20214
2021
ARBTFT
RMB’000
BIHA — Current — PRC
FEER Charge for the year 2,708,095 2,123,838
BAREE(GBRERE)/ (Over)/under provision in
BENE prior years (2,038) 23,259
BIHER — HAb B AR R Current — Other jurisdictions - 76
RIE(PFE17) Deferred (note 17) (150,975) 45,333
Gl Total 2,555,082 2,192,506
REBEREBELEREENSIIKE The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
REBRKE QT &Hﬁ&%@%ﬁﬁﬁﬁjif arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of
T [ ) A AR AN PP AS 35 o the Group are domiciled and operate.
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Fris#i (4)
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EREEHEBHNCEREER
AEABPEMBSRBRODE)EH
[2020]235% ) + Rz FA A B 75 Bh 40 [ A 5%
BEEXESE  HEBEEXTEFE
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2022%12831H
31 December 2022

INCOME TAX (continued)

PRC corporate income tax
Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the EIT
rate of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries is 25% unless subject to
tax exemption set out below.

The statutory PRC enterprise income tax for the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% for the year. According to the Tax Relief
Notice (Cai Shui [2020] No.23) on the Grand Development of
Western Region jointly issued by the Ministry of Finance, the
State Administration of Taxation and National Development and
Reform Commission, enterprises located in the western region
of the PRC with over 60% of the principal revenue generated
from the encouraged business activities were entitled to a
preferential income tax rate of 15% for 10 years from 1 January
2021 to 31 December 2030. Accordingly, certain subsidiaries
located in the western region of the PRC are entitled to an
income tax rate of 15% for the year.

Certain of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are accredited as “High
and New Technology Enterprise” and were therefore entitled
to a preferential income tax rate of 15% for the years end 31
December 2021 and 2022. Such qualifications are subject to
review by the relevant tax authority in the PRC for every three
years.

Certain of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are engaged in
agriculture and entitled to the tax exemption on agricultural
products.

Hong Kong profits tax

The statutory rate of Hong Kong profits tax was 16.5% for the
years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022 on the estimated
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong. No provision for Hong
Kong profits tax was made as the Group had no assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong in 2022.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2022%12H831H
31 December 2022

1. FrBH (&) 11. INCOME TAX (continued)
Hitt R EEEREH Income tax for other jurisdictions
7N = (B B E A 7] 0ARE IR A A A B 1B 8 The Group’s tax provision in respect of other jurisdictions has
FBEREAEBKEHEAERDN been calculated at the applicable tax rates in accordance with
WITEIIZERREAE - the prevailing practices of the jurisdictions in which the Group
operates.
WA RQR REKZ S B R R FTER A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before
SEMEIE BT R AT E RO BR B RS F tax at the statutory rate for the jurisdiction in which the
HiE AR IER Y IR E R RAER Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to
HIERYHEEE  UREAFEHREREST the tax expense at the effective tax rate, and a reconciliation of
R RAHBRAT - the statutory tax rate to the effective tax rate are as follows:
20214
2021
ARBTFT
RMB’000
FRIERTR A Profit before tax 11,050,332 9,354,300
1#25% M B> SEFT1SHE Tax at the PRC corporate income
METHENTIA tax rate of 25% 2,762,583 2,338,575
BEEEMEMEETIER  Lower tax rate(s) for specific provinces or
BIRR & enacted by local authority (126,497) (103,243)
HEENTE Effect of tax concessions (53,266) (57,955)
AR R 2 Expenses not deductible for tax 9,092 8,630
BEFE(GRRERE), (Over)/under provision in respect of prior
BETE years (2,038) 23,259
B E NEH 0k Research and development super
deduction (40,830) (23,754)
ARIERTIAEE Tax losses not recognised 6,038 6,994
TS5 2 Income tax expense 2,555,082 2,192,506
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13.

B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

BB

720216 A25H @ AAE PR
RIAF RS FHE2020F R B OB A
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2022%12831H
31 December 2022

DIVIDENDS

On 25 June 2021, the Company’s shareholders approved
the 2020 profit distribution plan at an annual general meeting,
pursuant to which cash dividends of RMBO0.17 for every share
of the Company’s 11,246,466,400 shares, in an aggregate
amount of RMB1,911,899,000, were paid in July and August
2021 to shareholders of the Company.

On 14 June 2022, the Company’s shareholders approved
2021 final dividend of RMBO0.45 for every share of the
Company’s 11,246,466,400 shares, in an aggregate amount
of RMB5,060,910,000. Except for dividend attributable to the
repurchased shares held by the trustee in relation to employee
share incentive scheme that would be paid no earlier than the
unlocking date, the rest of the dividend was subsequently paid
in July 2022.

The proposed 2022 final dividend for the year of RMB0.68 per
ordinary share, equivalent to an aggregate of approximately
RMB7,647,597,000, is subject to the approval of the
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent, and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 11,243,556,102 (2021: 11,246,466,400) in
issue during the year.

The impact of shares granted to employees in relation to
employee share incentive scheme was included in the
computation of dilutive earnings per share for the year. A
calculation was done to determine the number of shares that
could have been acquired at fair value (determined as the
average market share price of the Company’s shares during
the period) based on the monetary value of the subscription
rights.
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2022%12H831H
31 December 2022

14. Y% - BRERRE 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

20205128318 31 December 2022

R2022F1A18 At 1 January 2022

A Cost 4930897 14,359,579 3,470,981 286,768 153,036 1194132 24,395,393
ZiHERAE Accumulated depreciation

and impairment (1,511,965)  (7,823,719)  (1,924,728) (199,367) (135,474) - (11,595,253
FEFE Net carrying amount 3,418,932 6,535,860 1,546,253 87,401 17,562 1,194,132 12,800,140

HO02E AR - AT January 2022, net of
MBZARERAE  acoumulated depreciation

and impairment 3,418,932 6,535,860 1,546,253 87,401 17,562 1,194,132 12,800,140
AE Additions 256,009 1,474,211 1,531,857 65,956 62,381 1,660,308 5,050,788
b Disposais (1130 (19979 (6,100 (1,53) (2,007) (164) (94409
ERAERR Depreciation provided

during the year (234,536)  (1,342,801) (694,757) (34,819) (52,027) - (2,358,940)
e Transfers 65,148 1,049,633 - - - (1,114,781) -

20206125318+ At31 December 2022, net of
MBZARERAE  acoumulated depreciation
and impairment 3,504,416 7,636,991 2,375,253 117,001 25,909 1,138,015 15,397,585

Ho00E128318 At 31 December 2022

KA Cost 5,250,477 16,722,517 4,906,701 340,350 213,11 1,738,015 29,171,291
ZHHERAE Accumulated depreciation

and impairment (1,746,061) (9,085,586) (2,531,448) (223,349) (187,262 - (13,773,706)
FEFE Net carrying amount 3,504,416 7,636,991 2,375,253 117,001 25,909 1,138,015 15,397,585
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2022%12831H
31 December 2022

14, 1% - BERRE(E) 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

il
BT ks RERRE g HENEEE FRIR ait
Fumiture,
fixtures and Motor Leasehold  Construction
Buildings Machinery equipment vehicles  improvements in progress Totdl

AERTL  ARRTR  ARRTR  ARRTR ARRTR ARRTR ARETR
RVBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RWBOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RWBIOO

20215124818 31 December 2021

R2021F1A18 At 1 January 2021

KA Cost 4,665,374 12,825,530 2,992,700 259,606 217,231 1,228,006 20,188 447
ZiERE Accumulated depreciation and

impairment (1,274,846) (6,546,499) (1,449,69) (176,691) (149,131) - (9,596,862)
FEFE Net carrying amount 3,390,528 6,279,031 1,543,005 82,915 68,100 1,228,006 12,591,585

R201E1A1E At 1 January 2021, net of
TBZSHAERAE  accumulated depreciation

and impairment 3,390,028 6,279,031 1,643,005 82,915 68,100 1,228006 12,591,585
hE Addtions 96,860 222,034 599,992 43,081 3,908 1,562,206 2,517,331
e Disposals (326) (13,103) (6,59 (2,640) - (31) (21,693)
FRiERE Depreciation provided during

the year 3757 (1367957 (591,151) (35,955) (54,446) - R8T
it Transfers 170,454 1,415,655 - - - (1,586,100) -

Ro021E12A318 At 31 December 2021, net of
TBEERAE  accumulated depreciation
and impairment 3,418,932 6,535,860 1,546,253 87,401 17,562 1,194,132 12,800,140

Ho01E128318 At 31 December 2021

ik Cost 4,930,897 14,359,579 3,470,981 286,768 153,036 1,194,132 24,395,393
ZIMERAE Accumulated depreciation and

impairment (1,511,969) (7,823,719) (1,924,728) (199,367) (135,474) - (11,595,253
ERFE Net carrying amount 3,418,932 6,535,860 1,546,253 87,401 17,562 1,194,132 12,800,140
2022912 A31H » AEBIEAERE At 31 December 2022, the Group was in the process of
mFE A A R #13,886,000 7T (2021 applying for the ownership certificates for buildings with a net
T AR®14,264,0007T) (IIEFEHE carrying amount of RMB13,886,000 (2021: RMB14,264,000).

FEMAEE
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2022%12H831H
31 December 2022

15. A& 15. LEASES
REBEEREBA The Group as a lessee
AREBDRSERAZWELKRE - The Group has lease contracts for various items of office
MR B BT FH Y B T8 B TS A premises and plant, equipment and others used in its
E46R - T EH AS50F - EEE operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront to
— RN HEARBRESERN acquire the leased land from the owners with lease periods of
o WMAEMENBENHEE AT 50 years, and no ongoing payments will be made under the
RR2ESE o RIBAEHNFIRTH - terms of these land leases. Leases of office premises and plant
HEM(pRESmEE  EWMMETHE generally have lease terms between 2 and 5 years. Equipment
E)NHAERAB2ESF - HAEHHE has lease terms between 3 and 7 years, while others including
MAERREA12EANKESE - @5 venue rental, vehicles and staff dormitories have lease terms
BERIE - between 2 and 5 years. Other rental agreements generally
have lease terms of 12 months or less and are individually of
low value.
(@) (EHEEE (a)  Right-of-use assets
REFEMFEREELENEEDER The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets
FRLEHIT - and the movements during the year are as follows:

2022F12A31H 31 December 2022

1202251 H18 As at 1 January 2022 616,667 80,121 2,418 25,036 724,242
= Additions 156,975 56,097 1,337 34,075 248,484
WEER Depreciation charge (16,322) (73,953) (1,528) (27,435) (119,238)
2022412318  As at 31 December 2022 757,320 62,265 2,227 31,676 853,488
N
MELH  WENERE B Hity ast
Office
Leasehold premises
land and plant Equipment Others Total

ARBTT  ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
RMB'000 ~ RMB000 ~ RMB000 ~ RMB000  RMB'000

2021128318 31 December 2021

20211 A1H As at 1 January 2021 620,934 65,803 3,223 4,605 694,565
NE Additions 10,545 71,307 400 30,548 112,800
NEER Depreciation charge (14,812) (56,989) (1,205) (10,117) (83,123)
R2021%F12A31H  As at 31 December 2021 616,667 80,121 2,418 25,036 724,242
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

15. FHE(E)

15.

2022%12831H
31 December 2022

LEASES (continued)

REBERARBA(E) The Group as a lessee (continued)
(@) (EHEEEE) (a)  Right-of-use assets (continued)
R2022F12A31H » AEEHEA As at 31 December 2022, the Group was in the process
BREFE A ARKA1,311,0007T of applying for the certificates for land use rights
(2021 F : A R ¥ 33,048,000 with a net carrying amount of RMB1,311,000 (2021:
TC) B TP AR IEAE RS 13 RMB33,048,000).
B R -
(b)) HEEE (b)  Lease liabilities
FRAHEEEENEEDENESE The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the
SR movements during the year are as follows:
20214
2021
AREFIT
RMB’000
A A1EREREEE Carrying amount at 1 January 90,025 55,373
¥4 New leases 91,509 102,255
FRIERHF BN Accretion of interest recognised during
the year 5,400 5,380
BN Payments (87,077) (72,983)
M2 A31 BMEREE Carrying amount at 31 December 99,857 90,025
DA Analysed into:
BVER Current 68,678 46,721
JEENHA Non-current 31,179 43,304

MR2022F 11 H » AEEF &K
TR ARIME THEMEETH
HIEEBRAEWE - REER
BEHYOENNESASAAR
1,920,000 7T - MK A
B AEERERERELEERE
EaEARK22,450,0007T ° A
2022% 12 A31H » KR&EB E
SRERARNEEGBEEHRA
AR #20,530,0007T (20214 :
AR#24,635,0007T) °

REFFEIP I EE o

F Rz 2022 Annual Report

In November 2022, the Group renewed the lease in
respect of certain leasehold properties from the ultimate
holding company as office premises. The amount of rent
payable by the Group under the lease is RMB1,920,000
per month. At the commencement date of the lease, the
Group recognised a right-of-use asset and a lease liability
of RMB22,450,000. As at 31 December 2022, the Group
had a lease liability to the ultimate holding company with
a balance of RMB20,530,000 (2021: RMB24,635,000).

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in
note 39 to the financial statements.

BXRIFRHBERLSE NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.
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Bt #% R & ML (48) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2022%12H831H
31 December 2022

15. HE (&) 15. LEASES (continued)
REBERARBA(E) The Group as a lessee (continued)
() MREZAERNEEEESEN (c)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to
Ik leases are as follows:
20214
2021
AREFT
RMB’000
HEBGEFE Interest on lease liabilities 5,400 5,380
FREEENITESA  Depreciation charge of right-of-use
assets 119,238 83,123
B HHE RKEEAE Expense relating to short-term leases
HEBEMNER and leases of low-value assets 163,312 191,190
MBI AR A2%E Total amount recognised in profit or loss 287,950 279,693
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2022%12831H
31 December 2022

16. B EE 16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2022%12AH31H 31 December 2022

A20224E1 A1H © At 1 January 2022:

B AN Cost 10,042 138,689 6,971 155,702
BT Accumulated amortisation (5,479) (79,781) (5,338) (90,598)
BmEFE Net carrying amount 4,563 58,908 1,633 65,104

20001 18 - At 1 January 2022, net of

e 25y accumulated amortisation 4,563 58,908 1,633 65,104
NE Additions - 1,720 - 1,720
F RS Amortisation provided

during the year (508) (7,905) (334) (8,747)

2022912 A31H » At 31 December 2022,
Mk Rty net of accumulated
amortisation 4,055 52,723 1,299 58,077

A2022E12A31H © At 31 December 2022:

B A Cost 10,042 140,409 6,971 157,422
DT Accumulated amortisation (5,987) (87,686) (5,672) (99,345)
BRmEFE Net carrying amount 4,055 52,723 1,299 58,077
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2022%12H831H
31 December 2022

16. BILEE (&)

Bt #% R & ML (48) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

R K
PRUERT Al 3% LIS EHh aat

Mineral

water

mining

licence Software Others Total
ARBTT ARETRT ARETT ARBTET
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2021F12A31H

R2021F1 A1H
RN
RETE#Y

RREFE

2021617818 -
bk RETHESH

NE

FNE R

A2021F12A31H -

OBk RS

A20215FE12A318 -

PR
REHEEH

RREDFE

31 December 2021

At 1 January 2021:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net carrying amount

At 1 January 2021, net of
accumulated amortisation

Additions

Amortisation provided during
the year

At 31 December 2021, net of
accumulated amortisation

At 31 December 2021:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net carrying amount

10,042 123,562 6,899 140,503
(4,971) (72,599) (5,048) (82,618)
5,071 50,963 1,851 57,885
5,071 50,963 1,851 57,885

- 15,127 72 15,199
(508) (7,182) (290) (7,980)
4,563 58,908 1,633 65,104

10,042 138,689 6,971 155,702
(5,479) (79,781) (5,338) (90,598)
4,563 58,908 1,633 65,104
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B Rk MiEE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2022%12831H
31 December 2022

17. EEBIE 17. DEFERRED TAX
FRRELEHRIBEEZBNT - The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are as
follows:
AR
BEAR
B ER  ERBUET
BERE RETHE MEEROR  RERET Eft ait
Losses and
deductions

Accruals  available for
and offsetting
Impairment deferred  against future Unrealised
of assets income  taxable profits profits Others Total
ARBTE  ARETT  AREBTT ARETR ARETT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

120211 A1H At 1 January 2021 7,881 162,716 107,220 34,983 1,833 314,633
PEREREEFRA/  Deferred tax credited/(charged)
(3B MEITHE to the statement of profit or
loss during the year 2,218 63,315 (74,421) (10,877 (1,833) (21,543)

Ro021E12 43184 Deferred tax assets at 31
EEMBEE December 2021 10,154 226,031 32,799 24,106 - 293,090

M20221R1H At 1 January 2022 10,154 226,031 32,799 24106 - 293,090
PEREREEFRA/  Deferred tax credited/(charged)
(3B MBI HE to the statement of profit or
loss during the year 3,835 150,184 (16,316) (9,020) 11,332 140,015

002012 A31AH)  Deferred tax assets at 31
EEMBEE December 2022 13,989 376,215 16,483 15,086 11,332 433,105
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2022%12H831H
31 December 2022

17. IEEFIE ()
FRNECHBEEZHNT -

17.

B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are as
follows:

IRFRIATE Hith &5t
Accelerated tax
depreciation Others Total
AREFIT AREEFIT ARBEFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R2021%F1 A1H At 1 January 2021 233,907 - 233,907
MERBRRTHBRA Deferred tax charged to the
RIERIE statement of profit or loss
during the year 22,601 1,189 23,790
2021912 HA31HHE)  Deferred tax liabilities at
EERITEA B 31 December 2021 256,508 1,189 257,697
MR2022%F1 818 At 1 January 2022 256,508 1,189 257,697
NEREBRRT B  Deferred tax credited to The
EIEFRIR statement of profit or loss
during the year 9,771) (1,189) (10,960)
R2022%12 A31HHA)  Deferred tax liabilities at
EETIEEE 31 December 2022 246,737 - 246,737

WRERPEAREEENARE
37,854,000 7T (2021 F : A R ¥
23,935,000t ) M IEEE AR
# 18,133,000 7t (2021 F : A R ¥
18,104,000 7T ) # AT $01 30 & By = RA 1
ROELHIBEE  HR—Z20F
NAREHERRERBERA - WK
TR EBEENAREBE,724,000 T
(20214 : AR ¥6,679,0007T) B Fi
EEERRANRERIBEE - 7JER
HRAREHESBBEZ R RRER
BaH o« WABARFABELENDA
K #66,568,0007T (20214 : AR
57,483,0007T ) K975 18 B 1B IR AU IR RE
RIEEE  ATERHARIKEREE
B ARIRRERTEF]

P 7 L 3t A0 TR S 8 e T AR D B = AR
DEREBEREE —BERZHEBEAR
A B TRRB RS R E M A
RIBHER AR R AR E R E5
B AREREERERIBEE °
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Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect
of tax losses of RMB37,854,000 (2021: RMB23,935,000)
and deductible temporary differences of RMB18,133,000
(2021: RMB18,104,000) arising in Mainland China, which will
expire in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable
profits. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in
respect of tax losses arising in Hong Kong of RMB6,724,000
(2021: RMB6,679,000), that are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in
which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of tax losses arising in New Zealand of
RMB66,568,000 (2021: RMB57,483,000), that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
the above tax losses and deductible temporary differences as
they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for
some time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits
will be available against which the tax losses and deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.
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B Rk MiEE () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2022%12831H
31 December 2022

18. HftFRBEE 18. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
20214F
2021
AREF T
RMB’000
M - RN RETENEIE  Prepayments for property,
plant and equipment 49,435 56,405
19. & 19. INVENTORIES
20214
2021
AREFT
RMB’000
R Raw materials 1,520,512 1,174,302
& Work in progress 249,853 304,025
BURK G Finished goods 338,007 330,903
A& Total 2,108,372 1,809,230
HZE2022F12A31AIEFE + AEH The Group recognised impairment of inventories of
REEREARE16,372,0007T (E RMB16,372,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022 (for
F2021F12A31HLEFE : F) - the year ended 31 December 2021: Nil).
20. ESEWRERERERE 20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
20214F
2021
AREFIT
RMB’000
B S IR Trade receivables 508,524 506,807
FEWE I Bills receivable 574 3,414
NERIE] Impairment (30,511) (33,945)
478,587 476,276
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2022%12H831H
31 December 2022

20. EZEWFAERERRE(E) 20
REBHZ ZIERRBRI AN - HE
EEREENERHEETPRIN - E
EHRTES—EA  TEERHER
FrRIZRE=EA - BuUEFHE X

BEERE - AKES I%T%% %‘JA
%1@3@&‘4& JIEAREEERRE - B

,\\uﬁﬁmgﬁﬁgfigiﬁﬂﬁﬁ ﬁ%ﬁ/\\\
FERRAEENE 5 EWKIE R
ERERHERZIARAETF,ER - Bt
WHEEREFNEERR - AEEIW
mot B ZEWGRIE KRR E R &%
T—irﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁtﬁjz/ﬁ\mﬁﬁﬁhﬂ%
m o B S EBGRIE R ERER & HT
aJrﬂ/%'\ o

MR2022%12A31H » AEEE HEW
mlﬁmﬂﬁszqﬂaﬁﬁéuﬂzﬁ—w [E/N
AMEBERHEBA EHRIBARE
47,0007*5&}\%%%2,755,0007@(2021
£ T AREA1,229,0007T) © EIE
HEAEEFEZFRHENEEER
FELLEESRIEIE -

BEREHRENEE B RMGE

B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group’s trading terms are mainly cash before delivery,
except for direct sale customers where credits are granted.
The credit period is generally one month, extending up to
three months for major direct sale customers. Each customer
has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact
that the Group’s trade and bills receivables related to various
diversified customers, there is no significant concentration
of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over its trade and bills receivable
balances. The balances of trade and bills receivables are non-
interest-bearing.

Included in the Group’s trade and bills receivables are amounts
due from the ultimate holding company and fellow subsidiaries
of RMB47,000 and RMB2,755,000 as at 31 December
2022 (2021: Nil and RMB1,229,000), respectively, which are
repayable on credit terms similar to those offered to the major
customers of the Group.

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the

BEENE FENIE N ENZEER end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net
ESOATIAT - of loss allowance, is as follows:

20214
2021
AREFIT
RMB’000
90E A Within 90 days 440,293 432,186
91£180H 91 to 180 days 17,890 16,036
181%365H 181 to 365 days 20,404 28,054
478,587 476,276
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20.

B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

BEZBRWRERERERE (&)

B SR IEREEREREENZ S
T

2022%12831H
31 December 2022

20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

20214

2021

AREFIT

RMB’000

F4 At beginning of year 33,945 22,544
CRUERE) SREREEEE  (Write-back of impairment)/impairment

losses, net (3,434) 11,401

FR At end of year 30,511 33,945

AREERAEGOEHEEBR T B HRE
ERIFSRAMMENEMEEER - &
AFARABEZREFIAER A
HMEEREEE -

JE W R B 3 1 SR 1T 1 HARR PO R AR 1 3%
MEVIRTTALRE - BXTEREK
SERER BRI

FREABEREETREDNT - A
AFEESRUGANEHREEES -
BEXDERABRUBEEANZS
%P AR B H A BEEE - %
AERRTERINEER  BREHE
BEARFERAESHNBARBES
& AT B R AR AR FEORI Y
BELAXFHER

BEREMERARDHFRRBEEN
WEER - BIWEAS TR ER - &
SEFHIEEE S RKFOR - AEE
TEEEREEREZRER RS
HFERBFBRRDEARERF - A
BREERE -

F Rz 2022 Annual Report

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for
expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits the
use of the lifetime expected credit loss provision for all trade
receivables.

Bills receivable are bank acceptance bills that are
unconditionally accepted by banks within the maturity period,
and there is no loss allowance for impairment of bills receivable.

An impairment analysis is performed at year end using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss
patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at year end about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

The Group writes off trade receivables when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial
difficulties and there is no realistic prospect of recovery. The
Group also takes into account legal advice where appropriate,
e.g. when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, whichever occurs
sooner.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2022%12H831H
31 December 2022

20. ESRBWFEAREWRREE(R)

ATESBRASEE 5 WA
REERENEERRNER

20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

20224 2022
90HA Within 90 days 1.19% 445,036 5,317
91£E180H 91 to 180 days 11.06% 20,114 2,225
181E365H 181 to 365 days 45.47% 37,421 17,016
365H A £ Over 365 days 100.00% 5,953 5,953
508,524 30,511
TRHIEEEEE FRME &% TRHEEEE
Expected Gross Expected
20214 2021 credit loss rate carrying amount credit losses
ARETTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
90H N Within 90 days 0.92% 432,775 4,003
91£180H 91 to 180 days 14.18% 18,687 2,651
181&2365H 181 to 365 days 40.87% 47,445 19,391
365H A E Over 365 days 100.00% 7,900 7,900
506,807 33,945
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2022%12831H
31 December 2022

21. FENRE - HEWRFERE 21. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

ftbE &= OTHER ASSETS
20214
2021
AREFIT
RMB’000
YT ER BN B Prepayments to suppliers 198,854 158,756
We N H M EWGRIE Deposits and other receivables 82,061 106,290
BN Prepaid expenses 124,345 108,163
JE UG BAEsE 75 08 Amounts due from related parties 7,237 1,852
AJ U [B] e {E F Value added tax recoverable 93,411 180,967
AT E 1 FTIE R Corporate income tax recoverable 56,351 4,808
BIEETE Impairment losses (1,952) (2,667)
560,307 558,169
STAREBE AN FRIE - A EKGRIE Included in the Group’s prepayments, other receivables
R E A& E R IR IR A A R and other assets are amounts due from the ultimate holding
JE W B Z BB A Al FUIB R 2022 12 company and fellow subsidiaries of RMB327,000 and
A31H % 5l & A R#327,0007T & A RMB6,910,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021: RMB18,000
R 6,910,000 (2021 F : AR and RMB1,834,000), respectively, which are recoverable within
18,0007t &2 A R #1,834,0007T) * T8 one year.

AHE—FRG KD -
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Bt #% R & ML (48) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2022%12H831H
31 December 2022

21. FENRE - HEWRFERE 21. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

ftb & = (%) OTHER ASSETS (continued)
H b e W SR IE (B B B B Y B E) 5 The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of other
T - receivables are as follows:
20214
2021
ARBT T
RMB’000
F1) At beginning of year 2,667 5,321
BB E B R R FRE Write-back of impairment losses, net (715) (2,654)
FR At end of year 1,952 2,667
BRAAREEF ATBNFIAE - HiEIR The information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s
FERAMEENEREEEERR financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and
BRI IS AR IS0 o other assets is disclosed in note 39 to the financial statements.

22. BAFEFTAEENERMEE 22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

20214F

2021

ARBTFT

RMB’000

BAFEHENIELETIRE  Unlisted investment at fair value - 204,754
R2021F12 A31H @ LilidE FHiRE As at 31 December 2021, the above unlisted investments were
BRBEAMIRITEITHENESR - B wealth management products issued by banks in Mainland
Woakl o B AERATEFABENS China. They were mandatorily classified as financial assets at
BEE  REAREGHNRESMIIFE fair value through profit or loss as their contractual cash flows

BARE RF BRI are not solely payments of principal and interest.
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2022%12831H
31 December 2022

23. EHIS T CHEZRESLKRIE 23. LONG-TERM BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND

THSBUREHEFER BANK BALANCES AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS
20214
2021
AREFIT
RMB’000
RESRITERIER Long-term bank deposits 4,101,670 1,121,461
RITIRSE Cash at bank 7,821,114 5,718,886
SECEERYERN Short-term bank deposits 7,390,042 9,064,691
e RIRITHEER Cash and bank balances 15,211,156 14,783,577
HHTFER Pledged Deposits 3,059 3,648
RERITEME R LIRS LIRTTAEH The long-term bank deposits and cash and bank balances and
A RBEREFEFIATIIEBEE pledged deposits are denominated in the following currencies:
20214
2021
ARBT T
RMB’000
REARITE BAIfE R Long-term bank deposits
AR RMB 4,101,670 1,121,461
HE MIBTTEBIAN Cash and bank balances and
BT pledged deposits
AR # RMB 10,745,716 10,435,172
EH USb 3,136,056 3,130,916
BT HKD 1,331,879 1,215,617
EAth Others 564 5,520
A&t Total 19,315,885 15,908,686
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2022%12H831H
31 December 2022

RPBRITERFRRRESRE
ITHRBUREREFR(E)

23.

Ba RIRTTRBRES BRITERA
RIF BRI RREK S - REAEE
MREER  RITERNERHAN T
—BRE=%F  WEEBRITFARA
RERIA B o RITAER T RIFHRN
=8 R4 BT B R SRR SRV IR
T -RELRRESEHRNFEDMERAR
FERE -

M2022FE 12 A31H » E#HERA
R #3,059,0007T (20214 : AR
3,648,0007T) EIE AERESR ' A
MEEREREERTIANTTE
WMEFH - BREMEETHRERE -

EEENREREBNRE

EIRNFANENZRE/THE
B—REARNTRAES °

24.

FRENEZAHNEZENFAR
FENRIRRREDITAT

23.

24.

B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

LONG-TERM BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND
BANK BALANCES AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS
(continued)

Cash and bank balances earn interest at floating rates
based on daily bank deposit rates. Bank deposits are made
for varying periods of between one month and three years
depending on the cash management of the Group, and
earn interest at the respective bank deposit rates. The bank
balances and deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks
with no recent history of default. The carrying amounts of the
cash and cash balances approximate to their fair values.

As at 31 December 2022, the pledged deposits of
RMB3,059,000 (2021: RMBS3,648,000) represented deposits
for letters of credit which are non-interest-bearing cash
deposits paid to commercial banks for purchasing equipment
and will be returned upon the completion of such activities.

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

Trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and normally
settled on terms of within 90 days.

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the end
of the year, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

20214

2021

ARBT T

RMB’000

90E X Within 90 days 1,355,022 1,001,840
91%180H 91 to 180 days 39,266 82,956
1812365H 181 to 365 days 11,055 25,544
—FE Over 1 year 19,726 42,793
1,425,069 1,153,133

BHENFBRENZERNENR
ZH B A B IE A ARA14,763,000
TT(20214 : AR¥6,615,0007T) * 5
BHO0E NEE -

188/ RBXWLRBHHRAT NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

Included in the trade and bills payables are amounts due to
the Group’s fellow subsidiaries of RMB14,763,000 (2021:
RMB6,615,000), which are repayable within 90 days.
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2022%12831H
31 December 2022

25. HitfENERESER 25. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

20214
2021
BaE AREETF T
Note RMB’000
bk ia Deposits (i) 1,612,491 1,293,648

BEME MRER Payables for purchase of plant and
FES5IE equipment 1,452,507 602,036
ETTENENMNET Staff payroll and welfare payables 643,900 663,498
JERTRX Accrued expenses 940,052 543,054
JE - 5 & HTH0 BaR T Sales discount and rebate payables 1,087,341 727,720
BETSTASMOFERIFIIE  Tax payable other than income tax 559,004 554,586
JiE 1< BBt 75 5R0R Amounts due to related parties 1,997 2,391
) Others 208,528 100,705
6,505,820 4,487,638

FisE Note:

(i) HeT2RMEHB R T HRhEER (i

) Deposits are mainly deposits for refrigerators charged to distributors

U ) K AR 1R & DA R 1OL IR BR A K and downstream points of sale as well as deposits for the 19L
Emifg - bottled drinking water products.
HMERFIEREERTE S Other payables and accruals are non-interest-bearing.
E M E R IERERTE R A ENE Included in other payables and accruals as at 31 December
EER R E R R FIAR 2022512 A 2022 were amounts due to the Group’s fellow subsidiaries of
31H A AR¥A1,997,0007T (20214 : RMB1,997,000 (2021: RMB2,391,000), which are repayable
AR#2,391,0007T) * HR —FRE within 1 year.
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Bt #% R & ML (48) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2022%12H831H
31 December 2022

26. GHEE 26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
20214
2021
AREF T
RMB’000
BREFTERMK Advance received from customers 2,677,190 2,350,952
AEENEHNBEFEZRENHAKE Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arose from advance
HERFEFENTANRIA - 1B payments made by customers while the goods have not been
REVEEREHNBE MR REKI2 provided. All carried-forward contract liabilities at the beginning
1 A iR i as o of the year were usually recognised as revenue in the next 12
months.
27. ;TEEBE 27. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS
20015
2021
BEFIR)  FEEE  ARET
Effective
interest

rate (%) Maturity RMB'000

A Current
BITER-EEA Bank loans - unsecured 3.10 2023 100,087 3.20 2022 200,108
AftfEE-RER Other borrowings
- unsecured 0.9-2.75 2023 2,325,006 1.00-2.70 2022 2,300,000
2,425,093 2,500,108
AT EEEUAREABERER— All interest-bearing borrowings are denominated in Renminbi
FRER - and repayable within one year.
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2022%12831H
31 December 2022

28. EEW s 28. DEFERRED INCOME
20214
2021
AREF T
RMB’000
IEgiSE ) Government grants 291,420 264,550
FAREENBUTHBEEWT - Movements in government grants of the Group during the year
are as follows:
20214
2021
AREF T
RMB’000
F47) At beginning of year 264,550 267,272
2B B Government grants received 52,669 21,063
FFAFRERR Credited to the statement of profit or loss
during the year (25,799) (23,785)
FR At end of year 291,420 264,550
AEEREELH  BELKREEE The Group received government grants for capital expenditure
RMERT HESEITHE) - 2558 incurred for leasehold land, plant and equipment. The amounts
IR EERNMEF AR FHNET are deferred and amortised over the estimated useful lives of
N8 - the respective assets.
29. B 29. SHARE CAPITAL
20214
2021
AREF T
RMB’000
BEETREST - Issued and fully paid:
11,246,466,4000/% (20214 : 11,246,466,400 (2021: 11,246,466,400)
11,246,466,4000% ) 358 % ordinary shares 1,124,647 1,124,647
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2022%12H831H
31 December 2022

30. ETREHBEGE
202291 4148 BHAMERERE X
EEZBA AR HEME TRE
ENET B ([ 358l ) - UBBE A E
B EEETNRREREEEZEA
EE A B OREITER - BIE)A
EENES EEMET : URGHE
EHHIEE M EPEHASEB M E
REMNBEEBRAGAREWBR
RAI([EEEER]) —THENETL -
ZAt RSB RMB R T ERmARR

REMZTE - ARRRFERERIE
AEBEASBLE=7)ERXE
A BEBRRITHERBSARXSE
B AR RIHAE A RUBI AR 19 5

RIBZFTEIRBRE  RAREEEE
FEBAT(ERLUREBRHERARE—
HE TS B s 2B B A ) RCOE
KILRBHAERAGE —HE T
HENETEIE F5%) 0 6,636,4001E5%
PR BIHAR BB AL ([ R BI R B ) B
1B 12022F3 4298 ([HEFH 1) #ix
FEH108%FE2EE - EFREM
HAARNAIEE S (FE % BE99,0001E
SREEHEN) —RBEEEEEE
T (39,6008 5 BR il 3% 15 B A1) & 105
HAEE B T (H#6,398,8001E 5 R
HIRRIDEERL) ©

BRIEBRARTBEAN0EEBR S
HARQRHR W EEH30% °
Eft » Z108 % T E 2 EHRIES
B BRHI D BB 183.228 T % T
6,636,400 1& 5 BR il A% {7 B8 i 1E i 32
e
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

30. EMPLOYEE SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

As approved in the extraordinary general meeting held on
14 January 2022, the Company has adopted the Employee
Share Incentive Scheme (the “Scheme”) to incentivize
management personnel and core technical experts who play
an important role in the Group’s business performance and
future development, including (i) the Directors, Supervisors
and employees of the Group; and (ii) certain number of
employees of Yangshengtang Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries (the
“Yangshengtang Group”) who make significant contributions
to the Group in the projects and co-operations between
the Group and Yangshengtang Group. The Scheme will be
effective for ten years from the adoption date.

In order to operate the Scheme, the Company entrusted
a qualified agent, an independent third party, to act as the
trustee with the H Shares of the Company which were acquired
through on-market transactions at the prevailing market price as
the source of award shares.

Pursuant to the rules of the Scheme, the Board of the
Company approved the “Administrative Measures for the First
Tranche of the Employee Share Incentive Scheme of Nongfu
Spring Co., Ltd.” and the “Grant Proposal for the First Tranche
of the Employee Share Incentive Scheme of Nongfu Spring
Co., Ltd.”, 6,636,400 restricted H Share units (the “RSUs”)
were then granted to a total of 108 scheme participants on 29
March 2022 (the “Grant Date”), including two supervisors of
the Company (99,000 RSUs to each of them), one employee
of Yangshengtang Group (39,600 RSUs) and 105 employees
of the Group (the remaining 6,398,800 RSUs).

The grant price was 30% of the average closing price of
the Company’s H Shares in 120 Hong Kong trading days
immediately prior to the Grant Date. Thus, the 108 scheme
participants then paid for the grant of 6,636,400 RSUs based
on HKD13.22 per RSU.

4z 2022 Annual Report



B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

30. ETREHET8(E)

108 2 BIIE T 0 SR IR 1 BB i e
R E A AR B8 R BRI T R
I

2022%12831H
31 December 2022

30. EMPLOYEE SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

(continued)

The granted RSUs under the Scheme shall be vested, subject
to the performance of the individual and the Company,
according to the following schedule:

BBt
BETH EEAH Vesting
Vesting arrangement Vesting date percentage
F—HRE R2022F 4 A&k —AR 5 A 40%
First tranche vesting Last trading day in April 2022
£ _HRE R2023F4 ARk — B 5 H 30%
Second tranche vesting Last trading day in April 2023
FEHRE M2024F4 A —AR S A 30%

Third tranche vesting

HINIRIEZ T I TS MORR DI T

Last trading day in April 2024

The following shares were outstanding under the Scheme
during the period:

EEAFEROHE
Number of shares held by Trustee
REFAEH 20225 #2022
BTH k& T 1818 FRRE  FABR FARK  12A318
Share price

as at Asat  Granted Vested  Forfeited  Asat31

the dateof  Exercise 1January duringthe duringthe duringthe December

Date of grant grant price 2022 year year year 2022
BT B
HKD HKD

20223 /29H 29 March 2022 39.80 13.22 - 6,636,400 (2,610,000) (44.184) 3,982,216

ZATBIETOZBRSBRMEMLER T
BRAFEDRARRRORET A
MR EET -

FAN ITAREBBIMEE
6,636,400 Ik HRX + ME A AR
225,401,0007T ° ZFE R (7 B EE
FERZAT SIMBEIRR D ©

FR - AEEEZBRGIAEAIAR
#101,793,0007T * & P B IEEFZ A
NREEE RS2 A R 3,036,000

I °

F Rz 2022 Annual Report

The fair value of the RUSs under the Scheme as at the
date of grant was determined based on the closing price of
Company’s share as at Grant Date.

During the year, the Trustee purchased 6,636,400 H Shares
with a market value of RMB225,401,000 on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. The repurchased shares were fully used as
awards shares under the Scheme.

During the year, the Group recognised share-based payment
expenses of RMB101,793,000, including expenses of
RMB3,036,000 in relation to two supervisors of the Company.
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31. f#1E
AEBHEESEREEHRIER
EEAERE LR -

(@) SEERE
REPEARKMBREE » &
B~ BB 0E E BR B AR AE HY
10%BRBETFHE  EEMHE
M RFHEFRED R REME RN
50% ° frh BB R RRPIHL/EIR -
EEREN AR EHERREE
BEIZ MDA EMER « JEE
TR AR A B KB A B
ROIKBE.

b) EBAEE
AEBNERNFHBREZLERA
AR RE BRI AER H AU
BB RS REEA D ©

(€ EXMBHEE
KB REERGRERDEE
HHEASEZEETRAEI
KRB RARME LM E L=
B o

(o) BOfIEE
Bin X EE R AR B2
DRE)NFE - FRMBHREM
2 AR A Z G FECR -

31.
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B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein are presented in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity in the financial statements.

@)

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the companies in the PRC are
required to allocate 10% of the statutory after tax profits
to the statutory reserve until the cumulative total of
the reserve reaches 50% of the companies’ registered
capital. Subject to the approval of the relevant PRC
authorities, the statutory reserve may be used to offset
any accumulated losses or increase the registered capital
of the companies. The statutory reserve is not available
for dividend distribution to shareholders of the PRC
subsidiaries.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represents the
contribution from the ultimate holding company and
shareholders and the excess of the consideration over
the carrying amount of the non-controlling interests
acquired.

Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve represents exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations whose functional
currencies are different from the Group’s presentation
currency.

Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve comprises the fair
value of shares awarded which are yet to be vested, as
further explained in the accounting policy for share-based
payments in note 2.4 to the financial statements.
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32. MERERERME

(@) EBIFRERS

B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2022%12831H
31 December 2022

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

(@  Major non-cash transactions

FR - AEERHEREHEEF During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to
AEEAENTHEEBENIER S right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB91,509,000
# i A R #91,509,0007T (2021 (2021: RMB102,255,000) in respect of lease agreements.

F: AR¥102,255,0007T) °

b) BERBELNAEE

(b)  Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

HEEE HEBE
Interest-

bearing Lease

borrowings liabilities

AREEFTT ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

R2021F1 A1H At 1 January 2021 2,413,957 55,373

BMEREREF Changes from financing cash flows 86,043 (67,603)

AL New leases - 102,255

FEE Accretion of interest 47,565 5,380
DI ER S MERN Interest paid classified as operating

BRHE cash flows (47,457) (5,380)

R2021F12A31H At 31 December 2021 2,500,108 90,025

R2022F1 A1H At 1 January 2022 2,500,108 90,025

MEREREL Changes from financing cash flows (74,994) (81,677)

AL New leases - 91,509

S 1E 0 Accretion of interest 70,628 5,400
DEINEE LIRS REN Interest paid classified as operating

EATFLE cash flows (70,649) (5,400)

R2022F12A31H At 31 December 2022 2,425,093 99,857

F Rz 2022 Annual Report
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32. FERERMERMEE(E)

() MHERSMHAERE
ReRERTHHERSRHA

32.

Bt #% R & ML (48) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(c)  Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in the

EEp N statement of cash flows is as follows:
20214
2021
AREFT
RMB’000
KEEEN Within operating activities 168,712 198,971
KEEEHN Within investing activities 156,975 10,545
RVEEEIN Within financing activities 81,677 67,603
407,364 277,119
33. HAREE 33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
F20224 2021512318 - A&H As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group did not have
WEFAEAKEEE - any significant contingent liabilities.
34. EEEH 34. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
REBEEGHRNFBIR Y BHRE Details of the Group’s pledged of assets are included in note
Bf7E23 o 23 to the financial statements.
35. & 35. COMMITMENTS
REBRREHARES T ERFGE - The Group had the following capital commitments at the end

of the reporting period:

20214
2021
AREF T
RMB’000
BEEWE  HERBED  Contracted, but not provided for purchase
HESEIGE ST of property, plant and equipment 1,541,928 2,146,074

196,/ RmXWKBHHRAS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2022%12831H
31 December 2022

36. BEAXRS 36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
@ FRYEREME15F0307 5 48 @)
SHBARRZ SO - ANEBPREH
EIERRERE T TR ST ¢

In addition to the transactions detailed in notes 15
and 30 to the financial statements, the Group had the
following transactions with related parties during the
reporting period:

20214
2021
B3 AREFT
Notes RMB’000
MR T E RIS E Sales to related parties
REER AR The ultimate holding company:
HEEMD Sales of products () 1,568 1,313
RAERS Provision of services 4,327 2,732
EESEAGIE Fellow subsidiaries:
HEEMm Sales of products 0] 21,654 10,248
R AR Provision of services 7,999 7,514
35,548 21,807
Bk R Purchases/services provide by
wEE IR related parties
REYERR A E] The ultimate holding company:
Z AR Receipt of services* (ii) 38,887 39,012
CESIEVNCIR Fellow subsidiaries:
BEEM Purchase of products* () 235,209 212,754
B AR 7 Receipt of services* (i) 212,462 175,100
486,558 426,866
IE - Notes:

() BB AN EE DRBEARNE 0]
EHREIERATRERZWE

The sales to and purchases from related parties were made
according to the prevailing market price with the Group’s

AR ZAMRITHEETT

BIERBERGZ  AEEF
NERZRXMBRARBEME &
Hth A HREREMARE
223,261,0007L (20214 + AR
#205,291,0007T) °

REESRSERGZ - hE
BEEASRIERARSZNE
B A R ¥ 4,835,000 5t ( 2021
& AR#10,404,0007T) ° &
A2BREMEET

F Rz 2022 Annual Report

(i

ultimate holding company and fellow subsidiaries.

Pursuant to the purchasing framework agreement, the Group
purchased from fellow subsidiaries bottle caps and other
products for vending machines of RMB223,261,000 (2021:
RMB205,291,000) during the year.

Pursuant to the advertising service framework agreement,
expenses of RMB4,835,000 (2021: RMB10,404,000)
were paid to the ultimate holding company for media
advertisements. The charge was determined with reference
to the prevailing market price.
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36. BMEATRZ (&)

@ FRYEREME15F0307 5 48
HANR I REBRFE
HI SRR T TR ST
(%)

MIRE - (48)

(i) (%)
BIEEERIGERTZ - =4t
ITHRBEEEERYE  AFE
BR%  BEITHBELRSE
REMBRENEERARE
26,197,0007C(20214F : AR#
14,644,00070 ) B S F &892
BARE - HthiEERISHEE
2 A R #148,0007T (20214 :
BE)EXNTFREMEBAR - &
FAE RS AIR 7 A EETE o

RRITE @ R REBER T
ERGEERARLAHIE
AR ¥7,855,0007T (2021 4F :
AR#13,964,0007T) © 2BE
REAEESRGAFPHFED
BERKAETE - ERRZRNWB
RNAZFITERRREEARE
113,963,000 (2021 F : AR
#97,874,0007T) ° ITE & & AR
BB SR ERFRITHE
EE -

1R BR BT A B R iR R AR S AE 42
Wk - C R R AR
it 3% I SR R 2 EE 5 B A BR 7S
MEENERARZNEAAR
#98,351,0007T (20214 : A
R#77,226,0007T)  BERE
FRRANIIR T AEE -

* FE FRAE S X 5 IMER E AR RIS
TTUAE T AE 2 BER S E R E
R5  HERGZFHBRESEHRER
W -

b) AEETZEIEASHH

AEETZEEABHM(ERE
EEMe) RERNPBHRRME
Qo

(c) HARBIEHIBEMTT Kk
RS B BB R TR B S HAR Y
B I EHRFBRENTEHRKM
57152021~ 24225 °

B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

@)
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In addition to the transactions detailed in notes 15
and 30 to the financial statements, the Group had the
following transactions with related parties during the
reporting period: (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(i) (continued)
Pursuant to the operating service framework agreements,
management fees of RMB26,197,000 (2021:
RMB14,644,000) for providing engineering project
management service, personnel management service,
e-commerce operating service and other services were
paid to the ultimate holding company. Management fees of
RMB148,000 (2021: Nil) for other operating services were
paid to the fellow subsidiaries. The charge was determined
using the cost plus method.

Pursuant to the IT product and service fee framework
agreement, licensing fees of RMB7,855,000 were paid to
the ultimate holding company (2021: RMB13,964,000),
determined with reference to actual costs calculated based
on the number of the Group’s users of each software. IT
products and service fees of RMB113,963,000 (2021:
RMB97,874,000) were paid to the fellow subsidiaries. The IT
products and services charge were determined with reference
to the prevailing market price.

Pursuant to the basic research and development (“R&D”)
and test service framework agreement, expenses of
RMB98,351,000 (2021: RMB77,226,000) were paid to
fellow subsidiaries for the basic beverage R&D services and
raw material and product test services. The charge was
determined using the cost-plus method.

Certain of the above related party transactions also constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and their details are
disclosed in the Report of the Directors.

Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group

Compensation of key management personnel of
the Group, which comprises the remuneration of
the directors, is disclosed in note 9 to the financial
statements.

Outstanding balances with related parties

Details of the Group’s trade balances with its related
parties as at the end of each reporting period are
disclosed in notes 15, 20, 21, 24 and 25 to the financial
statements.
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2022%12831H
31 December 2022

REREsNERT A 37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

NEREEKR  SHEASH T AENE The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

HEIT : instruments as at the end of each reporting period are as
follows:

20224 2022

TREE Financial assets

B 7 MR R R R

A ATERFIR « AR REIA R

HibEENSREE

B MRTTHEH
ERES
RERITEM TR

K>
]
i

Trade and bills receivables 478,587
Financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and

other assets 87,346
Cash and bank balances 15,211,156
Pledged deposits 3,059
Long-term bank deposits 4,101,670

19,881,818

Financial liabilities

BB RENFANENRE

At AR RIAR
EEtEANERARE

AHEEE

HERRE

F Rz 2022 Annual Report

Trade and bills payables 1,425,069

Financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals 4,215,575
Interest-bearing borrowings 2,425,093
Lease liabilities 99,857
8,165,594
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2022%12H831H
31 December 2022

37. BERHETHNEMTE(E) 37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(continued)

RERESHR  SHEem T EMNER The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

mEWT : (8) instruments as at the end of each reporting period are as

follows: (continued)

20214 2021
TRIEE Financial assets
$7g: (X< ) DN BAFERTA
FrENCREE BaremEE A&t
Financial
assets at
Financial fair value
assets at through profit
amortised cost or loss Total
AREFIT AREFIT AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
2 S REWEIE & Trade and bills receivables
RN R 476,276 - 476,276
T AFER FIE - Financial assets included
HAb UGB & in prepayments, other
EMEENTR receivables and other
BE assets 105,475 - 105,475
BN FEF AR Financial assets at fair value
SRIEE through profit or loss - 204,754 204,754
B MIRTT4 8 Cash and bank balances 14,783,577 - 14,783,577
BT Pledged deposits 3,648 - 3,648
EHISRTTEEITFR Long-term bank deposits 1,121,461 - 1,121,461
16,490,437 204,754 16,695,191
SREE Financial liabilities
bize: S [DN
FrENEREE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
AREFIT
RMB’000
B S e OB M IERT 2 Trade and bills payables 1,153,133
sFAEMERZIA R ETERAE  Financial liabilities included in other payables and
TRAE accruals 2541 834
EEE Interest-bearing borrowings 2,500,108
HEAE Lease liabilities 90,025
6,285,100
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B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

SRMIANAFERAFES
&
AEESMTANKRAERAATE
AR -

ERECDHE B RRTES &
NHEFABENESRMEE  BIHE
WA M W RE ~ 5T ATBRFIA
Hit WA EMEEN S RE
E FEEE HEAE BHEMN
AR ENRE - FEAEMEN R
LEAEANSRAENQATFERER
BREEMRE  TBHRZFTADR
REHIRZIH -

EHRTESFERALEERERNIER
FHONRFETDEBEERMUE
R EERREATIHENTAR
RAl AN XERFARRKRSRE
AEENEXBEEFARHEER
TARFHEEENBRNMER - X
BEEGKERAMBAERESTSIE
HoNEREAY  CEREEGS
SemIABENEYRETHE
PIANTIERARE HKREeR
B E - AR FEM KRS R
ExgnmbERERER -

EREENBENAFERENRS
(RBIZBE HERSN) T B RS
TIAXBMOESBEAR - U TRAR
BETRFHENTERER

AEBEHFLHREETRE  HiF
FEAMRITRITHEMER - X%
BEERGRREBEUNTAZH
SHRERFTRACREMEREMG
AR EIELMIREMAFE -
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
approximate to their fair values.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
bank balances, financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, trade and bills receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets, interest-
bearing borrowings, lease liabilities, trade and bills payables,
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short-
term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of long-term bank deposits and the non-current
portion of lease liabilities have been calculated by discounting
the expected future cash flows using rates currently available
for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities.

The Group’s corporate finance team is responsible for
determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
management of financial instruments. The corporate finance
team reports directly to the chief financial officer and the board
of directors. At each reporting date, the corporate finance team
analyses the movements in the values of financial instruments
and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation.
The valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief financial
officer. The valuation process and results are discussed with
the board of directors for annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged
in a current transaction between willing parties, other than
in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair values.

The Group invests in unlisted investments, which represent
wealth management products issued by banks in Mainland
China. The Group has estimated the fair value of these unlisted
investments by using a discounted cash flow valuation model
based on the market interest rates of instruments with similar
terms and risks.
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As at 31 December 2021

B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments, which
are forward currency contracts measured using valuation
techniques similar to forward pricing, using present value
calculations.

Fair value hierarchy
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value
The Group did not have any financial assets measured at fair
value as at 31 December 2022.

BAAERBA
HiR(BE_&R)
Significant
observable
inputs (Level 2)
AREBFIT
RMB’000

BRAFEAABSENSREE

BAFHEFENEE
AEB 2021 K 2022F12 831 B
IR N EGFENEASHmEE -

TR TREERBERETARF
B EFE - MEAFE R HANEE
TR 5 = A8 AR H (2021 4F -
&) -
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Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

204,754

Liabilities measured at fair value
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair
value as at 31 December 2021 and 2022.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for financial assets and liabilities (2021:
Nil).

4z 2022 Annual Report



39.

B R 2R L () NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

TREAMREE B ERBER

BROTET AN  AEENEZERMT
ABRMHEARE EEE BHER
RITEBRARRRRITERER - &
FERTANTIEANEAAEED
LEERET  AKENEHLEER
EEAZRBREMBESREENEBE W
BHREFAMBRREARE S E
BESCVEANES: S

K’ElinﬂIEFiﬁ’JIRﬂ R EIE
INERR - EERRERBE SR
% o %%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂiﬁf%&’ﬁuﬁ
BRERRE - EBMAT -

REEBEBITE T AN BEREARN
B mARHIE2.4 ©

SRS

RELE2022F 12 A31HILFE - K&
BB INESTERRITRS - WK
THRSBEEHMO(EEAETRE
TL)EEHERIIME RS o SN R Fg 2Rk B LA
%E&/ﬁﬁg+fﬁmﬁi&$ETTl‘\mﬁﬁ

R2022F 2021F12 A31H » UAR
BAENRBETEHERIANRER S
MARITH SR IB IR RN M 523 -

F Rz 2022 Annual Report

2022%12831H
31 December 2022

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than
derivatives, comprise lease liabilities, interest-bearing
borrowings, cash and bank balances and long-term bank
deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments is
to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has
various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade and
bills receivables and trade and bills payables, which arise
directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board
of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of
these risks and they are summarised below.

The Group’s accounting policies in relation to derivatives are
set out in note 2.4 to the financial statements.

Foreign currency risk

During the Year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had
cash at banks denominated in foreign currencies and was
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to USD and HKD. Foreign
exchange risk arises from cash and bank balances in USD and
HKD.

Details of long-term bank deposits and cash and bank

balances denominated in RMB as at 31 December 2022 and
2021 are disclosed in note 23.

BXRIFRHBERLSE NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

/203



2022%12H831H
31 December 2022

30. 2REMREEEERBEK(E)

S LR ()

TRAMAEEHARE L ZTHE
TC(AREE A BEE R E AR B H SN )
FTHERRZES%MBURE - ZBEED
TESRAIMNEHENESHITA  »©
& B R A e NS T R 85% 1M 73

B R ML (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
increase and decrease in RMB against USD or HKD, the
foreign currencies with which the Group may have a material
exposure. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated financial instruments and adjusts

BIAE o their translation at the end of each reporting period for a 5%
change in foreign currency rates.
20224 2022
AR N ZETEBTIZE  if RMB weakens against USD or HKD
—%7T -UsD 156,639 117,479
—BTT - HKD 66,437 49,828
AR N ZETSBITIE  if RMB strengthens against USD or HKD
—%7T -UsD (156,639) (117,479)
—#&TT - HKD (66,437) (49,828)
EERE Credit risk

AEBERAMEZAEERTINE=T
ETRS - AEENBERE  FIE®
EUEERRETRINEFP RS
SIEERERF o 1o - BB REGK
HRERRBRESRERISERE

A EHZRERIL AEK

204/ BRXuWRBHHRAS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, trade and bills receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to
bad debts is not significant.
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TREREEBERBEEK(E)
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-

FRERSE - 2INEHERETHME

EMRRMAER -

2022512831 H

end staging classification as at 31 December. The amounts

presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 December 2022

1218 A
BHEEER 2HRHEEESR
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs

B S E Trade receivables* = = = 508,524 508,524
e Blills receivable 574 - = = 574
SEAFENMFE  Hft Financial assets included
lereryse=eiul in prepayments, other
BENSREE receivables and other
assets
—EE™ - Normal** 89,298 - - = 89,298
BERER Pledged Deposits -
— R H not yet past due 3,059 = = - 3,059
Re RiRITHH Cash and bank balances -
— K not yet past due 15,211,156 - - - 15211,156
REABITESRTH Long-term bank deposits -
— K@ not yet past due 4,101,670 - - - 4,101,670
19,405,757 - - 508,524 19,914,281

F Rz 2022 Annual Report
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39. cRIEEEEERBEKR(E) 39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)
FERR(E) Credit risk (continued)
AR R FEREE () Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)
202112 A31H As at 31 December 2021
12{8 A
BHEEEE 2HBRBEEER
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
ERER EEER E=RER B Bt
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
ARBFT ARE®FT AR®FT AR®ETT AR%®TRH
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
2 5N E Trade receivables* - - - 506,807 506,807
EWERE Bills receivable 3,414 - - - 3,414
S AFENFUE C Hft Financial assets included
leersysEeil in prepayments, other
BENSMEE receivables and other
assets
—EE - Normal*™ 108,142 - - - 108,142
ERER Pledged Deposits - not yet
— KRB past due 3,648 - - - 3,648
ReRBITHH Cash and bank balances -
—REH not yet past due 14,783,577 - - - 14,783,577
RERITEHER Long-term bank deposits -
— R E not yet past due 1,121,461 - - - 1,121,461
16,020,242 - - 506807  16527,049

* AAEERAMEAERENE ZE
WHRIEM S - ERRBRENER KE
REF TSR M FE20 -

o BRIATENFUR - ERUGRIE R EA
TEREER B RERARZ EERR
BRE LR  AEEEREWEAILL
BB REENEEERER

A AIEE]

206,/ BXWRBHHARAT NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified
approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is
disclosed in note 20 to the financial statements.

* The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets is considered to be “normal”
when they are not past due and there is no information indicating
that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtful”.
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2022%12831H
31 December 2022

39. eEEAKEEBEZERBEEK(E) 39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

RENE SR Liquidity risk

AEBETVHBAEEEEERE The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
EHMIRE NIBESEBYKTE - BK equivalents deemed adequate by the management of the
CEHREES U HBIRESRERE Group to finance the operations and mitigate the effects of
VR o fluctuations of cash flows.

REEBNRSHERROS B ERE The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at

5 AB LRI AEE)INT ¢ the end of each reporting period, based on the contractual

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

20224 2022
FFEEE Interest-bearing borrowings 2,425,798 = - 2,425,798
B 5 ENFIE R Trade and bills payables
JER =& 1,425,069 - - 1,425,069
T AEMPERMFIE K Financial liabilities included
FEETERAMN SR in other payables and
BE accruals 4,215,575 - - 4,215,575
HEAaE Lease liabilities 71,232 41,924 - 113,156
8,137,674 41,924 - 8,179,598
DR—F —ERF AFALE At
Less than Over
20214 2021 1year 11to5years 5 years Total
ARBTT ARETRT ARETT ARBTET
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
FEEE Interest-bearing borrowings 2,501,265 - - 2,501,265
B H NN Trade and bills payables
JEN =& 1,153,133 - - 1,153,133
sFAHMERFIE K Financial liabilities included
et ERN SR in other payables and
=L accruals 2,541,834 - — 2,541,834
HEARE Lease liabilities 49,989 45,843 - 95,832

6,246,221 45,843 - 6,292,064
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39.

TREREREBRRBEK(E)

BEXrER
AEBERAEENTIZRAERERA
SEFERLENR N AR GERRED
BEARLEER  AXBEEBRBERF
H&EAEE-

AEBEEBEBERRBCRAAREEE
B\ B 45 R B 1B EL 8 AR SR B T 1E I
HEAE - REFHAREARE
AEBERGHBEN FTRRENKE
REBRATFRRHETHR - AEE
TREMIILFERRBIOLR - F
N ARENERNEERE - RS
RFARBLEEL -

AEERBERNBBLRERER
ZLRREBRIARHEERTE -
BERBREFEBREUALEERE - &
RIERRRHA ARG - RER

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to
any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the year.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is debt
divided by the adjusted capital. Debt includes interest-bearing
borrowings and lease liabilities. Capital represents equity
attributable to owners of the parent. The gearing ratios as at

EHRNEARRBEL R - the end of each reporting period were as follows:
2021%
2021
ARBT T
RMB’000
EEE Interest-bearing borrowings 2,425,093 2,500,108
HEaRE Lease liabilities 99,857 90,025
& Debt 2,524,950 2,590,133
N AR AR Equity attributable to owners of the parent 24,084,076 20,741,634
BERE G E Gearing ratio 10.5% 12.5%

208/ RXWRKHHRAS NONGFU SPRING CO., LTD.
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2022%12831H
31 December 2022

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY

BREARIREBARAND BT KA Information about the statement of financial position of the

BRESIIT

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

20214
2021
ARBT T
RMB’000
FRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
ME - BB NEEE Property, plant and equipment 1,171,091 672,440
FREEE Right-of-use assets 54,826 69,856
EREE Intangible assets 51,522 57,673
R B ARIRIKE Investments in subsidiaries 2,129,064 1,865,064
RIEF IR & B Deferred tax assets 187,021 127,689
RERITE B Long-term bank deposits 4,101,670 1,121,461
HMIERBEE Other non-current assets 3,566 5,658
IEmEN B ERTE Total non-current assets 7,698,760 3,919,841
REBEE CURRENT ASSETS
FE Inventories 45,788 17,620
Z S rEWZRIB R N EE Trade and bills receivables 100,935 96,285
TEftERTE - b EYWGRTE K. Prepayments, other receivables and
HihEE other assets 9,818,529 9,489,089
BRATEFABRY Financial assets at fair value through profit
TREE or loss - 204,754
e MIRTTHE SR Cash and bank balances 15,158,999 14,687,120
TRENEELTRE Total current assets 25,124,251 24,494,868
REAE CURRENT LIABILITIES
B oENTENENEE Trade and bills payables 2,567,863 2,386,966
HEEE Interest-bearing borrowings 100,087 200,108
HAb BRI R EETE A Other payables and accruals 2,306,587 2,405,811
EHBaE Contract liabilities 4,654,851 3,685,156
HEBE Lease liabilities 36,186 44,851
JERTHIE Tax payables 712,774 147,956
U UN=N LS Total current liabilities 10,378,348 8,870,848
REEETFHE NET CURRENT ASSETS 14,745,903 15,624,020
BEERRBEE TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES 22,444,663 19,543,861
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2022%12H831H
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40. INA BB RTR(EE) 40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (continued)
BREARIREBARAND BT KA Information about the statement of financial position of the
BRI - (8) Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:
(continued)
20214F
2021
ARBT T
RMB’000
FREBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
FIEW = Deferred income 177 7,350
ELEFRIBEBAG Deferred tax liabilities 8,237 19,631
HeEaE Lease liabilities 19,109 25,264
BB ELERE Total non-current liabilities 27,523 52,245
EEFH NET ASSETS 22,417,140 19,491,616
= EQUITY
[N Share capital 1,124,647 1,124,647
& Reserves 21,292,493 18,366,969
T B EE Total equity 22,417,140 19,491,616
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2022%12H31H
31 December 2022

40. AP BIEAR TR (E)

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

RARWREEB T A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:
ZEA gl
Bx  ERRE R XRE REEA
Share-
Shares based
Share Capital held payment Statutory  Retained
capital reserve by trustee reserve reserve  earnings Total
ARETTE ARMTR ARETR AR¥TR ARTR ARETR AR%TR
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
R202261A1H At 1 January 2022 1,124,647 8,426,207 - - 562,323 90,378,349 19,491,616
FRET| Profit for the year - - - - - 8,080,167 8,080,167
EN2ENEEE  Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - - - 8,080,167 8,080,167
BER201ERERS Final 2021 dividend declared - - 1,792 - - (5,060,910) (5,059,118)
BOR&H Repurchase of shares - - (225401) - - - (225401)
RRHE Recognition of share-based
payment - - - 101,793 - - 101,793
RIEE TREERET 2 Award shares vested under
FERAERG employee share incentive
scheme - (4,693) 89,241 (56,465) - - 28,083
12022128318 Asat 31 December 2022 1,124,647 8,421,604 (134,368 45328 562,323 12,397,606 22,417,140
AR BAGHE LR REEF @t
Share Capital Statutory Retained
capital reserve reserve earnings Total
ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARETRT ARETRT
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
RK2021F1A1H At 1 January 2021 1,124,647 8,426,297 562,323 4,288,193 14,401,460
FREF Profit for the year - - - 7,002,055 7,002,055
FAZEKELE Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - 7,002,055 7,002,055
P EIR2020F RS Final 2020 dividend declared - - - (1911,899)  (1,911,899)
R2021F12 4314 As at 31 December 2021 1,124,647 8,426,297 562,323 9,378,349 19,491,616
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B 3R 2R MEE (&) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2022%12H831H
31 December 2022

41, MEHEBEH 41. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
REE2022F 12 A31HIEFEE There was no material subsequent event after the year ended
BATURBENERENER - 31 December 2022.

42. #tEMBHRE 42. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bk mE S N202343 H28H The financial statements were approved and authorised for
O AR TIEE - issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2023.
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